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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

FENBRER
Year ended 31 March
BEIANALEE
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss REBEEX 2021 2020 Change
(Restated)
(&31) 29 %
- Revenue (HK$'000) - WA (FETT) 158,729 135,838 22,891 16,85%
~ Gross (loss) profit (HK$'000) -E@EF(FHET) (24,278) 56,421 (80,699)  (143.03)%
- Loss before tax (HK$'000) - BREATEE(TAT) (514,965) (178,041) (336,924) 189.24%
Owners BBA
Loss for the year and attributable to the owners "2 1A AJEIL FREE
of the Company (HK$'000) (F#&T) (521,821) (202,914) (318,907) 157.16%
Basic and diluted loss per share (HK dollars) SR EAR K #EEE (B L) (1.26) (0.53) (0.73) 137.74%
As at 31 March
R3A31A
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position #& 8% & 2021 2020 Change
(Restated)
(&%) 28 %
Net assets (HK$'000) BEFE(THEL) 189,128 396,804 (207,676) (52.34)%
Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) Re kERRE(THETL) 153,787 1381528 (1,227,741) (88.87)%
Promissory notes, bank and other borrowings X 24 « BT R EMEE
(HK$'000) (F%) 2,908,705 3,873,325 (964,620)  (24.90)%
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR RIHA AJE(G#E
(HK$'000) (Figm) 189,128 396,804 (207,676)  (52.34)%
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRREE

FTEMKER
2021 2020 Change
(Restated)
(&%) 2E
Gross profit margin® EFEO (15.30)% 4154%  -56.84 percentage
points
R
Return on equity®® BREES @R (275.91)% (51.14)% -224.77 percentage
points
EERE
Current ratio (times)® TENLE & ()W 1.71 3.60
Gearing ratio (times)® ERBELEE® 15.38 9.76
(1) Gross profit margin represents gross profit divided by revenue of the (1) EMRBREEEMBRUAMBA
Group.

@

@)

4)

Return on equity is defined as the ratio of loss attributable to owners of ~ (2) RRESBIRIEARAEE AEGEEBRUARARE

the Company to total equity attributable to owners of the Company. BABIGERER -

Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total current  (3) MBI RBEELERUREAEETE -
liabilities.

Gearing ratio represents promissory notes, bank and other borrowings,  (4) BERBELEEALZR  RITKEMERE(BERS
including current and non-current portions, divided by total equity. NMIERENE D) BR A B IR -

SRR REEBERARF
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the result of Man Sang
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021
(“Fy21).

PERFORMANCE

FY21 has been a year of unprecedented challenges. The
outbreak of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") epidemic
since January 2020 slowed down the worldwide economic
growth. Travel restrictions and city-wide lockdowns has
adversely affected our shopping mall and serviced apartment
operation in Chongging, China, as well as our hotel and resort
operation in Hokkaido, Japan. The sales plan of our Chongging
apartment was also adversely affected by the price reduction
strategy adopted by property developers on residential
projects nearby. The property management operation and the
renovation and decoration segments were relatively stable
during FY21.

Revenue of the Group increased to HK$158,729,000 during
FY21, increased by HK$22,891,000 as compared to the prior
year, which was mainly contributed from property management
business and renovation and decoration business, which were
newly acquired in March 2020 and June 2020, respectively.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company increased
to HK$521,821,000 (FY20: loss of HK$202,914,000 (as
restated)), and the total comprehensive expenses for the year
attributable to owners of the Company was HK$397,998,000
(FY20: HK$318,462,000, as restated) which was mainly
attributable to (i) gross loss of HK$24,278,000 mainly arose
from the property segment, as a result of the offering of
special discounts for selling of residential apartments under
the less favorable market conditions and the less satisfactory
result of the serviced apartment operations resulted from
travel restrictions and city-wide lockdowns; (ii) the impairment
loss amounted to HK$149,920,000 on property, plant and
equipment and HK$52,124,000 on right-of-use asset in
respect of the Chongqging Property serviced apartment
operation, mainly resulted from the uncertainties arising from
COVID-19; (iii) increase in finance cost to HK$154,398,000
(FY20: HK$98,306,000) as less finance cost was capitalised
during the year following the completion of our property
redevelopment project in Chongaging and (iv) benefiting from
the appreciation of Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars, the
exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
recorded a gain of HK$124,084,000 for the Group (FY2020:
charge of HK$115,479,000, as restated).
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PROSPECTS

Following the completion of redevelopment of Chongqging
Property, it has become one of the new landmarks in Yuzhong
District of Chongging.

While the economic recovery will continue in 2022 due to
the roll-out of COVID-19 vaccines, we expect the operating
environment will still be with uncertainties. The Company
remains focus on (i) monitoring the financial performance of the
existing business; (i) maximising the return from its operations
in order to generate stable income and cash flows and lower
the gearing ratio and the finance costs.

The Group acquired a renovation and decoration business and
a hotel and resort operation during FY21, which strengthened
our revenue stream for the year. The Group is committed
to continuously improving its overall financial performance
and diversity of its portfolio. In the future, we will create
shareholders value through making continuous investments
and acquiring business or projects.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt
gratitude to all our shareholders, customers and other
business partners for their long-term attention and support
to the Group over the years. | would also like to thank the
senior management team and all staff of the Group for their
dedication and hard work to the Group during the past year.

Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED T

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Board is pleased to report the results of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (“FY21”). During FY21, basic loss
per share was HK$1.26 (For the year ended 31 March 2020
(“FY20”): HK$0.53, as restated), and total comprehensive
expenses was approximately HK$396,025,000 (FY20:
HK$318,462,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the development, sale
and leasing of properties in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). In addition to its core real estate business, the Group
is also involved in the hotel, property management, renovation
and decoration industries to create a diversified income source
for the Group.

Chonggqing Property
Revenue: HK$62,053,000 (FY20: HK$109,680,000)

Chongging Kingstone Land Co., Limited (EEEREA
R A 7]) (“Chongging Kingstone”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, holds a property located at 77
Qingnian Road, Yuzhong District, Chongging, the PRC (the
“Chongaing Property”). It is close to Jiefangbei Walking Street
which is a local and national famous pedestrian lane with
numerous retail shops.

Chongging Property comprises residential apartments
(for sale), serviced apartments (for lease) managed by an
internationally renowned hotel management group and a
shopping mall (for lease).

Included in the Chongging Property, the shopping mall is
classified as “Investment Properties”, the fair value of which
amounted to HK$1,954,762,000 as at 31 March 2021, which
was equivalent to 55.81% of total assets of the Group.

The residential apartments are all available for sale. The
serviced apartments have been officially put into operation
during FY21, and were awarded the “2020 Best New Opening
Apartment Hotel” by the selection panel of the China Best
Hotel Awards. The shopping mall has been officially opened.
Chongging Property has become one of the new landmarks
in Yuzhong District as a result of its geographical advantage,
planning programming and managerial experience.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We believe the lease income from serviced apartments and
shopping mall will become the steady income source of the
Group in the long run.

Property Management
Revenue: HK$26,249,000 (FY20: HK$15,173,000)

In March 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of
Zhejiang Huiyong Property Management Service Co., Ltd. (4
STRE K EEIERISEMR A A]) (previously known as Zhejiang
Doof Property Management Services Co., Ltd. (/T % 4%
EIEIRF AR A A])) (“Huiyong Property Management”), which
was recognised as the “2020 Top 100 Property Management
Companies in China” by the China Index Academy.

Huiyong Property Management has several property
management projects on hand as well as several potential
projects in Zhejiang, Jiangsu, Sichuan, Fujian and Guizhou
regions. The properties under management comprised of a
variety of property types including residential communities,
retail premises, office premises, sales offices and scenic
areas, etc.

Through the acquisition of Huiyong Property Management,
the Group was given the opportunity to enter into the property
management industry, which creates synergies with the
Group’s existing businesses and diversifies the income
sources of the Group.

Renovation and Decoration
Revenue: HK$62,394,000 (FY20: Nil)

In June 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of
Wenzhou Junshang Decoration Co., Ltd. CEJMNZE i #iA IR
A |]) (“Wenzhou Junshang”). Wenzhou Beichen Construction
Co., Ltd. (&Mt EZEZ AR A A (“Beichen Construction”),
a subsidiary of Wenzhou Junshang, is principally engaged in
renovation and decoration and engineering services in the PRC
and holds the PRC Grade One construction and decoration
engineering contractor qualification.

The business of Beichen Construction is mainly in Zhejiang. It
specialises in various renovation and decoration projects for
residential buildings, hotels, shopping malls, office buildings,
schools, hospitals and entertainment venues, and has
completed various projects with exquisite craftsmanship and
sound construction management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

Through the acquisition of Wenzhou Junshang, the Group
was given the opportunity to enter into the renovation and
decoration industry, and acquired resources, skills and
techniques to expand new businesses and complement
existing businesses. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 8 May 2020 and 21
May 2020.

Hotel operation in Japan
Revenue: HK$8,033,000 (FY20: HK$10,985,000, as restated)

The Group completed the acquisition of #kXN &4 % #8*
(Tafutsu Kabushiki Kaisha*) (“Doof Japan”) in October 2020.
The principal assets of RMHR KX 4L (Yoichi Country
Kabushiki Kaisha*) (“Yoichi Country”), a subsidiary of Doof
Japan, are a resort hotel and a 18-hole golf course located in
Hokkaido, Japan.

Although the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has, to
a certain extent, curbed the development trend of Japan’s
inbound tourism, the Japanese government has introduced a
series of relevant policies to effectively support the hotel and
tourism industries. At the same time, the hotel has made use
of the timeframe to carry out upgrades and transformation of
existing equipments so as to be prepared for the recovery of
tourism after the pandemic has come to an end.

As to hotel operations management, the Group adjusted its
existing business model and vigorously developed a series
of marketing strategies targeting local Japanese tourists and
residents of Hokkaido to improve the operating results of the
existing golf course and hotel. At the same time, the Group is
trying to carry out various kinds of winter activities to be fully
prepared for the upcoming winter projects and attract winter
travel enthusiasts from Japan and around the world.

Given the pleasant natural environment and the improving
standard of operation and management of the hotel, it is
expected that the future income generated by Doof Japan and
its subsidiaries will sufficiently improve. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 14 July
2020 and 30 October 2020 and the circular of the Company
dated 10 September 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LOOKING FORWARD

The redevelopment of Chongqging Property has been
completed, its serviced apartment and shopping mall
operations were still at start-up phrase during the year, it is
expected that these operations still have potential to grow.
The Group will continue to focus on (i) monitoring the financial
performance of the existing businesses; and (ii) improving
the standard of management and operation so as to generate
stable income and cash flows and lower the gearing ratio and
the finance costs of the Group.

As new projects are successively undertaken by the Group, it
is expected that Huiyong Property Management and Beichen
Construction will continue to generate revenue growth for the
Group and the business scope of the Group will gradually
expand.

We expect that the global pandemic will be contained and the
COVID-19 vaccination rate will gradually increase. We believe
that the tourism industry in Japan will gradually recover and
the hotel performance will improve in the long run.

On the basis of further improving the existing business,
the Group will also proactively look for more investment
opportunities with promising outlooks and prospects and
continue to create value for shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue, gross loss and gross loss margin

Revenue of the Group for FY21 amounted to HK$158,729,000
(FY20: HK$135,838,000, as restated), which comprised
of income from residential apartment sales and leasing
income from the Chongqging Property, income from the
Japan resort hotel, property management service income
and renovation and decoration income. The increase in
revenue by HK$22,891,000 as compared to the prior year
was mainly contributed from property management business
and renovation and decoration business, which were newly
acquired in March 2020 and June 2020, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

Gross loss of the Group amounted to HK$24,278,000 (FY20:
gross profit of HK$56,421,000, as restated), which mainly arose
from (i) the offering of special discounts for selling of residential
apartments during the year; and (ii) the serviced apartments
in the Chongqing Property that were put into operation during
the current period which was negatively affected by travel
restrictions and city-wide lockdowns. Revenue from these
operations could not fully offset the relevant cost of sales and
gross loss arose therefrom.

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses mainly comprised of
selling expenses of HK$18,358,000 (FY20: HK$13,619,000,
as restated) and administrative expenses of HK$103,742,000
(FY20: HK$81,265,000, as restated). The selling and
administrative expenses have been maintained at a stable
level as a result of strengthened cost control measures during
the year.

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year
attributable to owners of the Company

The loss attributable to owners of the Company increased to
HK$521,821,000 (FY20: HK$202,914,000, as restated), and
the total comprehensive expenses for the year attributable
to owners of the Company was HK$397,998,000 (FY2020:
HK$318,462,000, as restated) which was mainly attributable
to (i) gross loss of HK$24,278,000 mainly arising from the
Chongqging Property segment, as a result of the offering of
special discounts for selling of residential apartments under
the less favorable market conditions and the less satisfactory
result of the serviced apartment operations resulted from
travel restrictions and city-wide lockdowns; (ii) the impairment
loss amounted to HK$149,920,000 on property, plant and
equipment and HK$52,124,000 on right-of-use asset in
respect of the Chongqging Property serviced apartment
operation, mainly resulted from the uncertainties arising from
COVID-19; (iii) increase in finance cost to HK$154,398,000
(FY20: HK$98,306,000) as less finance cost was capitalised
during the year, following the completion of our property
redevelopment project in Chongging and (iv) benefiting from
the appreciation of Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars, the
exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
recorded a gain of HK$124,084,000 for the Group (FY2020:
charge of HK$115,479,000, as restated).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s total equity was
HK$189,128,000 (2020: HK$396,804,000, as restated),
represented a decrease of 52.3% as compared to prior year,
which was mainly due to the loss attributable to owners of the
Company for FY21 amounted to HK$521,821,000, such impact
on total equity was partially offset by (i) the exchange gain on
translation of foreign operations of HK$124,084,000 as a result
of the appreciation of Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars;
(ii) issuance of shares on placement of HK$49,386,000;
and (iii) issuance of shares under general mandate and
capital contributions from prior shareholder of subsidiary
acquired under common control during the year amounted to
HK$138,228,000.

During FY20, the Group obtained a bank loan with principal
amount of RMB1,250,000,000, equivalent to HK$1,362,500,000,
which carries a fixed interest of 7% per annum and will mature
on 30 March 2035. Such loan was utilised to repay other
borrowings with shorter repayment terms and higher interest
charges.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of HK$153,787,000 (2020: HK$1,381,528,000, as
restated). Cash and bank balances were mainly denominated
in Renminbi. The Group’s current assets amounted to
HK$670,556,000 (2020: HK$1,886,328,000, as restated). The
current ratio, represented by total current assets divided by
total current liabilities, was 1.71 (2020: 3.60, as restated).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had current liabilities of
HK$391,629,000 (2020: HK$523,339,000, as restated) and
total borrowings, representing bank and other borrowings,
promissory notes and unsecured borrowings from a Director,
amounted to HK$2,908,705,000 (2020: HK$3,873,325,000,
as restated) which are interest bearing and denominated in
Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars. The Group does not currently
use any derivatives to manage interest rate risk. Gearing ratio,
represented by total borrowings divided by total equity, was
15.38 (2020: 9.76, as restated). Approximately HK$20,636,000
(2020: HK$154,414,000, as restated) of the total borrowings
will be due in the coming twelve months from the end of
the reporting period. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had
capital commitment of HK$22,865,000 (2020: HK$82,077,000,
as restated), while its net current assets and cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$278,927,000 (2020:
HK$1,362,989,000, as restated) and HK$153,787,000 (2020:
HK$1,381,528,000, as restated), respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

In view of the above, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s
cash flow projections covering a period of twelve months from
31 March 2021 which have taken into account the following
measures:

(1)  Chongging Kingstone Land Co., Ltd.* (EEEAEHH
R 2 7A]) (“Chongging Kingstone”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has commenced
the sales of the properties and operation of the property
project which is expected to continue to generate
operating cash inflows to the Group; and

(2) The continuous financial support from Mr. Hu with
unutilised facilities as at 31 March 2021 amounted to
HK$357,158,000 available for drawdown at the Group’s
request.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group will have sufficient working capital to fulfill
its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the coming
twelve months from 31 March 2021. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
these consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group principally operates its businesses in PRC, Hong
Kong and Japan. The Group has subsidiaries operating in PRC
and Japan, in which most of their transactions are denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and Japanese Yen (“JPY”) respectively.
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations from
RMB and JPY which are the main foreign currency transacted
by the Group during FY21.

The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange contract
as hedging measures during FY21. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk against RMB and JPY by closely
monitoring their movements and may use hedging derivatives,
such as foreign currency forward contracts, to manage its
foreign currency risk as appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Human resources and remuneration policy

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total workforce of
399 (2020: 220). The total staff cost, including Directors’
emoluments and mandatory provident fund contributions,
amounted to HK$67,245,000 (2020: HK$55,208,000, as
restated). Employees are remunerated based on their
performance and experience. Remuneration package is
determined by reference to market conditions and individual
performance. In order to align the interests of staff, Directors
and consultants with the Group, share options may be granted
to staff, Directors and consultants under the Group’s share
option scheme (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”). There were
no share options outstanding under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme as at 31 March 2021.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Placing of Existing Shares and Top-Up Subscription for
New Shares Under General Mandate

On 24 June 2020, the Company, China DaDi Group Limited
(“China DaDi”) and Mr. Hu entered into the placing agreement
(the “Placing Agreement”) with Roofer Securities (“Placing
Agent”) pursuant to which the Placing Agent agreed to place,
on a best effort basis, up to 141,104,000 existing shares of
the Company (“Placing Shares”) at a price of HK$0.35* (the
“Placing Price”) per Placing Share on behalf of China DaDi (the
“Placing”).

Pursuant to the Placing, China DaDi and the Company have
also entered into the subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement”) on the same date under which China DaDi
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company
conditionally agreed to issue, 141,104,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company (the “Subscription Shares”) at a price
of HK$0.35* (the “Subscription Price”) per Subscription Share
(the “Subscription”). The Subscription Shares have a nominal
value of HK$14,110,400 and a market value of HK$57,852,640,
based on the closing price of HK$0.41# on the date of the
Subscription Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

The Placing and Subscription was undertaken to reduce the
Group’s leverage and enhance the Group’s financial position.
The Directors considered that the Placing and Subscription
would increase the number of Shares held by public investors,
which may in turn enhance the trading liquidity of the Shares,
as well as provide an opportunity to raise further capital for
the Company whilst broadening the shareholder base and the
capital base of the Company.

The Placing and the Subscription were completed on 24 June
2020 and 7 July 2020 respectively.

A total of 141,104,000 Placing Shares have been successfully
placed at the Placing Price of HK$0.35* per Placing Share
by the Placing Agent to not less than six independent
professional, institutional and/or individual investors who,
together with their respective ultimate beneficial owners (a)
are third parties independent of and not connected with the
Company or its connected persons; and (b) are not acting in
concert with China DaDi, its associates and persons acting in
concert with China DaDi. None of the placees has become a
substantial shareholder (as defined under the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”)) of the Company as a result of the
Placing.

Further, all the conditions of the Subscription have been
fulfilled and completion of the Subscription took place on 7
July 2020. A total of 141,104,000 Subscription Shares
(equivalent to the number of the Placing Shares successfully
placed under the Placing) were subscribed by China DaDi at
the Subscription Price of HK$0.35% per Subscription Share.

The net proceeds were approximately HK$48,345,000
received from the Subscription. The Company intended to
apply the proceeds for repayment of borrowings of the Group
and as general working capital of the Group. The net price of
the Subscription is approximately HK$0.34* per share of the
Company.

’ The Subscription Shares and the Subscription Price are before the
effective date of the Share Consolidation on 2 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The intended and actual use of proceeds from the Subscription
up to 31 March 2021 is set out as follows:

EEENWED T

BE202143A31H - RBEEMASIART
REBRREHEIIMT -

Utilised Unutilised

Original amount of net amount of net

allocation of proceeds up to proceeds up to

net proceeds 31 March 2021 31 March 2021

HZ2021F HZ2021F

3A31AMEB 3A31AfB

FERERE RIEFE RIEFE

Intended use of net proceeds FEREFENREARE FEDE EEBALE RBAEE
Repayment of borrowings of the Group ~ AEEEEEE 48,000,000 48,000,000 -
General working capital —ReEES 345,000 345,000 =
Total ) 48,345,000 48,345,000 -

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s net proceeds from the

Subscription has been fully utilised.

Charge on Asset and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2021, the Chongqging Property was pledged to
secure banking borrowings granted to Chongging Kingstone.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no material contingent

liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Save as disclosed above, the Group held no significant

investment as at 31 March 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

On 8 May 2020, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to acquire 100% equity interest in Wenzhou
Junshang at a total consideration of RMB1 from connected
persons of the Company. The principal activity of Wenzhou
Junshang is provision of design, decoration and engineering
services in the PRC. The acquisition was completed in June
2020.

On 14 July 2020, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Hu, who was the sole shareholder of Doof
Japan to acquire the entire equity interest in Doof Japan.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 24 June 2020, the Company, China DaDi and Mr. Hu
entered into the Placing Agreement with the Placing Agent to
place up to 141,104,000 Placing Shares at the Placing Price
per Placing Share on behalf of China DaDi.

For details of the Placing, please refer to “Use of Proceeds”
Section of this annual report.

On 27 January 2021, the Board proposed to implement the
share consolidation on the basis that every five (5) issued and
unissued shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) of HK$0.1
each be consolidated into one (1) Share of HK$0.5 each (the

“Share Consolidation”).

The Share Consolidation was approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 26 February 2021. The number of issued Shares
became 442,198,595 upon the Share Consolidation became
effective on 2 March 2021 and the Shares continue to be
traded in board lot size of 2,000 Shares.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
27 January 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 8
February 2021 for details.

Save as disclosed herein, there has been no change in the
capital structure of the Group during FY21. The capital of the
Group only comprises ordinary Shares.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHAIRMAN

Mr. Hu Xingrong, aged 41, was appointed as the chairman of
the Board and an executive Director of the Company on 2 May
2018. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee and
a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Hu is responsible for the business strategy and direction of the
Company and provides leadership for the Board and ensure
proper and effective functioning of the Board. He has over 17
years of experience in corporate management, investment
and business development. He is currently the chairman of the
board of directors of Doof International Holding Group Limited*
(ZHRBBEREBAERAT) (“Doof Group”), a company
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
is a large-scale comprehensive privately-owned enterprise
group. Mr. Hu is also a beneficial owner of China DaDi Group
Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Meanwhile,
Mr. Hu serves as the President of Wenzhou Enterprises
Chamber of Commerce in Beijing* (1t 7B M EEE), the
Honorary President of Hong Kong Wenzhou Entrepreneurs
Association Limited and a committee member of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Xiaohai, aged 52, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2018. He is also a member
of each of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Huang is responsible for the
overall implementation of the Company’s strategies and the
co-ordination of overall business operations. He has over 31
years of extensive experience in banking and financial sectors.
He graduated from China University of Petroleum (Beijing). Mr.
Huang is currently working as a vice president in Doof Group.

Mr. Jin Jianggui, aged 51, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Jin
graduated from Hangzhou Dianzi University with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Finance. He has over 27 years of extensive
experience in banking and finance sectors. Mr. Jin is currently
a vice president of Doof Group.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEREBE

Mr. Li Zhenyu, aged 46, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Li
graduated from Tsinghua University with a Doctor of
Philosophy in Chemical Engineering. Mr. Li has over 18 years
of extensive experience in natural resources sector and before
joining the Company, he had been working in China National
Petroleum Corporation from 1999 to 2017 and the position last
held was the strategy research supervisor of the petrochemical
institute. Mr. Li is currently a vice president of Doof Group.

Mr. Xu Haohao, aged 37, was appointed as an executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Company on 30 July
2019 and 2 September 2019 respectively. Mr. Xu is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Xu holds a
bachelor’s degree in Financial Administration from University of
Winnipeg, Canada and an EMBA degree from City University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Xu has over 10 years of experience in financial
and corporate management and before joining the Company
as the executive Director on 30 July 2019, he had been
working in Hong Kong Airlines Limited as General Manager,
Finance from 2012 to 2014. Mr. Xu has been an executive
director of CWT International Limited (stock code: 521)
("CWT"), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), from December 2014 to
June 2019. He was also appointed as an executive president
of CWT from February 2015 to March 2018, co-chairman of
CWT from March 2018 to June 2019, chief executive officer of
CWT from November 2018 to February 2019, chairman of the
nomination committee, executive committee and investment
committee and member of the remuneration committee of CWT
from March 2018 to June 2019. Mr. Xu was also a director of
HY Energy Group Co., Ltd. (888 JR & B i) B R A &) (stock
code: 600387), an A-Shares listed company on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, from May 2018 to May 2019. Mr. Xu was a
non-executive director of AID Life Science Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8088), a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
from November 2016 to September 2019.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Pau Yee Ling, aged 42, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018.
She is also the chairlady of the remuneration committee of
the Company and a member of each of the audit committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Pau holds a
Bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accounting in
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a
Master degree of Science in China Business Studies in the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Pau has around 16
years of experience in several multi-national corporations and
international accounting firms, expertise in Hong Kong, the
PRC and overseas tax advisory, group restructuring, merger
and acquisitions. Ms. Pau is currently a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on
5 November 2018. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company and a member of each of the
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong holds a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong
has over 19 years of experience in accounting and financial
management, mergers and acquisitions gained from certain
senior finance related positions including companies listed
in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the HKICPA.
Mr. Wong is currently an independent Non-executive Director
of Culturecom Holdings Limited (Stock code: 343) and
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (Stock code: 1401), both of
these companies are listed on The Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018.
He is also a member of each audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Yuen has been serving as an executive director of Huayi
Tencent Entertainment Company Limited (“Huayi Tencent”), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 419). For
the period from 2010 to 2016, Mr. Yuen was also the chairman
and chief executive officer of Huayi Tencent, as well as serving
on its remuneration committee and chairing its nomination
committee, executive committee and corporate governance
committee.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Haoliang, aged 33, was appointed as the Group
chief financial officer on 18 October 2019. Mr. Cheng has
many years of experience in financial management, banking
and corporate finance. Prior to joining the Company, he
worked in renowned banks and listed company in Hong Kong
and served senior roles in finance function.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) recognises the
importance of achieving the highest standard of corporate
governance consistent with the needs and requirements of its
businesses and the best interest of all of its stakeholders, and
the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) is fully
committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards
of corporate governance provide a framework and solid
foundation for the Group to manage business risks, enhance
transparency, achieve high standard of accountability and
protect stakeholders’ interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement
of policy which provides guidance on the application of the
corporate governance principles on the Group, with reference
to the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
all code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the
year ended 31 March 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by
the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon specific
enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the
year ended 31 March 2021. To ensure Directors’ dealings in
the securities of the Company (the “Securities”) are conducted
in accordance with the Model Code and securities code of
the Company, a Director is required to notify the Chairman
in writing and obtain a written acknowledgement from the
Chairman prior to any dealings in the Securities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the
Group, which includes leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions,
internal control, risk management and performances. The
management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day management
of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed. Major corporate matters that are
specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of interim and annual reports and
announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing;
(2) implementation of adequate systems of internal controls
and risk management procedures; and (3) compliance with
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations. It is the responsibility of the Board to determine
the appropriate corporate governance practices applicable to
the Company’s circumstances and to ensure processes and
procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s corporate
governance objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the business requirements and
objectives of the Group and for the exercise of independent
judgement. Each Director with various professional
qualification, experience and related financial management
expertise have contributed to the effective direction of the
Company and provided adequate checks and balances
to safeguard to the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders. Hence, the Board believes that the current
Board composition satisfy the balance of expertise, skills and
experience to the corporate governance requirements of the
Group as well as the ongoing development and management
of its business activities.

The Board currently comprises five executive Directors, namely
Mr. Hu Xingrong (chairman of the Board), Mr. Huang Xiaohai,
Mr. Jin Jianggui, Mr. Li Zhenyu and Mr. Xu Haohao and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee
Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po.

The biographies of the existing Directors are set out in “Profile
of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 19 to 22 of this
annual report.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as
well as the operation and financial performance of the Group,
and to review and approve the Company’s interim and annual
results. During the year, fourteen Board meetings were held
and the attendance of each Director at the Board meetings
is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this annual report.

Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in
advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. All
Directors are given an opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary assists
the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings to comply
with all applicable rules and regulations. The agenda and the
accompanying Board papers are normally sent to Directors at
least three days before the intended date of a Board meeting.
Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to Directors
for their comment before being tabled at the next Board
meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, all Directors
appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at the meeting. At each annual
general meeting, at least one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

Save and except for Mr. Hu Xingrong who beneficially owns
100% in the issued share capital of China DaDi International
Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
there is no relationship between members of the Board.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
(the “*CEQ”) of the Group are clearly defined and segregated
to ensure independence and proper checks and balances.
The Chairman focuses on the business strategy and direction
of the Company and has executive responsibilities, provides
leadership for the Board and ensures proper and effective
functioning of the Board in discharging of its responsibilities.
The CEO is accountable to the Board for the overall
implementation of the Company’s strategies and the co-
ordination of overall business operations.

According to code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”), the roles of Chairman and
CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and CEO should be clearly established and set out
in writing. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the roles of
the Chairman and the CEO are separate. Mr. Hu Xingrong was
the Chairman while the role of the CEO was performed by Mr.
Xu Haohao.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company
has received confirmation of independence from all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee
Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent
non-executive Directors and concluded that all of them
are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence
of any of the independent non-executive Directors has been
impaired up to the date of this annual report.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a service agreement with the Company pursuant to which
each of them is appointed for service with the Company for
a term of three years commencing on 4 November 2019 and
shall continue thereafter. Their terms of appointment shall be
subject to the rotational retirement provision of the bye-laws of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointing a new Director, each new Director receives
an induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that
he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, will receive amendments
to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company encourages the Directors to enrol in a
wide range of professional development courses and seminars
relating to the Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and corporate governance practices so that they can
continuously improve their relevant knowledge and skills. The
Company has also provided reading materials to all Directors
to develop and refresh their professional knowledge.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors participated
in the following continuous professional development:

REZE2021F3A31BILFE » EFE228 7
SIEHELRE

Reading materials

updating on

new rules and

Name of Directors regulations

REEBEHRRR

ERBTER

EEHNE 2 &R

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Hu Xingrong HRERER S A v

Mr. Huang Xiaohai mEELAE 4

Mr. Jin Jianggui ETHEE v

Mr. Li Zhenyu FIRFEE v

Mr. Xu Haohao BRERLESE v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Ms. Pau Yee Ling MKEL L v

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit EENEAE v

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po LA v

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
on 22 August 2013 which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diversed Board and sees increasing diversity at Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of the
Company'’s strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to talents, skills, experience, independence and knowledge.
The Company will also take into consideration its own business
model and specific needs from time to time. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to
the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight
Directors, amongst them, three are independent non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of gender,
age, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Policy and the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee considered that the requirements of the
Policy had been met.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with
specific written terms of reference and all members of the
Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive Directors.
Pursuant to the Audit Committee’s terms of reference, the Audit
Committee is authorised to commit Company’s funds in order
to obtain advice from outside legal counsel, accountants,
investigatory services or other expert advice. Details of the
authority and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan
Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po. Mr. Wong Kwan Kit is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Audit Committee
held three meetings including the review of the annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the interim results
for the six months ended 30 September 2020 before their
submission to the Board and monitored the integrity of such
consolidated financial statements. The attendance of each
member of the Audit Committee is set out in the section
headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this annual
report.

The Audit Committee has also discussed and reviewed the key
audit matters determined by the external auditor under Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing for the year ended 31 March
2021.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board
with specific written terms of reference and the majority of the
members of the Remuneration Committee are Independent
Non-Executive Directors. Details of the authority and
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong
Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, and two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Hu Xingrong and Mr. Huang Xiaohai. Ms. Pau Yee
Ling is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to approve the remuneration
packages for the individual Directors and Senior Management
of the Company. The attendance of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out in the section headed
“Board and Committees Meetings” of this annual report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year
ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the annual salary of the
Senior Management (exclude Directors) of the Company falls
within the following band.

Remuneration band
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board
with specific terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for, amongst other things, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members, considering
the reappointment of the Directors and succession planning
for Directors and making recommendations to the Board in
respect of the aforesaid matters. Details of the authority and
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan
Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, and two executive Directors, namely
Mr. Hu Xingrong and Mr. Huang Xiaohai. Mr. Hu Xingrong is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and concluded that members of the
Board has possessed the expertise and independence to carry
out the Board’s functions and responsibilities. The attendance
of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in
the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this
annual report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the nomination criteria and procedures
for the Company to select candidate(s) for possible inclusion
in the Board. The Nomination Policy could assist the Company
to achieve board diversity in the Company and enhance the
effectiveness of the Board and its corporate governance
standard.
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When assessing the suitability of a candidate, factors such as
the qualifications, skills, integrity and experience will be taken
into consideration as a whole. In the case of independent non-
executive Directors, they must further satisfy the independence
criteria set out within Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Since the
selection of candidates should ensure that diversity remains a
central feature of the Board, a range of diverse perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience would be
considered.

The process to identify potential candidates for the Board
would be as follows:

(1) identifying potential candidates, including
recommendations from the Board members,
professional search firms and the shareholders of the
Company;

evaluating the candidates based on the approved
selection criteria through methods such as reviewing
the resume and conducting the background checks;

reviewing the profiles of the shortlisted candidates and
interview them; and

(4) making recommendations to the Board on the selected
candidates.

The Nomination Policy also includes the Board succession plan
to assess whether vacancies on the Board would be created
or expected due to the Directors’ resignation, retirement, death
and other circumstances and to identify candidates in advance
if necessary. The Nomination Policy will be reviewed on a
regular basis.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each Director at the

EEERRE

EEESNZEEEE
HE2021FE3A3IBILFE  KFEEHFAAT]

various meetings of the Company during the year ended 31  Z{E&:% 2 @R HFE L& F
March 2021 are set out below:
General Audit Remuneration Nomination

meetings Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director EERE VN EEg ENZES FMEEE REZES
Mr. Hu Xingrong TR S 2/4 14114 = 11 111
Mr. Huang Xiaohai BESLE 2/4 14/14 - 1/1 111
Mr. Jin Jianggui SIHLE 2/4 14/14 S S S
Mr. Li Zhenyu ERFEE 2/4 1414 S S S
Mr. Xu Haohao RRREE 4/4 14114 - - -
Ms. Pau Yee Ling MRELL 3/4 1414 3/3 11 111
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BREALE 3/4 1414 3/3 11 il
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po REREE 3/4 1414 33 11 11
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT BEREE

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021 which gives a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of the
consolidated financial performance and cash flows for year
then ended. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board has selected
appropriate accounting policies, applied them consistently in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants which are pertinent to its operations and relevant
to the consolidated financial statements, made judgements
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and ensured
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements on the
going concern basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects. The interim and annual results of the
Company are announced in a timely manner within the limit of
two months and three months, respectively, after the end of the
relevant periods in accordance with the Listing Rules.

EEBEEBEEEE2021F3A31HILFE
ZEAVBHRER  LWEEAFHRMAEER
2021 3H31A ZFE MR A A REEZ B IE
FEZIRAUBEERFSRE - RREEHZE
2021 3H31A L FE ZiREMTBEmMER - 5
SERAABEENER  ERERETE M
NEFEMEEEBREANEREREBZES
Bk R (ERBERAE 2 I R
WERIBFELEEERESEVIERE -

AEBHRFT  BMREZEFGEAEERRR
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EEERRE

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for
preparing all information and representation contained in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration paid/
payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and its affiliated firm
is set out as follows:

EHOME  REEEAREBFINRE2021%
3A31ALFEARRAGAMBRRANFEE
R -

ZE AN &
HE2021FE3A31BHILFE » BftFER{EKFP
MEB)SAMEEAERARLEBBEARZ
& HmT

Services rendered Frig it AR 7% Fee paid/payable
e ENEA

HK$'000

FAET

Audit of consolidated financial statements EBIF S BHRE 1,900
Agreed-upon procedures on Interim Report RHISRE R T 160
Tax services i 1% AR 75 5
2,065

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for
the design and implementation of internal controls and risk
management which covers financial reporting, operations,
compliance and risk management of the Group, as well as
continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such internal
controls and risk management. The Board has delegated
such responsibility to the management of the Company.
The management, under the supervision of the Board, has
established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks faced by the Group.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk
management that are significant to the Group on an on-going
basis. The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, as well as their
training programmes and budgets.
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the process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as
follows:

Risk Identification

o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the
Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment

° Assesses the risks identified by using
the assessment criteria developed by the
management; and

o Considers the impact and consequence on the
business and the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response

o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of
the risk assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and
internal control processes to prevent, avoid or
mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the
risk and ensures that appropriate internal control
processes are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and
internal control processes in case of any
significant change of situation; and

. Reports the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.
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(b)

(c)

36

(d)

the main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard
assets against misappropriation and disposition; ensure
compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations;
ensure proper maintenance of accounting records for
provision of reliable financial information used within the
business or for publication; and to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

an acknowledgement by the Board that it is
responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. It
should also explain that such systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk
management of the Group and endeavours to identify,
control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failures to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

the process used to review the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and
to resolve material internal control deficiency

The Company establishes an internal control team
to review the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The results and findings were
presented to the Board and Audit Committee for
reviewing its effectiveness.
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The Board has also engaged an external risk
management and internal control review adviser (the
“Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group
as a whole for the year ended 31 March 2021. Such
review is conducted annually and cycles reviewed are
under rotation basis. The scope of review was previously
determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser
has reported findings and areas for improvement to the
Audit Committee and management. The Board/Audit
Committee are of the view that there are no material
internal control deficiency noted. All recommendations
from the Adviser are properly followed up by the Group
to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board therefore considered that
the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure
potential inside information being captured and
confidentiality of such information being maintained
until consistent and timely disclosure are made in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates
the handling and dissemination of inside information,
which includes:

° Designated reporting channels from different
operations informing any potential inside
information to designated departments;

° Designated persons and departments to
determine further escalation and disclosure as
required; and

o Designated persons authorised to act as
spokespersons and respond to external
enquiries.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system
in place covering all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions for the year under review
and up to the date of issuance of the annual report is
reasonably effective and adequate.

(e)
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged in a service contract with an
external service provider, Ms. Ho Wing Yan (“Ms. Ho"),
who was appointed as the Company Secretary. Mr. Cheng
Haoliang, the chief financial officer of the Company is the
primary corporate contact person of the Company with Ms. Ho.

Being the Company Secretary, Ms. Ho plays an important role
in supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow
within the Board and that the Board policies and procedures
are followed. Ms. Ho is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and should also facilitate
induction and professional development of Directors. During
the reporting period, the Company Secretary has complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), registered
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth (10%) of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company (the “SGM Requisitionists”)
can deposit a written request to convene a SGM at the
registered office of the Company (the “Registered Office”),
which is presently situated at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The SGM Requisitionists
must state in their request(s) the objects of the SGM and such
request(s) must be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of the SGM Requisitionists.

The Share Registrars will verify the SGM Requisitionists’
particulars in the SGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly
after confirmation from the Share Registrars that the SGM
Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary will
arrange with the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient
notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance with
all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the
contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in
order, the SGM Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome
and a SGM will not be convened as requested.
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The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a SGM if within twenty-one (21) days of
the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the Board
does not proceed duly to convene a SGM provided that any
SGM so convened is held within three (3) months from the
date of the original SGM Requisitionists’ request. A SGM so
convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
are to be convened by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
a General Meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the
registered Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth
(5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings (of the Company (the
“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered
Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give
to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next general
meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate
to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered
Office with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting
in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not
less than one week before the meeting in the case of any
other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the
requisition though not deposited within the time required shall
be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes
thereof.
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Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong, or call its customer service hotline at
(852) 2980 1338.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The annual general meeting provides an opportunity for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Board and the chairmans of Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee had attended
the 2020 AGM of the Company held on 25 September 2020 to
answer shareholders’ questions.

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make
enquiries through the Company’s website and by means of
emails to the investor relations department (email address:
ir@msil.com.hk). The management always provides prompt
responses to any such enquiries.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that our employees, customers
and suppliers and business associates are key stakeholders
to the Company’s success. We strive to achieve corporate
sustainability through engaging our employees, providing
quality products and services to our customers, collaborating
with business partners (including suppliers and contractors)
to deliver quality sustainable products and services and
supporting our community.

The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which sets out the appropriate procedure on declaring
and recommending the dividend payment of the Company.
The Company takes priority to distributing dividends in cash
and shares its profits with the shareholders of the Company.
The dividend distribution decision of the Company will depend
on, among others, the financial results, the current and future
operations, liquidity and capital requirements, financial
condition and other factors as the Board may deem relevant.
The Board may also declare special dividends from time to
time. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s bye-laws during the
year. The Company’s bye-laws is available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

By Order of the Board
Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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BRiIR - HERERHRS

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
is pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) report for the year ended 31 March
2021 (“ESG Report”), to provide an overview of the Group’s
management of material environmental and social matter.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report illustrates the Group’s initiative and
performance regarding the environmental and social aspects
during the reporting period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021
(the “year”).

REPORTING SCOPE

This ESG Report covers all subsidiaries of the Group in the
PRC (including Hong Kong) and Japan with core business that
principally engaged in the development, sales and leasing
of properties, provision of property management services,
renovation and decoration services and hotel operation. The
newly acquired renovation and decoration business in the PRC
and the acquisition of a hotel and golf course in Japan during
the year led to the change of scope in the ESG Report as
compared to last year. The Group will continue identifying and
assessing the impacts on major ESG aspects of its business
and to include them in the ESG Report.

REPORTING BASIS

The ESG Report is prepared with reference to the ESG
Reporting Guide set out by Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.
The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of
the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide. Certain key performance indicators (“KPIs”) which
are considered as material by the Group during the year
are disclosed in the ESG Report. The Group will continue to
optimise and improve the disclosure of KPIs. The ESG Report
is prepared and published in both English and Chinese. In the
event of contradiction or inconsistency, the English version
shall prevail.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group values input and feedback of its stakeholders as
they have substantial contributions to the Group and bring
potential impacts to the Group’s business. Internal and external
stakeholders have been involved in regular engagement
activities to share views regarding the Group’s operations and
performances. The following table provides an overview of

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

the Group’s key stakeholders and the various communication
channels used to reach and listen to their expectations:

Stakeholders
EREEE

Engagement channel
SHRE

BiR  HERERHRS

BEMEEE 2SR

AEESHEERARENRAREE  BARK
FUAEERRAE  BRASEERHRE
FE - AMRINREABEECDSRERES
RAKEEERRAEZRER - TREHAKHE
TEREBEORR  URAUEBRERS
HEREBRRE

Concern issues
TR E

Government Departments
and Regulators

B B0FT R BEE B e

Shareholders and Investors

BRI EE

Employees

il
pil

- On site visits and chats

- Work conferences, work together

on research and discussions
- Company website feedback

- EMAEREH®
- IfreRRWHIE
- AREMEE

- Annual general meeting and
shareholders meetings

- Annual report and
announcements

- Newsletters

- Investor meetings and road
shows

- BREBEFRE RIRRAE

- FHRRAE

- pEER

- REEHEGHERKE

- Staff orientation

- Internal training, briefing and
appraisals

- Intranet and emails

- Newsletters

- EROF

- RN BN R
- ABENES

- AREH

- Compliance with law and
regulations

- Government planning on
promoting regional economic
development and employment

- Proper tax payment

- BFRR AR

- T S HE 3 [ A B B e e 2
&l

- BOENTE

- Return to the shareholders

- Information disclosure and
transparency

- Protection of interests and fair
treatment to all shareholders

- &Ik
- BT MERE
- REEA R M 2 2 A T H R AR R

- Salary level and other welfare of
employees

- Working environment and
occupational safety

- Training and self-actualisation

- Anti-discrimination
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RiR  HEREBRS

Stakeholders Engagement channel Concern issues

EEEEE SHRE BEEE
Customers Company website feedback, - Safe and high-quality products
brochures distribution and annual and services
report - Stable and trusted relationship
Customer feedback and service — Information transparency
hotline - Business ethics
Feedback forms - Integrity
B NEIHEEEIEE - MF R F R - e REBEEMRRS
EPERRRGRE - = 0E N AT SERR (R
BR&RR - BiERE
- [BESER
- EAE

Suppliers and Business
Partners

HER R BB

Industry Associations

Financial Institutions

Hs R

Business meetings, supplier
conferences, phone calls and
interviews

Review and assessment meeting

Xoes HEBEXRE B
K Ehak
WAt RS S &

Industry conferences and
meetings
Site visits

EAEH®EREZE
BERE

Communications with relationship
managers

Consultation and regular
meetings

Reports

FREPRIEER

AN EHE R

wE
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- Stable and long-term relationship

- Information sharing

- Good quality control

- Mitigate transaction risk in every
aspect

- = REMRR

- DEE

- RiFE SR

- fREETHNRZ SRR

- Knowledge sharing

- Fair competition

- Professional standard
development

- AEAE

- AFEF

- BEEEERE

- Update compliance with law and
regulations

- Information disclosure

- Market information update

- B ETED RERNIENR
- BRI
- MIZEMEH
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R HEREBRE

Stakeholders Engagement channel Concern issues
EEEEE SHRE BERE
Media - Company website - Improve our communication
- Media conferences channel and mitigate risk
- Announcements - Enhance our corporate image
[LS: - YNSIE R - HEBBREKFERR
- RESRE S - RAGERR
- /\%
General Public and - Volunteer work of our staff - Understand our projected image
Communities - Charity activities and sociall within the general public
investment - Be a responsible company
- Announcements - Understand our environmental
and social impact to the society
- Announce our career
opportunities
AR KA R - BESHEETTIE - TREMERRRFOER
- RERPRHERE - EEARAENAT
- NS - THEMETEEFNRERT
exve
- BHERMNTIERS

The Group will continue to keep close communication with its
stakeholders to share and exchange ideas for advancing the
Group’s ESG management.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group is committed to continuous improvement of its ESG
management. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with us via email at ir@msil.com.hk.

A. Environmental

The Group pays significant attention to protect the
environment and is committed to the long-term
sustainability of the environment and community in
which it operates. The Group is endeavoured to fully
comply with local environmental protection rules and
regulations to ensure its business operations meet the
required environmental standard. The Group stringently
controls its emissions and resources consumption in all
their operating regions throughout their daily operations.
All operating regions of the Group have implemented
effective energy conservation measures to minimise the
environmental impact, such as raising the environmental
awareness, using resources responsibly, and managing
waste efficiently.

AEEREREZRSBBEZNERANDZRR
MERREAKRERE HERERAEENE
B

EmAEESR
AEERNBEREERE HERERETE -
WRAEMRERZINDZER - FEBRMW

Bt ir@msil.com. hkEE AR F AP <

A. RIE
REEFEEIRBERE TR OEFAT
FEITENRERMEBREMAFENE - K
SEENTE2ETEMIRBRERDRE
B RREKELERERTIRFER - K
EEBERETEARESREED RN
MERERER ASKEMBEEHED
KRURAREES  BEXEARABEREE
MERBEENSENERRERE BRI

oo

RIEFE -
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A1: Emissions

The Group strictly complies with national
and local laws and regulations related to
environmental protection and pollution control,
including but not limited to the followings:

the PRC Environmental Protection Law;

- the PRC Law on Water Pollution
Prevention and Control;

- the Law on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution of the PRC;

- the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by

Solid Waste;

- the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of
Hong Kong;

- the Noise Control Ordinance of Hong
Kong;

- the Water Pollution Control Ordinance of
Hong Kong;

- the Wastes Disposal Ordinance and
Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance of Hong Kong;

- the Water Pollution Control Act of Japan;

- the Air Pollution Control Act of Japan;

- the Noise Regulation Act of Japan;

- the Vibration Regulation Act of Japan;
and

- the Soil Contamination Countermeasures
Act of Japan.

During the year, the Group was not aware of
any material breach of or non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations related to
environmental protection.
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A1.1: Air Emissions A1 ERTRYHE
During the year, vehicles of the Group AEE AEEEHEAAEEE
consumed petrol and diesel for local travelling BEREPEMERBERABEK
of management of the Group and guests, which L EERE/AWINOX]) « 5
contributed to the emissions of nitrogen oxides AW (1SOx)) BALF (TPM]) By HE
("NOx"), sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and particulate i g

matter (“PM”).
Major air pollutants emissions from vehicles RFER2020F HEHAM X Z B
during the year and the corresponding period in R AMPERETIAT -

2020 are as follows:

Air Pollutant Emissions

ZRIT R R

Type of Air Pollutants Air Pollutant Emission (kg) Air Pollutant Emission (kg)
ERERYER ZERIFFEWHEB(TR) ERFEWHHR(FR)

2021 2020
SOy 0.11 0.20
NOx 53.03 11.22
PM 2.57 0.85

A1.2: Greenhouse gases (“GHG”) Emissions Al12: BERE(BEEZEREDHK
The GHG emissions from the operation during REE R2020F HEEBEZE AR
the year and the corresponding period in 2020 REBBEREYIAT -
are set out below:
GHG Emissions
BERBEEN
CO2 equivalent emission CO2 equivalent emission

Type of GHG emissions (Note 1) (tonnes) (tonnes)
BERBEHERER (M) —E b E 2B (M) —E b E 2 HER ()

2021 2020
Scope 1 Direct emissions 227.39 29.86
HE—EEHEN
Scope 2 Indirect emissions 8,416.60 3,322.53
HHE B HEN
Total 8,643.99 3,352.39
st
Intensity (tonnes/employee) 21.66 15.24
sE (M, 1E8)
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A1.3:

Al.4:

A1.5:

Note 1:

The calculation of the greenhouse gas is based on the
“Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from
greenhouse gas protocol.

Scope 1: Direct emissions from operations that are owned by
the Group including stationary and mobile combustion sources

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity consumed by the Group

Scope 3: Other indirect emissions is an optional disclosure
which mainly related emissions that are not controlled by the
Group

Hazardous Waste

During the year, the Group was not aware of any
hazardous waste disposal (2020: Nil).

Non-hazardous Waste

Major non-hazardous waste generated from the
Group’s office operation was paper waste. Total
non-hazardous waste generated by the Group
during the year was 2,136 kg and its intensity
per employee was 5.35 kg (2020: 437 kg and its
intensity per employee was 1.99 kg).

Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group endeavours to identify sources of
high energy consumption, material consumption
and environmental pollution in its operations and
implement measures for improvement. Energy
conservation policies and procedures have
adopted to mitigate emission. Energy saving
mode has been adopted in the following aspects
(i) all the computers, all electrical power supply
must be switched off when they are not in use;
and (ii) labels have been used to remind staff
for ways to conserve energy. The Group also
regularly checks and keeps maintenance of
company vehicles to ensure the vehicles are in
their good form to reduce emissions.
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A1.6: Waste Reduction and Initiatives

A2:

The Group aims to reduce generation of non-
hazardous waste (mainly paper waste) at source
whenever possible. The Group highly advocates
paperless office. A total of 2,246 kg paper was
used for daily office operation such as printing
of document, contracts, order forms, technical
drawings and meeting notes during the year
(2020: 1,215.00 kg). The Group reduces paper
consumption by:

° Developing management software (i.e.
Office Automation System) to support
establishment of a paperless office;

o Using recycled paper;
° Adopting double-sided printing; and

o Maintaining printers, copiers, and fax
machines to avoid wastage of paper due
to poor printing quality.

Use of Resources

Reducing energy use, reducing resources
consumption, and enhancing resources usage
efficiency are the Group’s principles in managing
its use of resources. The Group proactively
seeks opportunities to enhance resources usage
efficiency. The Group closely monitors the use of
energy and water to alert the senior management
on ongoing performance. Appropriate remedial
actions are taken whenever necessary to
improve usage efficiency.

Al6.

A2:

R HEREBRE

 RBERAE

AEBEEZAURNRERVEE
BEFEN(FTERER) - ~5H
ANREBERPRDE - NFE - 1]
Elx - &R 5158 gifE kg
SEUBEAERAEEALER
2,246T 35, 4% 5K (20204 : 1,215.00
FR) e REBFEBUATHARD
HFRHFEE ¢

BEEMEIMAZEBE B
&)

. A BER

. EFREETE « &

. RETHK - FHEREER
Wkt o RFTENE KR £ &
EREAR o

BRERH

BARERER R BIRERE MR
HEREABENDAEEERLE
RERMRRA - REEEBS KK
SRNAERERUE - XEERY]
ERERERALAX  BREAE
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A2.1:

A2.2:

A2.3:

Energy Consumption

Energy consumption by the Group during the
year and the corresponding period in 2020 are
set out below:

A2.1 : BEJRHFE

REE K 2020F 1 E HE AL E
ROBREEINAT

Energy Consumption

4
A

BERH
Energy consumed Energy consumed
Type of energy (kWh) (kWh)
REREER REREFER
BRER (FEE) (FE&E)
2021 2020
Unleaded petrol T 38,535.78 98,971.40
Diesel Seoh 46,409.26 i
LPG B AR 2,386.32 i
Kerosene g 4,576.01 i3
Heavy oil BEEH 838,515.66 =
Purchased electricity BE 9,438,543.00 4,699,990.00
Total HBET 10,368,966.03 4,798,961.40
Energy intensity (kWh/employee)  88JR3&E (TR, 25,987.38 21,813.46
==
Water Consumption A2.2: K

The Group consumed freshwater supplied by the
municipal freshwater supplier. Water is mainly
consumed for general operation. There was no
issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
Water consumption of the Group during the year
was 84,609 m® and its intensity per employee
was 212.05 mé. (2020: 47,978 m® and its intensity
per employee was 218.08 m®).

Energy Usage Efficiency Initiatives

The Group controlled lightings and temperature
of air conditioners to reduce electricity
consumption. During the year, energy saving
mode was set for all computers, energy
efficiency was considered when purchasing
electric appliances, power supplies were
switched off while leaving, air conditions were
set at an appropriate temperature according to
respective location and conditions.
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A2.5:

A3:
A3.1:
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Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

Regarding water resources, the Group does not
have any issues in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose.

The Group encourages water conservation and
reduces water wastage through inspections and
maintenance of the water supply. Reminder and
notices were posted to encourage water saving.
Water saving taps were installed in pantry to
further saving water.

Packaging Materials

The Group did not generate any packaging
materials during the year due to its business
nature (2020: Nil).

The Environment and Natural Resources

Significant Impacts of Activities on the
Environment

The Group raises staff’'s awareness on
environmental issues through education and
training and enlist employees’ support in
improving the Group’s performance, promote
environmental awareness amongst the
customers, business partners and shareholders
and support community activities in relation to
environmental protection and sustainability and
evaluate regularly and monitor past and present
business activities impacting upon health, safety
and environmental matters. With the integration
of policies mentioned in sections “A1: Emissions”
and “A2: Use of Resources”, the Group strives
to minimise the impacts to the environment and
natural resources.

A2.4

A2.5

A3
A3.1:

R HEREBRE
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RIREEEH - HBEFP - ¥BA
ERHERREBRERH - R
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B. Social
1. Employment and Labour Practices
B1:  Employment

The Group stringently complies with national
and local laws and regulations concerning
employment and labour practices, including but
not limited to the followings:

° Labour Law of the PRC;

° Labour Contract Law of the PRC;

o Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Minors;

o Law of the PRC on the Protection of

Disabled Persons;

° Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labor;

° Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong;

o Occupational Safety and Health

Ordinance of Hong Kong;
° Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong;

o Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance of Hong Kong;

o The Labour Standards Act of Japan;

o The Labour Safety and Health Law of

Japan;
o The Labour Contract Law of Japan; and
° The Minimum Wage Law of Japan.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare
had been identified during the year.
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Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group abides by related labour laws in
respective jurisdictions and provides social
insurance, subsidies, holidays and other
welfare according to the statutory requirement.
Employment contract terms are stipulated
under the principles of fairness, voluntarism,
mutual consent, integrity and credibility. The
Group provides employees with competitive
compensation, holiday benefits and discretionary
bonus. Salary adjustment is performed annually
according to the work performance of individual
employee and the market trend. Employees
are entitled to annual leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave, medical
insurance and retirement benefit schemes.

During the year, no material non-compliance
in relation to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods and other benefits and welfare was
recorded.

Equal Opportunity

The Group provides equal opportunities for
employees in respect of recruitment, job
advancement, training and development, etc.
Employees are not discriminated against or
deprived of such opportunities on the basis of
race, nationality, religion, physical condition,
disability, gender, pregnancy, sexual orientation,
political status, age and any other discrimination
prohibited by applicable law. Employees shall
not act in discriminatory manner or they can
be subject to disciplinary actions. No material
non-compliance in relation to relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company regarding equal opportunity, diversity
and anti-discrimination was recorded during the
year.

R HEREBRE

BEFEBREF
AEBEBTEBAERNEES S
i’ﬁ@ﬁ%ix*%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ

- FRG ﬁiiﬁ&ﬁ@?ﬁﬂ BB

ﬁﬁﬁ RF - B EHF

a}iﬂf&—lﬁﬂ’]ﬁﬁﬂ?%ﬂi ° X
E@%@ R AR F R -
REAEN RRISELAL - SFREE
AMEBTHTIERREMGEEETT
YRR -EEAREZAFR B
RER - FER BEFRBRIE
SRR

REE » WESKSEBERERE -
BREEE - I8 - KEHREAM
FANRENBERNERERTR

TEHRE
AEBREERERE IS
FoEIRERETERE - EE
TEER - BE 7% FER
oo B R ER . MEE -
BUas% - Fik RBREEZIER
] L At 5 45 170 52 B i 4R S 1 &
ZEKE - EETENERFTRXT
5 FARSAIREESLERD
REE HMESSEETSHS -
ZHlRRIEBETEEARRIES
éﬁ%ﬁmﬁ%%&%ﬁmﬁéﬁ
aRIER

m o

—E--FER REBBERAD 53



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR  HEREBRS

EERERTAE
R2021%F K 2020F3A31H i
Bl - FEcAR - BERERMER
HEIDHESRMAESHINAT -

Total Employees and Turnover

Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees
by gender, age group, employment type and
geographical region as at 31 March 2021 and

2020;
2021 2020
Number of Number of
staff % of total staff % of total
L4 EH gt g
EI®A Bk BETHE Bkt
By gender =R
Male B 202 51 119 54
Female pegca 197 49 101 46
Total FEE 399 100 220 100
By age group REwRAR
18-25 18-255% 37 9 29 13
26-35 26-355% 103 26 83 38
36-45 36-455% 110 27 60 27
46-55 46-555% 87 22 35 16
56 or above 56m% 3k A 62 16 13 6
Total BEr 399 100 220 100
By employment type REBER
Contract or short term A #)sk 58 B 6 2 16 7
Normal —R 239 60 117 53
Middle FE 110 27 59 27
Senior =E 44 11 28 13
Total 4EEt 399 100 220 100
By geographical region & it I &
PRC s 366 92 198 90
Hong Kong B 15 4 22 10
Japan A7 18 4 = =
Total et 399 100 220 100
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employee
turnover rate by gender and age group during
the year and the corresponding period in 2020:

BiR  HERERHRS

AEE K2020F 8 FE BiR IR 1 R &
FhAER B D HEBEMAEAME
FEAT -

2021 2020
Turnover rate by gender BRI B D HRKE
Male B 33% 50%
Female g 35% 44%
Turnover rate by age group RERER B DR AR
18-25 18-255% 78% 55%
26-35 26-355% 44% 54%
36—45 36-45%5% 19% 37%
46-55 46-555% 32% 34%
56 or above 563K A 18% 62%

There were total 134 employees left the Group
during the year (2020: 103 employees.)

Employee Health and Safety
Occupational Health and Safety

The Group has been maintaining a harmless,
non-hazardous, healthy and safe working
environment. Employees are required to
participate in regular fire drill. All employees
should be familiar with the locations of safe
exit, fire alarm and fire equipment. In addition,
employees are covered with insurance according
to local labour laws such as all employees in
PRC are entitled to social security benefits. The
Group has formulated different contingency
plans to handle different emergency situations.

B2 :
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B3:

During the development of our property, safety
environment shall be maintained jointly by
contractors, sub-contractors and their employees
and must comply with applicable local, national
laws and rules, health and safety legislation
and recognised codes and standards. Site-
specific conditions and rules developed with
the consideration of all significant hazards and
their risks, and other items which are important
for the safe and efficient operation of the project
must be strictly complied and disclosed. The
safety and quality of properties are monitored at
all stages of construction by the Group to ensure
that they meet the highest standards. This
entails a dedication to stringent product safety
standards and a focus on health and safety
issues in property development practices.

During each of the past three years including
the year, no material work-related fatalities
and lost days due to work injury was recorded.
Also, the Group was not in violation of any laws
and regulations in respect of the provision of
safe working environment and protecting the
employees from occupational hazards that have
a significant impact on the Group during the
year.

Development and Training

People are the most treasurable assets of the
Group. Investing in people is one of the Group’s
focuses and a key factor contributing to the
Group’s continuous growth. The Group provides
comprehensive training and development
opportunities to all levels of its employees
including orientation training, on job related
training and department specific training.

The Group arranges trainings according to
needs of employees, which are identified
annually by individual departments.
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Labour Standards

In compliance with the employment contract,
the Group’s regulations and policies, the Labour
Law, the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong
and other related laws of the PRC, Hong Kong
and Japan, there was no child labour nor forced
labour working in the Group. The job application
requirement specifies that job applicants must
be at least 18 years old. To ensure that job
applicants can meet the age requirement,
identities of job applicants are verified against
their valid identity documents, relevant
permits and certificates. The human resources
department is required to carry out background
checks to authenticate information provided
by job applicants and is required to fill in forms
that confirm hired employees have met the age
requirement.

Besides internal monitoring process, contractors
are also subject to stringent requirement on the
Group’s labour standard, no child labour and
forced labour can be tolerant in all the Group’s
development projects.

No non-compliance in relation to laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company regarding prevention of child and
forced labour was recorded during the year.

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group engages with various suppliers,
contractors, sub-contractors and service
providers in different segment of business on
daily operations. The Group has well established
tendering policy to select and manage its supply
chain. Potential candidates are evaluated in
terms of mainly their capability and track record
on environmental and social responsibility.
The Group endeavour to exert a positive
influence on our supply chain by working and
communications. To mitigate the supply chain
risk, the Group evaluate their performance
regularly.
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Bé:

According to our tendering policy, the Group
compares different suppliers/service providers
to select qualified candidates (based on
criteria such as qualifications, specifications,
compliances, quality control and corporate
social responsibility performances, etc.) before
the Group enters into contract.

Thus, we believe there are no significant
environmental and social risks for our
management decision on supply chain
management during the year.

Product Responsibility
Product Assurance and Recall

The Group sets high standards to deliver quality
products and services to our customers. The
Group exercises stringent quality control policies
and processes on our product/service throughout
the entire process of supply chain management
(Please refer to section B5 for details). Product
quality is evidenced by awards obtained in
past years such as Chongging Kingstone Land
Co. Ltd* (EEEREHMBRAA]), one of our
subsidiary of the Group who is responsible for
the Group’s property development in Chongging,
has obtained an award of “2019FF B>+ K[F
Ty EmEE” for the quality product delivered to the
customers and consumers in year 2019.

The serviced apartments have been officially put
into operation during FY21, and were awarded
the “2020 Best New Opening Apartment Hotel”
by the selection panel of the China Best Hotel
Awards.
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Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has complied with laws and
regulations that related to protection of patents
and trademarks in each operating jurisdictions.
To protect third party intellectual property rights
and comply with relevant licensing terms when
software is used, employees are prohibited
from duplicating, installing or using software in
violation of its copyright or license terms as part
of the Group’s information security policy and
staff handbook. Use of free software products
is stringently controlled; and making copies of
copyright works is strictly prohibited.

Customer Data Protection

The Group manages information in a systematic
approach. The Group has developed a policy
on customer data control and a procedure
on control of information assets. Employee
handbook has stated electronic communication
system usage policy to provide guideline on
managing data and information. The Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong office
is strictly complied. Sending of private email
to customers is strictly prohibited, all customer
information should restricted under the domain
of the company email. All staff are requested to
logout their computer system and close down
their computer network after work.

To maintain network security, the Group has
set up firewalls, installed anti-virus software
and implemented interactive processing for
password verification. Robust support has
been provided for network and servers involved
in major operations. IT department has set
restricted connections between office and
commercial networks to prevent unauthorised
data use, export and copy.

No non-compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group in
relation to customer data protection and privacy
was recorded during year.

R HEREBRE

R EETE

AEBEBTREERIEREHW
BN EASREARRRER - B
IRAE SR = 77 M E R £ (F A8
8 ST R R TR IRR - BB TS
2 RELEM R RRESE R G
ROEE - W AKREERZ 2R
RERBITFMO—8D - ERRE
BHFEMXEBES - WEREER
R FE(ER °

BEFBEBRE

AEBURFCHAEEREM - K
SEESEREFEEEERRENME
AMEESEERERF - REFMEME
FREZABRERARK - AEEEE
REMBEHRIES - BARDEEHE
BT EAB R L) &P - BREEm
BEPBREXLAEL PIAETFEHR
ERRAREHEE - FEETY
AEHRENERERS - LA
T {ERafz iy AR F B RS RO 3K -

REREREZE  AEEEREY
Kitg - WRERSEM - BEA
mHRELSEN  TEHIEE
EEEPESNBKLARES - &
AREAPIER N E R B EREZ
MR BREES - B LERERE
/A BihRERBUE -

REE  AEEWEFFEREH
BEPEEBRELLEEHANEEE
EBAZENEZRERNTERE

—E--FER REBBERAD 59



60

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiR  HEREBRS

B7:

Quality control

The Group exercises stringent quality control
policies and processes on our product/service
throughout the entire process of supply chain
management (Please refer to section B5 for
details). The Group also exercises rigorous
quality control management to ensure our
product/service not only can reach industry/
market standards but also can comply with local
laws and regulations in environmental and social
aspects.

Anti-corruption

According to the Group’s anti-corruption policy,
all employees shall abide by the laws and
regulations of the PRC and Japan, and the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 21) of
Hong Kong and shall not engage in any illegal
activities. Employees shall uphold the code of
ethics, advocate fair competition and act against
bribery according to the Group’s procedure
manuals. Any bribery, fraud, money laundering
and embezzlement are prohibited. Employees
must not accept or request any improper
benefits including banquets, gifts, securities,
valuables and high-expenditure entertainment
activities from business partners, suppliers
and merchants, etc. The prohibition against
the provision of anything of value applies to all
clients, suppliers, and any person with whom
the Group does or anticipates doing business.
Employment opportunities must not be used as
an inducement to anyone to act improperly so
as to obtain or retain as advantage in business.
The Group prohibits bribery committed by
third parties acting on its behalf. The Group
mandates appropriate due diligence on all such
third parties, and the application of suitable
contractual terms and governance to reduce
the risk of bribery. The Group reserve the right
to terminate its relationship with an associated
person who commits, or is suspected to have
committed bribery.
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When there is any alleged case in violation of
laws, regulations, code of conduct or Group’s
policies, the Group will investigate and impose
disciplinary actions upon offenders after
verification.

The Group complies all applicable laws on
prohibiting corruption and bribery of the PRC
and Japan that have a significant impact on
the Company during the year. There was
no concluded legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its
employees during the year.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group
is committed to understanding the needs of the
communities in which we operate. The Group
strives to develop long-term relationship with our
stakeholders and seek to make contributions
to programs that have a positive impact on
community development.

Thus, the Group will constantly aware of
the importance to make contribution to the
community such as encouraging employees to
dedicate their time and skills to support the civil
society.

The English name is for identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The directors (the “Director(s)”) of Man Sang International
Limited (the “Company”) herein present their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Group is principally engaged in the development,
sales and leasing of properties, provision of property
management services and renovation and decoration services
and hotel management.

The principal activities of the Company’s major subsidiaries
are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 and 7 and
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 8 to 18 of this
annual report.

The capital risk management and financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are shown in notes 6 and
7 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in the
Financial Highlights on page 4 of this annual report.

Discussion on the Group’s environmental issues and
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Company are contained in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 42 to
61 of this annual report.
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The Company'’s key relationships with its employees, customers
and suppliers and business associates that have a significant
impact on the Company and on which the Company’s success
depends are contained in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 42 to 61 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 89 and 90 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company does not have any distributable reserve in
accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 as at 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

Details of the distributable reserve are set out in note 41(iii) to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” of this annual report and in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement
was entered into by the Company during the year.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties and properties
under development or held for sale of the Group during
the year are set out in notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the five largest
customers of the Group together accounted for 49% (2020:
92%, as restated), with the largest customer accounted for
approximately 35% (2020: 47%, as restated) of the Group’s
total revenue. The five largest suppliers/contractors of the
Group together accounted for 33% (2020: 58%, as restated),
with the largest supplier/contractor accounted for 19% (2020:
28%, as restated) of the Group’s total purchases/construction
during the year.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, other than the
largest and the fourth largest customer of the Group in the
year, which are entities under control by Mr. Hu Xingrong
(“Mr. Hu”), an executive Director and the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company and contributed HK$55,989,000
and HK$4,527,000 to the Group’s total revenue of the year,
respectively, none of the Directors of the Company or any of
their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers during the year.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on page
231 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Xingrong (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Xiaohai

Mr. Jin Jianggui

Mr. Li Zhenyu

Mr. Xu Haohao

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Pau Yee Ling
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s bye-laws,
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire form office by rotation. Accordingly,
Mr. Li Zhenyu, Ms. Pau Yee Ling and Mr. Wong Kwan Kit shall
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and Senior Management
are set out on pages 19 to 22.

DIRECTOR’S MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION
TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save as disclose herein, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company’s holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the
Company and the Director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company has been entered into or existed during the year.
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COMPETING BUSINESSES

The interests of the Directors of the Company in competing
business that were required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
8.10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as
informed by the relevant Directors were as follows:

Mr. Hu Xingrong (an executive director and the chairman of
the Company) is the chairman of the board of directors of Doof
International Holding Group Company Limited*(% #5 B 1%
LB AR A R]) (“Doof Group”), a company established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) which is a large-
scale comprehensive privately-owned enterprise group,
which has business of properties development in the PRC.
The Company is an investment holding company whose
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the development, sales
and leasing of properties, as well as provision of property
management services and renovation and decoration services
and hotel management. Therefore, the business of properties
development in the PRC engaged by Doof Group (the
“Excluded Business”) may be regarded as being potentially
competing (directly or indirectly) with the Group’s business,
and Mr. Hu Xingrong is regarded as being interested in the
Excluded Business.

The Doof Group has a number of properties and land reserves
in various regions in the PRC, and the Group has no plans to
invest in properties in the same regions. While there is one
overlapped region, being Chongaging, the Group’s businesses
and the Doof Group’s business in Chongging differ greatly in
terms of project size, nature and target customers. The Doof
Group’s development projects generally target middle-class
households, whereas the Group targets upper middle and
upper class households and high-end customers.
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Apart from Mr. Hu Xingrong, Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin
Jianggui and Mr. Li Zhenyu (all being executive Directors
of the Company) are vice presidents of Doof Group. To the
best knowledge of the Company after making all reasonable
enquiries, Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui and Mr. Li
Zhenyu had no shareholding interest in Doof Group. The
Company was informed by Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui
and Mr. Li Zhenyu that they were merely maintaining their
positions as vice presidents of Doof Group in a non-executive
nature.

The Group and the Excluded Business under Doof Group are
managed by separate companies with separate management
and administration. With the overseeing and supervision of
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
the Board is of the view that the Group should be capable
of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from, the Excluded Business of Doof Group. The
Board shall also regularly assess the Company’s business
development to ensure there is no issue of competition.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme which
was adopted on 17 August 2012 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQO”)), which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the
Directors have taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange were set out below:

(a) long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

ESRITRARER KRG - HERORE
SREBERAR

R2021F3H31H » EFE N AR A ok E F 1 FEE
EB (REH R EEGED ([ H R HAE KN ) FEXY

HREE T RORE) 2 Bfn - B KESFTHEER
()IRBEES LB GROIEXVERE 7R E8D B 247

ERBMARRNEBHEZZMAERAA (TH
X%M@%ﬁ%“%&% MWE%ﬂY%%W
BEARERBZEDERARR) + R(D)REE

&%EMW%&QWK%A&M%%%ﬁu
Iuﬁftmﬁﬁmﬁ+2imﬁﬁA§$Lﬂ
EHERHNFRESTA(RESTADAMNEAR
KB 32 P 2 B s SRR EFIINT

(@ RELXFEBEBRZHFA

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each held

FEERKREESNE T2 EBERHA
Percentage
of the
issued share

Capacity/ Direct Deemed Total capital of the
Name of Director nature of interest interest interest interest Company
LR N
RIEE ERTRA
Espns 510/ ERtE HiEEx BER HmiEn BEAk
Mr. Hu Xingrong Interest in a controlled 272,327,671 272,327,671 61.58%
corporation (Note)
TAEA K REEEER (Ht&E)
Note:  These shares were directly owned by China DaDi Group Misk : ZERMBPERMEBRFRAR(HEKXR

Limited (“China DaDi”), which is 100% owned by Mr. Hu
Xingrong.
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(b) long positions in underlying shares of the Company

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, none
of the Directors had, as at 31 March 2021, any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to provisions of
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors have
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company, its holding company, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2021, substantial shareholders’ interests and
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company, other than the Directors, as recorded in the register
of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FTERRREMALRERT R RAERK
AR TR £

MR2021F3H31H ' REARAIKBESF LT
EHIEBRTECETERRELMATE - £2
RE(BEEBRINERADRBRMDREBEROTFAR
S NORBIT ¢

Number of ordinary shares

ZEREE

Percentage
of the issued
Name of Capacity/ Direct Deemed Total share capital
Shareholder nature of interest interest interest interest of the Company
RN
B 2 ETRA
RERERB B REEME HiEER AR HRER Aok
China DaDi Beneficial owner 272,327,671 - 272,327,671 61.58%

(Note)

=N EREEA (PR &E)

Note:  These Shares were directly owned by China DaDi, which is 100% Misk : ZERGAPEARMEEES - MF B KA SR

owned by Mr. Hu Xingrong.
The interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company
has not been notified of any person (other than the director of
the Company) or entity had an interest or a short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries with all the
Directors, they have confirmed compliance with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2021.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board has assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive Directors and is satisfied of their independence.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee, which comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, has reviewed with the
management in conjunction with the auditor, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the internal control, risk management and financial reporting
matters including the review of audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Discloseable and Connected Transaction in relation to the
Acquisition of Wenzhou Junshang Decoration Co. Ltd.*

On 8 May 2020, Wenzhou Rongdong Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. CAMERFEHERZEFRAA) (“Wenzhou
Rongdong”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
Mr. Hu Shikuan and Ms. Zhang Tingting, pursuant to which
Wenzhou Rongdong conditionally agreed to acquire, and Mr.
Hu Shikuan and Ms. Zhang Tingting conditionally agreed to
sell, the entire equity interest in Wenzhou Junshang Decoration
Co., Ltd.* CRINE HEH AR A E]) (“Wenzhou Junshang”)
at the consideration of RMB1 (the “Wenzhou Junshang
Acquisition”). Mr. Hu Shikuan and Ms. Zhang Tingting are,
respectively, the father and niece of Mr. Hu, an executive
director and ultimate controlling Shareholder of the Company,
and are therefore connected persons of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

The Wenzhou Junshang Acquisition was completed in June
2020, upon which Wenzhou Junshang became an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the financial
information of Wenzhou Junshang and its subsidiary Wenzhou
Beichen Construction Co., Ltd.* (BNt REZR AR A7) are
consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the
Company.

For reasons, benefits and further details of the Wenzhou
Junshang Acquisition, please refer to the “Business Review
— Renovation and Decoration” Section under Management
Discussion and Analysis.
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Major and Connected Transaction relating to Acquisition of
the Entire Issued Share Capital of Doof Japan

On 14 July 2020, Decent Start Limited (the “Purchaser”),
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. Hu
(the “Vendor”) and the Company entered into an acquisition
agreement (“Acquisition Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire and the Vendor
conditionally agreed to dispose of 1,000 shares inkk=\ & #t % #
* (Tafutsu Kabushiki Kaisha*) (“Doof Japan”), representing the
entire issued share capital of Doof Japan, and a shareholder’s
loan in the amount of approximately JPY1,975,537,251
(equivalent to approximately HK$141,053,360). The
consideration of JPY848,394,046 (equivalent to approximately
HK$60,575,335) was satisfied by the issue and allotment of
163,717,121 consideration shares allotted and issued by the
Company at the issue price of HK$0.370 per consideration
share (the “Doof Japan Acquisition”). Mr. Hu is an executive
Director and ultimate controlling Shareholder of the Company
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

The Doof Japan Acquisition was completed on 30 October
2020, upon which Doof Japan became an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial results of
Doof Japan are consolidated into the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

For reasons, benefits and further details of the Doof Japan
Acquisition, please refer to the “Business Review — Hotel
operation in Japan” Section under Management Discussion
and Analysis.
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Continuing Connected Transactions relating to the
Master Agreement in Respect of Provision of Property
Management Services and Decoration and Renovation
Engineering Services (the “Services”)

On 24 February 2021, the Company and Mr. Hu entered into
the master agreement, pursuant to which the companies
within the Group (the “Group Companies”) shall provide the
Services to Mr. Hu and Mr. Hu’s direct or indirect wholly owned
or 30%-controlled companies during the period commencing
from 24 February 2021 (or upon fulfilment of all conditions
precedent of the master agreement, whichever later) and
ending on 31 March 2023 (both days inclusive) unless
otherwise terminated (the “Master Agreement”). Mr. Hu is an
executive Director and ultimate controlling Shareholder of the
Company and is therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The consideration under individual agreements for the
Services shall be determined through procedures for tender
and bidding pursuant to the relevant rules and regulations of
the PRC; or an approach which brings greater profit to the
Group; or if the Group Companies intend to bid for a project,
the bidding documents should base on the requirements set
by the tenderer and submit the same to the management of the
Company for approval; or the consideration price is according
to the scale of each project with reference to comparable
market prices of independent third party service providers; or
in permitted cases where the tender process is not required,
an agreed price shall be adopted according to “reasonable
costs of the project + reasonable market profit range”,
expected profit margin of the services to be provided by the
Group Companies shall be no less than the profit margin the
Company charges an independent third party. Relevant laws
and regulations concerning specific requirements for the
Services, including in particular, the Property Management
Regulations (¥ %EZE1£%1)) and the Construction Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({2 A R HEFEI #4E5%)) shall be
strictly complied with.

The annual cap for each of the provision of the Services under
the Master Agreement three years ending are RMB55,500,000.
The annual cap for the year ended 31 March 2021 had not
been exceeded.
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Reasons for and Benefits of Entering into the Master
Agreement

Since around 2019, the Group has adopted a concrete
expansion strategy to diversify revenue sources and
create shareholders’ value, in particular, by taking property
development as the Group’s core business and integrating
upstream and downstream light assets businesses of the
industrial chain, and to continuously explore opportunities to
make investments and/or acquire businesses or projects that
have promising outlooks and prospects.

Through the acquisitions of subsidiaries from Mr. Hu or his
associates as disclosed in the previous announcements of the
Company, the Group has been steadily acquiring new and
improved resources, skills and technology, while at the same
time increasing its project scale and staff size, with an aim to
promote business growth and enhance the Group’s goodwill in
the property development industry as a whole. Notwithstanding
such acquisitions, property development, investment and sales
and leasing remain as the Group’s principal business.

By entering into the Master Agreement, the Group can
accumulate relevant experience and improve its reputation
and goodwill in the property management services and
renovation and decoration services businesses through
transactions with the Mr. Hu Controlled Companies on large
scale and noteworthy projects, which would also bring stable
income, reinforce the Group’s revenue stream and cash flow,
and facilitate the future development plan of the Group. The
Master Agreement could bring about significant synergy effect
and further promote the business growth of the Group in the
property development industry in the long run. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24
February 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 15
March 2021.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Master Agreement and confirmed that (i) the transactions
carried during the year ended 31 March 2021 have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Master Agreement and that the profit has been substantially
retained by the Company, and (ii) any new contracts entered
into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and Mr. Hu
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are fair and reasonable,
or advantageous, so far as the Group is concerned and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 March
2021, there were no other connected transactions (including
continuing connected transactions) of the Company that
required for the reporting, announcement, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with
the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
March 2021 were:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s
business;

2. on normal commercial terms or better to the Company;
and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreements governing

them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Confirmations from our Company’s Independent Auditor

The auditor of our Company has confirmed in a letter to the
Board that, with respect to the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions entered into during the year ended 31 March
2021:

1. nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by the
Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to their
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the
transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;
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38 nothing has come to their attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

4. no transaction has exceeded the cap.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Bye-law 166(1) of the Company’s bye-laws, the
Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices,
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attached to any
of them. Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in
force and was in force throughout the year.

The Company has also taken out and maintained Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance policy throughout the year,
which indemnifies against costs, charges, losses, expenses
and liabilities that may be incurred by the Directors in the
execution and discharge of their duties.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees

The Group believes that Directors, senior management
and employees are the key to our success, their industrial
knowledge and understanding of the market enables the
Group to maintain market competitiveness. Thus, the Group
provides competitive remuneration package and benefits, and
commits to create a harmonious working environment without
discrimination.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

T

3. T T EIERNERSEBERS
RHPEEERNTERBRBEEZETRS
Mg T &

4. BEXZEL LR -

SRFFREEIRX
RIFARE 2 ERAMRIFE166(1)F - EFAHEAR
REZEENRSMNERSRE HEFHEREM

—fIA KA RSN EEE B 2B AL
TR - FEXPEENARBRIT B SIET
BisMmAlge ELMARR KA B - BK
BERHAX - TEEREMILZEREBSE @ it
TSR IE 2= H {7 — L AT B4R E IA 2 (17
BMEFSTHRESTE - ARAFBREGRCESEN
WHREBFRAER

ARRIRFAEBERERESNSBERERT
Rl REERRITMETHBERAIRELS L
A - B BK - X RAERHEE -

HET  EFEFRHERENEZRMEE

BT

AEERR EF SREBABMEIRAE
BRI ERRE - 1R AYTT AN N T 5 R R R
BARERARBTHEEFD - At - AKER
BTRHABRFNNFHEEREN - LB AT
ERY - MM A E SRR TR -

SE--£5% REERERAT 77



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

Customers

The Group’s largest customers are property developers in the
property management services segment and renovation and
decoration services segment, and property investors in the
Chongaing Property segment. Save for the largest customer
and the fourth largest customer, which are entities under
control by Mr. Hu, all major customers of the Group were
independent third parties.

The Group provides high-quality and reliable service for
customers, and maintain good relationship with existing and
potential customers to keep abreast of the market trend,
which enables us to adjust our operation and marketing
strategies timely, it is critical for the development and success
for the Group. Meanwhile, we have no material dispute with
customers.

Suppliers

The Group’s largest suppliers/contractors are constructors and
renovation and decoration service providers in the Chongging
Property segment. All major suppliers/contractors of the Group
were independent third parties.

The Group maintains the solid and stable relationship with main
suppliers/contractors to ensure the product quality and plan
progress. The Group cooperates with its suppliers/contractors
and closely monitors its product quality, routine construction
engineering and timely settles for the completed works.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float during the year and up to
the date of this Directors’ Report under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2021 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 March 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events took place subsequent to 31 March 2021.

On behalf of the Board

Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHE#RE

[N
{’-_E_' & ﬁa SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited  f Kkt (7 itE)
°7 43/F, Lee Garden One IR T AN
33 Hysan Avenue TS S

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

Shine‘ZOing

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MAN SANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 89 to 230, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and
accounting policies on page 124.

The key audit matter
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

B ETNEERRER

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of investment
properties was stated at fair value of approximately
HK$1,954,762,000 based on valuation performed by
independent valuer, with a decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$4,088,000 recognised for the year ended 31
March 2021.

2021638310 - ERXNBIEERPETH G - HAABE
HECZREYEZREELNR,954,762,0008 7T - ERBE
202153 A31H I FEMR R 1 EER 2 44,088,000/ 7T

We have identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter because of their significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the involvement
of significant judgements and estimates made by the
management of the Company in assessing its fair value.
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NAEBEAEELERAG KA - HRMADHTHREYE
BRI RAERETEE -

Our procedures were designed to challenge
the valuation process and reasonableness of
the key assumptions and estimates adopted in
assessing the fair value of investment properties.
BM2BF T AERGERTFARTEIREDE
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We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input
data used in the valuation with reference to the
recent market transacted prices and internal
business plans, together with market and other
externally available information.
BME2ZB0HmSRXSEURRNIBEBE -
ERETSG REAMINBRIEGER - LB REEM
RRAZE  TERREBARBEZ SN -

SRR REEBERARF
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Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for
sale

Please refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements
and accounting policies on page 127.

The key audit matter
ARBETER

AHERELEME TR R FE

F2RHEe M BRRME1OUNRE127TE 2 g5
BUR °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B E T NAEERRER

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of properties held
for sale amounting to approximately HK$455,873,000.
R202153A31H » FiEH EWE Z RE{E4X) /455,873,000/8
775 °

Management of the Company assessed the carrying amount
of properties held for sale according to the net realisable value
of the property units with reference to the valuation performed
by independent valuer, which involves significant degree of
judgements and estimates.

ERRERERBE LGEMETHEMSNMEELL 2 AT#
BERETEBELEMREZREE - PP REANHEG G
At

We have identified the assessment of net realisable value of
properties held for sale as a key audit matter because of their
significance to the consolidated financial statements and the
involvement of significant judgements and estimates made by
the management of the Company.
ENHEREUBBREAMEBEAL SR BERREREREDL
BARAE RMEF - MEME BT ERELEYEN T ZRFE
Bl REAREEE -
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Our procedures were designed to challenge the
impairment review process and reasonableness
of the key assumption and estimates adopted in
assessing the net realisable value of properties
held for sale.

B2 BF T AERREREBE KT ERED
EVENFERFERAOBRRE LGNS
BIREMER °

We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input
data used in the assessment in estimating the
net realisable value, including estimating selling
expenses and selling prices with reference to
the local economic developments, recent sales
transactions of the Group and other available
market information.
BUEERAREENZRFEMATE T8
BRERBABE 2GEMN  BEMFHERI K
BB W2EXMKEER - BESEOHHEE
R 5 REM ARSI E R



Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Please refer to notes 20 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements and accounting policies on pages 140 and 141.

The key audit matter
ARETER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B

W% BERRBUREAEEERE

FEL2HGRA P BRERWMT20R220A R FE 1405 141
B2 E5THR o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B E T NAEERRER

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets amounted
to approximately HK$654,191,000 (net of accumulated
impairment loss of approximately HK$161,267,000) and
HK$200,532,000 (net of accumulated impairment loss of
approximately HK$56,700,000) respectively.

MR202163A31H - ¥ - BMEARBREBEEEZRAEAE
2 R4 /5654,191,0007% 7T (F1kk REHREE 1 41161,267,0007%
7t) % 200,532,0007% 7T (¥1kr 25 (B E5 18 4156,700,000/8 7T) °

Management of the Company assessed the impairment of
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets according to the respective recoverable amounts
with reference to the valuation performed by independent
valuer, which involves significant degree of judgements and
estimates.
ERARERERBECGEMETHEMSNSaRIRKEE
HEME - BMERRBULERAEEEZREERE 845
N E R k5t e

We have identified the impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit matter
because of their significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of a significant degree of
judgements and estimates made by the management of the
Company in assessing the recoverable amounts.
ENHGAMBRAMEBEAR BEARIEEERFEHERX
T RS AR A AT B S8 - MBMERBYE - BE RRE
REREEERESAMEETEIE -

Our procedures were designed to challenge the
impairment review process and reasonableness
of the key assumption and estimates adopted in
assessing the recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
B2 BT EEERREEMBERNFTHETA
ME - BERREBARGEREEE 2 FIOKERE
RANERRELGTHNEEREE -

We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input
data used in the assessment in determining the
recoverable amounts by reference to the external
and internal source of information.

B2 ER2E IR A EE R R RE T T U El
SHEAEFAEARE  TEBRRLBABEZE
B

SRR REEBERARF
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Revenue recognition from renovation and decoration
services

Please refer to note 8 to the consolidated financial statements
and accounting policies on pages 110 and 111.

The key audit matter
ARBETER

KER KRB OWATER

FHRHGAUBRERMFSANEIIORII1EZ
SRR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B E T NAEERRER

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has recognised revenue
from renovation and decoration services of approximately
HK$62,394,000. Such revenue was recognised over
time based on the progress measured using an output
method — satisfaction of that performance obligation of the
renovation and decoration services which involves significant
management judgment and estimation. We identified revenue
as a key audit matter as the actual value of completed work
orders and contract maybe higher or lower than the estimates
and will affect the Group’s revenue recognised.
M2021F3A31H + BESRECHERKREEEREHRBE KA
#162,394,0007& 7T © 7 B8 U5 A TR A BE By ] i 58 00 % al LHDOR T
B -BOIEERENHREZIBOEETS RERNEEEHE X
e B BABR BBARESEE  RE/KCDTKIIRTE
REHZEREBEARSNIENGE  LHEE S5£E
EHER WA o
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We evaluated the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over revenue recognition from renovation and
decoration services.

IS ATk B 2R B 8 MK RIS W A FERR AE B
ZEARAEEIE 2 RE - BiEREERRML -

We assessed the appropriateness of the
Group’s revenue recognition policy under
the requirements of HKFRS 15 by inspecting
samples of representative contracts with
customers.
BABRBEEEMBRELENFISR2RE - BB
MEREFZARMESHEAE M EEEK
AERB R BEN

We have assessed whether the revenue
recognised was reasonable through inspection of
certificates or work orders issued by customers
before finalisation of the contracts.
BUERANTHAIEBRETFEHZEER
THRATE - FIAERRBKAZEEE o

We arranged confirmations, on a sample basis,
to confirm the contract sum amount, and stage
of completion of individual projects at the end of
reporting period.

BN REARLHAME A ERERNIER 2
SRR NTIHBE -



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we concluded that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and Those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B

Hit &

BERABERAHEMENAS - HMENBEF
BAZABER  ETBREEEMBEHRR LHEM
ZIZERE R

BPUGEMBHRR2BERLTREELMER -
BATMTEHEBERBREATLAZRES

A
A ©

IRMABAGRAMBHREME - RAZEERH
EEMER  EMEREMENEE BEE MK
BRIXBMPEZTBRPEZZEHNEFEERXN
T IUFEEEAHEREL - ERHFIEH
T2 HERMABSZEMERAEKRERR
it HPIBEREZEE °
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£
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.
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° conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: P06623

Hong Kong
29 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHEIT
Notes (Restated)
B aE (&%)

Revenue WA 8 158,729 135,838
Cost of sales HEKA (183,007) (79,417)
Gross (loss) profit E{B) A (24,278) 56,421
Other income and (losses) gains, net E Uz A K% (E518) Y z5 10 (10,599) 959
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries kL= NI = 3,132
Increase (decrease) in fair value of AR BEFAER

financial asset at fair value through S REEZ AAEBE

profit or loss 12 10 Ot ) 21 2,312 (1,178)
Selling expenses HERX (18,358) (13,619)
Administrative expenses ITHBRX (103,742) (81,265)
Impairment loss on right-of-use asset & F# & 2 sl B 518 (52,124) (4,576)
Impairment loss on property, M - BEREEREEE

plant and equipment (149,920) (11,347)
Decrease in fair value of KREYERAEBERD

investment properties 18 (4,088) (28,302)
Finance income BRI A 11 230 40
Finance costs B TSR 11 (154,398) (98,306)
Loss before tax FRELRIEE 12 (514,965) (178,041)
Income tax expense FriSHif 13 (5,144) (24,873)
Loss for the year FNEE (520,109) (202,914)
Loss attributable to: LA AL FE{GESE -

Equity holders of the Company ZiN/NE]): 323 (521,821) (202,914)

Non-controlling interest FEfE i 1,712 =

(520,109) (202,914)

LOSS PER SHARE BREE
- basic and diluted (HK dollars) - BEARAREECET) 16 (1.26) (0.53)

SRR REEBERARF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEREREMEZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Notes (Restated)
B aE (E7))

Other comprehensive Hitt 2 E KA (BIx)

income (expenses)
Items that may be reclassified HE gt EM D EE B2

subsequently to profit or l0ss: HA -
Exchange differences on translation &GN ERS 2 [E 5 =58

of foreign operations 124,084 (115,479)
Release of translation reserve upon & W B /A &) b5 8 [0 [E 5 B

disposal of subsidiaries 40 - (69)
Total comprehensive expenses FANTHEMAZBRE

for the year (396,025) (318,462)
Total comprehensive (expenses) LWTATEEFEAZE

income for the year attributable to:  (FIs2) Yg A\ 48%58 -

Equity holders of the Company iN/NE] 133 (397,998) (318,462)

Non-controlling interest FJEVERR R 1,973 =

(396,025) (318,462)

Man Sang International Limited  Annual Report 2021



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

AT 31 MARCH 2021 7202143 A31H

31 March 31 March 1 April
2021 2020 2019
20215 20206 20194
3H31H 3A31H 4R1H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT FTET
Notes (Restated) (Restated)
it zE (E51) (EZ51)
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment properties BEME 18 1,954,762 1,750,181 1,796,566
Property, plant and equipment MmE - BE KRG 20 654,191 797,413 741,292
Financial asset at fair value BRAREEHABRZ
through profit or loss SREE 21 11,235 8,100 9,925
Right-of-use assets PREEE 22 200,532 241,741 269,080
Intangible assets BREE 23 1,688 1,019 =
Other receivables H b el x 24 9,835 = =
2,832,243 2,798,454 2,816,863
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development BEPNEISBELENE
or held for sale 19 455,873 466,064 501,289
Inventories & 5,184 290 152
Trade and other receivables 25 R E MR ERR 24 34,546 36,233 51,030
Contract assets BNEE 24 5,388 = =
Amounts due from related e RE
companies 27 15,778 2,213 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekZERBE 25 153,787 1,381,528 165,668
670,556 1,886,328 718,139
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables g %&Hﬁw Hﬁﬁ* 26 208,284 219,917 181,794
Amounts due to related R BEREFUR
companies 27 4,632 1,988 2,933
Current income tax liabilities SHFMEHAaRE 154,914 141,193 118,359
Bank and other borrowings BITREMEE 28 20,636 17,686 73,030
Unsecured borrowings from a EEREAEE
director 30 - 136,728 122,739
Leas liabilities HEGE 22 3,163 5,827 3,861
391,629 523,339 502,716
Net current assets RBEEFE 278,927 1,362,989 215,423
Total assets less current BEEHRBEE
liabilities 3,111,170 4,161,443 3,032,286
“E--FEH REEBRERAA

—

)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e P BRI R

AT 31 MARCH 2021 7202143 H31H

31 March 31 March 1 April
2021 2020 2019
20215 2020%F 2019
3A31R 3A31H 4A1H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT FTET
Notes (Restated) (Restated)
it zE (E51) (Z51)
Non-current liabilities ek k=i
Deferred tax liabilities ERHIBEE 31 21,116 18,573 25,470
Promissory notes EEEE 29 1,042,307 980,195 917,827
Bank and other borrowings BOREMEE 28 1,441,351 2,139,670 948,880
Unsecured borrowings from a ESRRAGEE
director 30 404,411 599,046 394,637
Lease liabilities HEBE 22 12,857 27,155 30,171
2,922,042 3,764,639 2,316,985
Net assets EEFE 189,128 396,804 715,301
Capital and reserves EXRfEE
Share capital A 32 221,099 190,617 190,617
Reserves i (34,679) 206,187 524,684
Non-controlling interest RS 2,708 = =
189,128 396,804 715,301

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 230 were ~ 589Z 230 B FTEl4r & M S MR B 70202146 A
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 B EE =S H#EE RIFETIZ - WHMUTALTR

29 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: REE
Hu Xingrong Li Zhenyu
0 ZiRE
Director Director
3 EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBBR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

Balance at 1 April 2019 as originally

BEEIIR2019F4A182

Share
capital

BA

HK$'000

TiEn

Share
premium

BRAyEE
HK$'000
TAR

Merger
reserve

Rt
HK$'000
ThRL
(Note ii)
(Btii)

PRC
statutory
reserve

PEEERE
HK$000
TR
(Note i)
(Biviti)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
RARERAER

reserve

E S
HKS'000
TR

Retained
profits
Translation (accumulated

losses)
REER
(RatER)
HK$'000
TAR

Total

@5t
HK$'000
TiEn

stated B4 190,617 446,244 - 35 (46,223) 184,418 775,091
Effect of adopting merger accounting Sl — A HHRE

for common control combinations aftgiiic e

(note 38) (Ff3:38) - - 700 - ol (60581)  (59,790)
Balance at 1 April 2019 (restated) 201954 R 18 2 B8

(&) 190617 446,244 700 3B (46132 123837 715301

Loss for the year (restated) EnEEES) - - - = = (202,914)  (202,914)
Other comprehensive expenses: Eh2ER :
Exchange differences on translation REBNEBIERER

of foreign operations (restated) (E51) = = = = (115,479) = (115,479)
Release of translation reserve upon REENBAREER

disposal of subsidiaries B Gt - - = = (69) = (69)
Total comprehensive expenses forthe  F N2 £ (E71)

year (restated) - - - - (115,548) (202,914) (318,462)
Consideration paid for business FE-EHT2EBEH

combination under common U PAN

control - - (545) - - - (545)
Transfer to statutory reserve ERTETRE - - = 351 = (351) =
Capital contribution from prior HRZHTHRRENE

shareholder of subsidiary acquired REAIRFTE

under common control - - 510 - - - 510
Balance at 31 March 2020 (restated) R2020F3A31A 2 &8

(E7) 190,617 446,244 665 386 (161,680) (79,428) 396,804

—EC-FFR REBBERLA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERBEBR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ESNGE PN
Retained
PRC profits Non-

Share e Merger  statutory Translation (accumulated controlling

capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses) Total interest Total

REER
BE  RORE  AHRE TEAERE  EXRE  (RHER &t FERER ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TAR TER TER TER
(Note ii) (Note i)
(Rfzzii) (GoEza)

Balance at 31 March 2020 as originaly ~ RE27I7202063A318 2

stated 4 190617 446,244 (35) 36 (159956) (6775 470481 - 470481
Effect of adopting merger accounting ~ $tRI— 1244 45

for common control combinations gihEz F 2 (5H38)

(note 38) - - 700 - (1,724) (72,653) (73,677) - (73,677)
Balance at 1 April 2020 (restated) RN2020F4R18 2 8

(E51) 190,617 446,244 665 386 (161,680) (79,428) 396,804 - 396,804

Loss for the year ERES - - - - - a8)  (521,820) 1712 (520,109)
Other comprehensive income: H2EHA

Exchange differences on translation of ~ BREENEBZEXER
foreign operations - - - - 123,823 - 123,823 261 124,084

Total comprehensive income (expenses)

for the year - - - - 123,823 (521,821) (397,998) 1,973 (396,025)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRELTRE - - = 920 = (920) = = =
Issue of shares on placements (note 32) BV EB%{TR( (H&E32) 14,110 35,276 = = = = 49,386 = 49,386
Consideration paid for business EREH Tz EBAGSH

combination under common control R (HF32538)

(notes 32 and 38) 16,372 50,752 71,104 - - - 138,228 - 138,228
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39) W h it B A &) (B 39) = = = = = = = 735 735
Balance at 31 March 2021 2015 3A31A 2 8k 221,099 532,272 71,769 1,306 (37,857) (602,169) 186,420 2,708 189,128
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Note:

(i)

*

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEESER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &/ £202143 431 H L& &

Under the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) laws and regulations,
companies registered in the PRC are required to provide for certain
statutory reserve, which are to be appropriated from the net profit
(after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years and before profit
distribution to equity holders) as reported in their respective statutory
financial statements. The statutory reserve is created for specific
purposes. The PRC companies are required to appropriate 10% of their
statutory net profits to statutory reserve. A company may discontinue its
contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory reserve is more
than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory reserve shall only be
used to make up losses of the PRC companies, to expand the PRC
companies’ production operations, or to increase the capital of the
PRC companies. In addition, the PRC companies may make further
contribution to the statutory reserve using its net profits in accordance
with resolutions of the board of directors of the PRC companies.

The merger reserve represents the following:

(a) the difference between the carrying amount of net assets
of the acquired subsidiary, Zhejiang Huiyong Property
Management Services Co., Ltd* (“#TEE X EERREH
fR 2 &]") (“Huiyong Property Management”) (formerly known
as Zhejiang Doof Property Management Services Co., Ltd*
(“HIZHYMEEERBBRAR")) at the date the Group
and Huiyong Property Management become under common
control and the purchase consideration for acquisition of
Huiyong Property Management of RMB500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$545,000); and the capital contribution of
RMB467,500 (equivalent to approximately HK$510,000) from
the prior shareholder, Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr Hu”), in April 2019;
and

(b) the difference between the carrying amount of net assets of
the acquired subsidiaries, Tafutsu Kabushiki Kaisha* (fkz{
1% #) (“Doof Japan”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred as the “Doof Japan Group”) and the purchase
consideration for the acquisition of the Doof Japan Group of
approximately JPY848,394,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$67,124,000); and adjustment for the shareholder’s loan of
approximately JPY1,975,537,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$138,228,000).

The English name is for identification purpose only

Bt

(i) BREFEARAMBE(RE)EZRAO - NP EE
Mz RBEERE TEEREZRE  URERES
B ZEE M IS MR 2 MAN EHEEF REHBRRE R
RIS A A0 m A AT P A - RERBHREE
BH)ERSL - PEIRBAMGEA0%E TN B E AT
o BAREERBARBLETMERS0%H -
RAAMEIEHR - EZERBETARBRTERTE
B BATEAREEEBHIENTRATER - It

S FERBAIRBEESEG RERPBATRE

TERREE— S

(i) BHREBIEATSE

(a) WU M B A R TR X M EE BRI AR
ARI([EXYE] - AIBATNIZ B MEEER
BARARRALBEE XY E S HRIE
B FEERAOERKBEKMENRE
REAR500,0007T (10 E R 49545,0007%
TO)ZERIZERE - AR ATAR SR ARS8 58 A (88
F A R2019F 4 A H))FE AR ¥ 467,5007T
(F8E M #510,000%7T) : &

(b) WWERBARMRELZHR(ZHBEAD R
HMBAR (B2 AANEE]NFEE
EFEEEKESHAAEEZEERED
848,394,000 A [E (18& 1 4£767,124,000/%5 7T.)
2 R ZRE R R R E R FHEL1,975,537,000
A Bl (18 & 7 #7138,228,000/% 7T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nv-\éiﬁyﬁ‘;ﬁaéi

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
THER FHT
(Restated)
(&%)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES KT
Loss before tax BREAIEE (514,965) (178,041)
Adjustments for: BT R IBEY Y B

Finance income BRI (230) (40)

Finance costs BTSN 154,398 98,306

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W% - BEREENE 40,512 17,260

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 9,032 4,315

Decrease in fair values of investment properties ~ REWE R £ BERD 4,088 28,302

(Increase) decrease in fair value of financial BARBEFABRZZ2HEE

asset at fair value through profit or loss ZRRBEGEM R (2,312) 1,178
Impairment loss on right-of-use asset SRAEEEREER 52,124 4,576
Impairment loss on property, plant and mE - BEREBERESE
equipment 149,920 11,347

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables & 5 K E e W R ZUREE 18 4,253 =

Written off of other receivable H {h e Ui BR SR 5H 19,153 =

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR MK E = (3,132)
Operating cash flows before movements in BEESEHIRICEETRERE

working capital (84,027) (15,929)
Decrease in properties held for sale or under BIELERBERTMERD

development 51,169 16,690
Increase in trade and other receivables B 2 R H fth R BR SR8 40 (22,264) (1,783)
Increase in contract assets SHVEEEN (5,388) =
Increase in inventories FEEM (511) (142)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables 2 5 & Hith JE < BR 7% Cal ) 380 (35,593) 55,962
Cash (used in) generated from operations KEFRHFMRA)EELRS (96,614) 54,798
Income taxes paid ERATEE (1,743) =
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REFER(FTREEZHEFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES (98,357) 54,798
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$OOO
(Restated)
(&%)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE  BERRE (3,392) (103,635)
Payment for additional construction costs of TR E B INERAA

investment properties (40,844) (45,881)
Payment for acquisition of intangible asset SN ETEE = (1,019)
Payment for common control business AR EHI TR EBE G

combination - (545)
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEMBARRERAEE

(note 39) (Pi45£39) 1,883 -
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries HENBARRE R LT

(note 40) GEZY) - (4,659)
Advanced to a related company EEBl VNS EEA (12,408) (2,128)
Capital contribution from prior shareholder of HERIEHIT 5 B B 2 AT

subsidiary acquired under common control REEE - 510
Interests received BYHE 230 40
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERJEZFEHRE

equipment - 6
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ARREEH v EEFE (54,531) (157,311)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
New bank and other borrowings raised HESROREMEE = 1,349,620
Repayment of other borrowings 1,Eai%ﬁfﬁ1ﬁ‘“ (814,050) (119,840)
Interest paid BRFE (107,676) (115,524)
Repayment to related companies BEEEARIA (31) (1,384)
Repayment of unsecured borrowings from a @ﬁXE%%Z%ﬁW1

director (502,933) -
Advanced from related companies REBERRHRR 2,463
Unsecured borrowings raised from a director BEZEGERREE 291,693 224,883
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEEE (5,952) (5,363)
Interest paid on lease liabilities MEBBEENAE (996) (3,235)
Proceeds from placements of shares fe & Bt A5 58 49,386 =
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED MEZTH(FTRELE2REFHE

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,088,096) 1,329,157
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH ReRERRERD)EMFE

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,240,984) 1,226,644
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRNRERERRE

THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,381,528 165,668
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fER BB TR 13,243 (10,784)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHEEND HRzR&KkZRBR & (iz25)

OF THE YEAR (note 25) 153,787 1,381,528

SRR REEBERARF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RATE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

98

GENERAL INFORMATION

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended). The addresses of its registered
office and its principal place of business are Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and
Unit WF, 25th Floor, Eight Commercial Tower, 8 Sun
Yip Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong, respectively. The
immediate holding company and the ultimate controlling
party of the Company is China DaDi Group Limited,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI”") and Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr. Hu”), an executive
director of the Company, respectively.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are currently engaged in the
development, sales and leasing of properties, provision
of property management services and renovation and
decoration services and hotel management. Details of
the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 42.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
reported net loss of approximately HK$520,109,000. As
at 31 March 2021, the Group had total current liabilities
of approximately HK$391,629,000, including bank and
other borrowings of approximately HK$20,636,000
and constructions costs accruals and payables of
approximately HK$109,694,000 (note 26). As at the
same date, the Group also had capital commitment of
approximately HK$22,865,000 (note 34a). However,
the Group had only cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$153,787,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

In view of the above, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections covering
a period of twelve months from 31 March 2021 which
have taken into account the following measures:

(1) Chongging Kingstone Land Co., Ltd.* (EE
EREMBR AT (“Chongging Kingstone”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has commenced the sales of the
properties and operation of the property project
which is expected to continue to generate
operating cash inflows to the Group; and

(2) The continuous financial support from Mr. Hu
with unutilised facilities as at 31 March 2021
amounted to HK$357,158,000 available for
drawdown at the Group’s request.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to fulfill its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31
March 2021. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Since 2020, the epidemic of the Coronavirus Disease
2019 (“COVID-19”) has spread across China and
other countries. COVID-19 may affect the financial
performance, position of the property development
industry and hotel industry. The Group kept continuous
attention on the situation of the COVID-19 and reacted
actively to its impact on the financial position and
operating results of the Group.

ARG EMBRR 2 EE(H)

ER R ARABEECDEMALER
ME2021F3A31HE T @A BM 2
Ben=EA - EREEENATEER:

(1) ARARZERZENBAREER
AEMERAA(EEEADAR
MEREREEWRAR - LEH
FERAEETREEHAEN
&

(2) HHEAER2021F3A31BERMHZ
RAARMEZHEMNBIRR
357,158,000/ 7T + A E AL B E
SKERER o

ERElER  ARRESERE  ~A5£E
BEZREELESBITEB202143A31
BEEAARR+—EREBZHBET -
I AAR BB ENIRFECEEERS
REMBmRBGRE -

H2020FF AR - FEEMES ((FETEM
mEDRECHETEREMBEREA - 5
BERAE AT EMERBTERGE
RZMBREALNR - AEBRERLH
DERBENEN  LEHREHEHARE
B BRARLEREER ZFE -

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

100

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Merger accounting for business combination
involving entities under common control

On 14 July 2020, Decent Start Limited (“Decent Start”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Hu, who
is the sole shareholder of Doof Japan, to acquire the
entire equity interest in Doof Japan, a private company
incorporated in Japan and the shareholder’s loan
of approximately JPY1,975,537,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$138,228,000) provided by Mr. Hu,
for a consideration of approximately JPY848,394,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$67,124,000). The
consideration was satisfied by the issuance of
163,717,121 ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.1
each at HK$0.41 per share.

The acquisition was completed on 30 October 2020,
and the Doof Japan Group have become indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group since then.
As Doof Japan and the Company are ultimately
controlled by Mr. Hu, the acquisition of the Doof Japan
Group was regarded as business combination under
common control. The net assets of the Doof Japan
Group are consolidated using the existing book values
from the controlling party’'s perspective. No amount
is recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of
acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities over cost at the time
of common control combination, to the extent of the
continuation of the controlling party’s interest. The
adjustments to eliminate share/registered capital of
the combining entity or business against the related
investment costs have been made to merger reserve in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. The
details of the restated balances have been disclosed in
note 38.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
financial position, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the prior periods have been restated to include the
operating results of the Doof Japan Group as if this
acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first
time, the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) and the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) which are effective for the
Group's financial year beginning 1 April 2020:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Definition of Material

HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

The application of the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material effect on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

3.

FER#E] RASIERT BB MR EER
(TEBHBHREED])

RAFE  AEECERERBEEES
frg((ER Mg )REERAE
202044 A 10 A& J BF E F a6 A
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AN SERZ BT AR TIIEFEW R
EHRRAZAERTA -

BRP B HREER E T 00zE
FIR/MEFT A
FEGEUFIRE BANTE

EA G ERIESH
ZIERT AR
BB RS AR
EosR - HEEGE
R399k R BB
IS 3RS 2R SE 79%
ZAERT AR

MREENE

RAFERBRAE BN K REEANER
BERZEFTARBREYHRELEA ZEF]
RE A REAREE REFOP BRI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendment to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and
related Amendments®
Reference to Conceptual Framework*

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and the
related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation
of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause®

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction®
Property, plant and equipment:
Proceeds before intended use*

Onerous contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract*

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 22

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions’
COVID-19-related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021*

Annual improvement to HKFRSs
2018-2020 cycle*
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2021

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2w N oo

2022

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
investment properties and financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which are measured at
fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants in the principal
(or most advantageous) market at the measurement
date under current market condition (i.e. an exit price)
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of
fair value measurement are explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Group. If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other
than those adopted in the consolidated financial
statements for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to
that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity
with the Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group’s returns.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of these elements of control
stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and cease when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income of subsidiaries are attributed
to the equity holders of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between entities of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i)
derecognises the assets (including goodwill, if any)
and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts
at the date when control is lost; (ii) derecognises the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interests in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
(including any components of other comprehensive
income attributable to them); and (iii) recognises the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest, with any
resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss
in profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets
and liabilities of the subsidiary are carried at revalued
amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain
or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets and
liabilities (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
directly to retained profits as specified by applicable
HKFRSSs).

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Effective from 1 January 2020, the Group can elect to
apply an optional concentration test, on a transaction-
by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The concentration test is met
if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets
under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test
is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not
to be a business and no further assessment is needed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs incurred to effect a business combination
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
the business combination are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Taxes;

° assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s
employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 19
Employee Benefits;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree
or the replacement of the acquiree’s share-
based payment transactions with the share-
based payment transactions of the Group are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &/ £202143 431 H L& &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

° lease liabilities are measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments as if
the acquired lease was a new lease at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which
(a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of
low value. Right-of-use assets are measured at
an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by
another standards, are measured at acquisition-date
fair value except for non-controlling interests that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured either at fair value
or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate
share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets on a transaction-by-transaction
basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income are recognised on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. During the measurement period (see
above), the provisional amounts recognised at the
acquisition date are adjusted retrospectively or
additional assets or liabilities are recognised as of
that date, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Merger accounting for business combination
involving entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements items of the combining entities or
businesses in which the common control combination
occurs as if the combination had occurred from the
date when the combining entities or businesses first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses
are consolidated using the existing book values from
the controlling party’s perspective. No amount is
recognised as consideration for goodwill or excess of
acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost at the time of common control combination, to
the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s
interest.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income includes the results of each of
the combining entities or businesses from the earliest
date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common
control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the
date of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities or businesses
had been combined at the end of the previous reporting
period unless the combining entities or businesses first
came under common control at a later date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step
approach to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in
the contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the
entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same. For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligation, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created and enhanced; or

° The Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods
or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer, excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties, discounts
and sales related taxes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. A contract liability represents
the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

A contract liability would also be recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

° sales of properties

° operation of serviced departments

° provision of property management services

° provision of renovation and decoration services

on construction contracts

° hotel and golf club operations
o restaurant operations
° sales of goods
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties in the PRC is
recognised at a point in time when the control of the
property is transferred to the customer, generally when
the customer obtains the physical possession or the
legal title of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Provision of property management services

Revenue from provision of property management
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Provision of renovation and decoration services

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a construction contract when the contract relates
to work on an asset under the control of the customer
and therefore the Group’s construction activities create
or enhance an asset under the customer’s control.
Revenue from renovation and decorations service is
recognised over time.

Serviced apartments income and hotel and golf club
operations

Serviced apartments income, hotel room revenue,
other ancillary services and income from golf club
operation are recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs.

Restaurant operations

Revenue from restaurant operation is recognised at a
point in time when the catering services are provided to
customers.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered
which is taken to be the point in time when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the goods. Revenue
excludes consumption tax or other sales taxes.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Output method)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract or
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option) and leases of low value
assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the
lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an

index or rate, initially measured using the index
or rate at the commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the
lessee under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease,

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and
by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

° the lease term has changed or there is a
significant event or change in circumstances
resulting in a change in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using revised discount
rate.

o the lease payments change due to changes
in an index or rate or a change in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in
which cases the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate (unless the lease
payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

o A lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement
of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments
made at or before the commencement date and any
initial direct costs, less lease incentives received.
Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to
dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site
on which it is located or restore the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, provision is recognised and measured
under HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract. The costs are included in the related right-of-
use assets, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &/ £202143 431 H L& &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for the right-of-use assets classified as
investment properties and measured under fair value
model, right-of-use assets are subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. They are depreciated over the shorter period
of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If
a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or
the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group
expects to exercise a purchase option, the related
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life
of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are presented within “investment
properties under construction”.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to
determine whether a right-of-use assets is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor
with respect to some of its investment properties.
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases (net of any lease
incentives paid to lessees) is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &/ £202143 431 H L& &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element
as a finance or an operating lease separately based on
the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of each element
have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case
the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including
any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between
land and building elements in proportion to the relative
fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element
and building element of the lease at the inception of the
lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
prepaid lease payments in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is amortised over the lease
term on a straight-line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties
or investment properties under construction under the
fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a
finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to equity holders of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &/ £202143 431 H L& &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries and annual
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for that service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of their assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &/ £202143 431 H L& &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties under
construction that are measured using the fair value
model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment properties under
construction are depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties under construction over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
for such investment properties under construction are
measured in accordance with the general principles
above as set out in HKAS 12 Income Taxes (i.e. based
on the expected manner as to how the property will be
recovered).

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

EFRETHBER(E)

Bi1E (&)
MJELLHEEET L ETRIBEEM
CHAAAREBERATENTRREY
%ZHEETEETE““Lﬂ% ZEULE - B
IEZBRWHEBRIBRIN - EERICEWE
A FHERRAEBMEBENX (EEKE
HEREREMIEBREE BEETEREY
(B ERNBRIDEER ) AREA R -
BRARKTWHED - WEBRKEHER -
ERTEREREMECELEHIBEGEREL
ﬁﬁﬁﬁwmﬁtﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁwﬁm%
SEAH—REEIREEEYEZTE
,Hﬂ%@ﬁf@ = o

R EARNKEEREPERERREEENNA
WHERBMEHERZIELENE - AEE
MNPEERERRETERENEREEE
FHEERE -

RBBERERERNHEABENHEHER S
B $%ﬁ%'§ﬂ§ﬁﬁ%§§&fﬁ%ﬁi\
FEREELHERF125 8 TF - mRER
VX RN E  BEHRTAREEREESR
Timiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁiﬁ’\?ﬂiﬁﬁE R R EH
AR

BNHEA SRR IE AR 2R FERR o

—E--FER REBBERAD 123
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124

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
under construction include land held for undetermined
future use, which is regarded as held for capital
appreciation purpose.

Investment properties under construction also include
leased properties recognised by the Group as right-of-
use assets.

Investment properties under construction are initially
measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties under construction are measured
at their fair values. Gains or loss arising from changes
in the fair value of investment properties under
construction are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under construction are capitalised as part of the
carrying amount of the investment properties under
construction.

Investment properties held by the Group as right-of-use
assets are measured initially at cost in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases. Subsequent to initial recognition,
they are measured at fair value, which are the right-of-
use assets, but not the underlying property.

An investment properties are derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment properties under
construction are permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the investment properties under construction (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the investment
properties under construction is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &/ £202143 431 H L& &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment for administrative
purposes, other than construction in progress as
described below, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production
of services are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs and amortisation
of prepaid lease payments capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Serviced apartments under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When serviced apartments are in the course of
development for production or for administrative
purposes, the amortisation of prepaid lease payments
provided during the construction period is included as
part of cost of serviced apartments under construction.

Properties under development

Properties that are being constructed or developed for
future use as held-for-sales are classified as properties
under development and stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to the sale proceeds of properties sold
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to
completion, or by management estimates based on
prevailing marketing conditions.

Development cost of property comprises construction
costs, borrowing costs capitalised and professional
fees incurred during the development period. On
completion, the properties under development are
transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development are classified as current

assets when the construction of the relevant properties
commences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises development
costs attributable to the unsold properties. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to the sale
proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses,
or by management estimates based on prevailing
marketing conditions.

Intangible asset

Intangible asset with indefinite useful lives that is
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised
in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in,
first-out method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash at banks and on hand, banks
deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement
of financial position of the Company at cost less
accumulated impairment loss, if any.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair values of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial asset at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are
met:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose obijective is to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding the expected credit losses (“ECL”"),
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently
at amortised cost. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “finance income” line item (note 11).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically:

o Investments in equity instruments are classified
as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is neither held for trading
nor a contingent consideration arising from a
business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

o Debt instruments that do not meet amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified
as FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent
they are not part of a designated hedging relationship.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “increase (decrease) in fair value
of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss” line
item. Fair value is determined in the manner described
in note 7(c).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
trade receivables, contract assets and financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated individually for customer
with significant balances or credit-impaired and/
or collectively using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, including other
receivables, amount due from related companies and
cash and cash equivalents, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular debtor,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or
the length of time or the extent to which the fair
value of a financial asset has been less than its
amortised cost;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument
has a low risk of default; (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term; and (iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’
in accordance with the globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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REMBRRME
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the debtor; or

° information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a
lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining
the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with
HKFRS 16.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the
current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating unit,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-
in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to the assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the net realisable
value of properties under development, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into
three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2 = Valuation technique for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3 = Valuation technique for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured
at fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their
respective fair value measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made
in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart
from those involving estimations (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making judgements by the directors of the
Company, at a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events and conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The directors of the Company believe that
the liquidity of the Group can be maintained in the
coming twelve-month period from 31 March 2021 after
taking into the considerations as detailed in note 2. The
directors of the Company also believe that the Group
will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future
working capital and other financing requirements for the
next twelve months from 31 March 2021.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying the accounting
policies (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
investment properties and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. In
measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on such
investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
rebutted.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair values in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. The
fair values of investment properties as at 31 March
2021 and 2020 are determined by an independent
professional valuer, CHFT Advisory and Appraisals
Limited (“CHFT”), and the fair values of investment
properties are set out in note 18. Such valuations were
based on certain assumptions and estimations, which
were subject to uncertainties and might materially differ
from actual results.

In making these assumptions and estimations,
reasonable consideration has been given to the
underlying assumptions based on market conditions
existing at the end of the reporting period. These
estimates are regularly compared to available market
information for similar type of properties in nearby
locations.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of investment
properties is approximately HK$1,954,762,000 (2020:
HK$1,750,181,000) with the decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$4,088,000 (2020: HK$28,302,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for estimated
unused tax losses and other deductible differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies.
At 31 March 2021, deferred tax assets have been
recognised in respect of estimated unused tax losses of
approximately HK$8,652,000 (2020: HK$6,341,000). No
deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect of
remaining tax losses of approximately HK$302,506,000
(2020: HK$128,441,000, as restated) and other
deductible temporary difference of approximately
HK$154,914,000 (2020: HK$141,193,000). The
aggregate unrecognised estimated unused tax losses
and other deductible temporary differences at 31
March 2021 was approximately HK$426,044,000 (2020:
HK$269,634,000, as restated). Further details are set
out in note 31.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. In
assessing whether there is any indication of possible
impairment for the property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets, the Group has considered the
recoverable amounts with reference to the valuation
performed by an independent valuer.

Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
were HK$654,191,000, HK$200,532,000 (2020:
HK$797,413,000, as restated and HK$241,741,000)
respectively. During the year ended 31 March
2021, impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets were approximately
HK$149,920,000 (2020: HK$11,347,000) and
approximately HK$52,124,000 (2020: HK$4,576,000)
respectively. Details of the impairment of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets are disclosed in
notes 20 and 22, respectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Net realisable value of properties held for sale

The management of the Group performs a review at the
end of each reporting period on the carrying amounts
of properties under development or held for sale. Based
on the review from the management of the Group,
write-down of properties under development or held
for sale will be made when the estimated net realisable
value has declined below their carrying amounts. In
determining the net realisable value of properties under
development, the management of the Group based on
the recent global and local economic developments,
recent sales transactions of the Group and other similar
properties in the surrounding areas, marketability of
the Group’s existing properties, fair value valuation
performed by independent property valuers, internally
available information and management’s expectation on
future selling price.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of
the properties under development or held for
sale is approximately HK$455,873,000 (2020:
HK$466,064,000). No write-down of properties under
development or held for sale was recognised during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
The PRC land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to the PRC land appreciation tax
in accordance with the relevant rules and regulations.
However, the implementation and settlement of the
tax varies among various tax jurisdictions in cities
of the PRC, and the Group has made provision for
such expenses but has not finalised its PRC land
appreciation tax calculation and payment with any local
tax authorities in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the PRC land
appreciation tax included in the income tax expense is
approximately HK$742,000 (2020: HK$31,779,000).

Fair value measurement of financial asset at FVTPL

The Group’s investments in unlisted equity securities
in the PRC are classified as financial asset at FVTPL
and measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period.

The fair value of the financial asset at FVTPL
is determined by an independent professional
valuer, CHFT. Such valuation was based on certain
assumptions and estimates with the use of valuation
techniques including available market information and
other unobservable market data as detailed in note 7(c).

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of
the financial asset at FVTPL is approximately
HK$11,235,000 (2020: HK$8,100,000), with increase
in fair value of approximately HK$2,312,000 (2020:
decrease in fair value of approximately HK$1,178,000)
for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing its capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to maximise the returns to its
shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes bank and other borrowings, promissory
notes and unsecured borrowings from a director as
disclosed in notes 28, 29 and 30 respectively, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the drawdown of
unsecured borrowings from a director, repayment of
bank and other borrowings, adjustment of dividend to
shareholders, as well as new share issues and share
buy-backs.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. Bt 7 L B i B
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) BT AEER
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT T
(Restated)
(E7)
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKAFTTEZ
TRIEE 202,277 1,418,053
Financial asset at FVTPL BARBEFABRZ
TREE 11,235 8,100
213,512 1,426,153
Financial liabilities cEEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  IZE #5K ANt & 2
TRAaE 3,090,399 4,072,012
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HMEERREEAERBE

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include financial asset at FVTPL, trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables, amounts due
from/to related companies, bank and other
borrowings, promissory notes and unsecured
borrowings from a director. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (foreign
exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

KEIZI%@T%IEET NI
Bt N BRcSREE BHRH
L E YRR K ﬁi&#ﬂﬁ% =

5 R E M EMAERR FE%Z/HE%L
NE) > RITREMEE - ALRE
UREEEEREE - BHEVKLT
BB EEMEREE - BzE
VB TEER Rk EEmSER
(ERRREFMERR) - EERR
Momgh &Rk o T3 E 5 ()&
BZERBIEE BEEEER
B ERE  UEREERER
HEUEE 218 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z%2021F3A31HIEFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group was not exposed to significant
foreign exchange risk as the main
operations of the Group located in
the PRC and Japan only had limited
foreign currency transactions other than
functional currency of the respective
entities denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
and Japanese Yen. The directors of
the Company consider that the foreign
currency risk of the Group is insignificant
for the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020, hence no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to bank and other
borrowings (note 28), promissory notes
(note 29) and unsecured borrowings from
a director (note 30), which are carried at
fixed rates.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances (note 25). As all the
Group’s bank balances were short-term
in nature, any change in the interest rate
from time to time is not considered to
have significant impact to the Group’s
performance. The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider other
necessary actions when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade and other receivable, amount due
from related companies and cash and cash
equivalents (collectively refer to as “other
financial assets”). The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets. The credit risk is managed in a group
basis.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group
obtains credit report from commercial information
providers to assess the counterparty’s credit and
defines credit limits by counterparty. Individual
credit limits of customers are reviewed by the
management of the Group periodically. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has established credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

7. MERRREEE

(b)

B B B B R R BUR ()

EEmEE
R2021E3A310 » AEEZSE
EER S ER AR EEEYF R4
BITERA MR N R E 7 A8 R e
REMEENERENTIMEL
S EsE -

AEBEERREIBERNES A
flb FEURRR X~ FEURBRE X B FRIA
RekZTRAE(HRIEMEeRE
El FREHZEHERNEE
REMEEMARZESEER
- EERRIZESEEERE

REMETAHELH - AREEH
BEREAHERARGEERS - X
AR GHF T 2 EEALHERT L
EERHE AKEEEEESTEH
BHEFPBAGERSE - REER
EEERR AKEEEECRL
FERE FEEHLLEMERRE
Fr DARERATHETTBRE TR MDA
HAfEA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z%2021F3A31HIEFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on
an individual basis for customer with significant
balances by using a provision matrix, estimated
based on historical credit loss experience, as
well as the general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group
has assessed whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group will measure
the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than
12-month ECL.

Management considered amount due from
a related company to be low credit risk. ECL
for amount due from a related company was
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable
balance as at 31 March 2021, approximately
HK$1,727,000 (2020: HK$5,282,000, as
restated), representing 18% (2020: 91%, as
restated) of the total trade receivables, is due
from the Group’s largest customer.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has
tasked its management of the Group to develop
and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information
is supplied by the management of the Group
using public available financial information
and the Group’s own days past due to rate
its major customers and other debtors. The
Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.

7. MERRREEE

(b)

B B B B R R BUR ()

=B Bk (&)
RBEENEERRER - AAY
FHREBREETNEBREES
=EERHRTT o

R202143H31H » 491,727,000
7T (20204F 1 5,282,000/ L (&=
INBFAREEE 5 EWRERLE
B EEHESREWRERZ218%
(2020 : 91%(EF) - JTHEMA
SESZAEFRIA -

A& B Z E R R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #(Z£202163A31HILFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. B H5 R B R ()

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading
framework comprises the following categories:

BB B B R R BUR ()

1EE S ()
AREE A0S ERBRIRIERE
EATH -

Basis for recognising

ECL
BRARBCEBENERE
Category Description Other financial assets
=5l Rt HitEmEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of ~ 12-month ECL
default or has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and that are
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
B4 HREVERFRESGERRERRBNAEILLE 12EARREERBE
BERN BYERGCEREZRMEEDERS
— )
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a Lifetime ECL — not credit
significant increase in credit risk since initial impaired
recognition but that are not credit impaired (refer
to as Stage 2)
RER HRNERRARBVNERLEZEINETREE 2HEHEEFE -1E
BEZEREEDERRE_R) EERIE
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired Lifetime ECL — credit
when one or more events that have a detrimental  impaired

impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

24 HRTEREERE  BZEEEE— MU LE 2HEHEEEE-FE
MEAHEARRBEEREELRTURXEZE RE
MEEDERE=ZR)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in  Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

35 BREBNEGAARREMBERE  MAEE SESMEA

W EERREIUAT R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. B RS R B B (D)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HEEKRERERZERBEKGE
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) =Em (&)
The tables below detail the credit quality of the TREIAEBEESHEENEEL
Group’s financial assets as well as the Group’s ZRAEENEREERR

maximum exposure to credit risk.

2020 (restated)
(&5)
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal 12-month or lifetime carrying Loss  carrying carrying carrying
credit rating  ECL amount allowance amount amount amount
12EAR2HESES .
RBEEFR FR REAE HREE BROFE EESEEEEEE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR TET TET
Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECL 9,764 - 9,764 5,806 5,806
(simplified approach)
B ARMER 33 EHBRHEEER
(@2
Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECL 4,253 (4,253) - - -
(credit-impaired)
B SRR M SHBHEEHR
(FERME
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECL 22,948 - 22,948 28,507 28,507
receivables
REREEAER B 12RABREERE
Contract assets Note Lifetime ECL 5,388 - 5,388 - -
(simplified approach)
ANEE i1k :HRMEEER
(@Lz)
Amount due from Performing 12-month ECL 15,778 - 15,778 2,213 2,213
related companies
RREBELATR  BY 128 ARBEENE
B#
* The loss allowance for these balances was not material as * HR202153A31H - ZEREBEHEEE
at 31 March 2021. WAERK °
Note: Hat -
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has HESEWEZRANEENS » A&
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the EERESVBRELENEIERN YL
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the IR HEREEEENEEERE o K~
ECL on these items individually for customers with significant EEREEAER A CEREZEESEE
balances or credit-impaired and/or collectively using a ER/ SR EELRETZXEER
provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss BHEEEE EHEDNERBEBEBRAY
experience based on the past due status of the debtors, BEBMORSEMAEEEZBFEEEERST
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and 8 WA EE R AR MR AR R ok
estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the AL RS 7 5 o FEt - R B R
credit risk profile of these assets is presented based on their ZELREZERBRERIREBAZ BEE
past due status in terms of the provision matrix. Note 24 W2 o (AR A RS EE S BRE
include further details on the loss allowance for these assets. THE— S o
The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical AEBIRMECELZSNEERB T EES
location is mainly in the PRC. A E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z%2021F3A31HIEFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation
of other borrowings and unsecured borrowings
from a director and ensures compliance with
loan covenants, if any.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the
Group reported net loss of approximately
HK$520,109,000. As at 31 March 2021,
the Group had total current liabilities of
approximately HK$391,629,000, including
bank and other borrowings of approximately
HK$20,636,000 and constructions costs accruals
and payables of approximately HK$109,694,000
(note 26). As at the same date, the Group
also had capital commitment of approximately
HK$22,865,000 (note 34a). However, the
Group had only cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$153,787,000. The directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet its
financial obligations and the details of which are
set out in note 2.

The following tables detail show the Group’s
remaining contractual maturities at the end of
the reporting period, based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities (including both
interest and principal cash flow) based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay.
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7.

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities have contractual

B B B ()
(b) HHEBEERBERBEE

TE & 2 /m B ()

AEESRABZANIEHA W

maturities as follows: N
More than ~ More than
Ondemand  1yearbut  2yearbut Total
orlessthan  lessthan  lessthan Morethan undiscounted  Carrying
1year 2 years S5years  Syears  cashflows  Amount
REXE  BE1F  BEN AERRS
SME BORE  BOWSE  BBSE £t KAl
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK§000  HK$000
TiEn T Thr  Thn TiEn T
At 31 March 2021 R202153A31H
Trade and other payables BAREMERERR 177,062 = = = 177062 177,082
Amounts due to related companies ERBEAIZE 4632 = = = 4632 4632
Bank and other borrowings RRAMEE 155007 111129 503996 1497599 2357751 1461987
Promissory notes RAEE - 1125350 = - 115350 1,042307
Unsecured borrowings froma director ~ ESEHAEE - 428058 = = 48058 404411
336,721 1664537 593996 1,497,599 4092853 3,090,399
At 31 March 2020 (restated) 1R202053 5317 (E51)
Trade and other payables BAREMERER 196,699 = = = 196609 196,699
Amounts due to related companies ERBEAIFE 1988 = = = 1988 1988
Bank and other borrowings ROREBEE 190495 934518 480254 1,618,105 3223372 2,157,356
Promissory notes RAZE - 1063110 - = 1063110 980,195
Unsecured borrowings from a drector ~ £SEHBEE 136,728 660,193 = = 796921 735774
525910 2,657,821 480,254 1,618,105 5282090 4,072,012
In addition, the maturity profile of the Group’s N REEREEE 2 BHAE
lease liabilities is as follow: W
At 31 March 2021 R202153A31H 4811 2811 7,59 4740 19,958 16,020
At 31 March 2020 R2020838318 8,536 6,564 9492 20,154 44,746 32,982

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #(Z£202163A31HILFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. B 7% B B 2 (4]
(¢)  Fair value measurement (c) 2nREEF=2
Fair value measurements recognised in the RESHBNRTRERLLEET
consolidated statement of financial position 4
The following table provides an analysis of TRETNNEREAREE TS
financial instruments that are measured at fair EEREANE @ai‘%ZEﬂ‘“Ifi“
value at the end of each reporting period for - RBEAEESTHE  BAR
recurring measurement, grouped into fair value BEZABZEESEEIASE
hierarchy Level 3 based on the degree to which BANEBEFIE -
the fair value is observable in accordance to the
Group’s accounting policy.
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Financial asset at FVTPL RARBEFAERZ
SREE
Unlisted equity security, grouped DERAREBEEIEZ
into fair value hierarchy Level 3 A EMRERES 11,235 8,100
There were no transfers between levels of the fair FRN - AREBEEEBERzHETESE

value hierarchy during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7.

(c)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the
fair value measurements of financial asset on a

recurring basis are set out below:

B B B ()

(c) ~2DREEFEGR
EBEEMREEZ N EETELN
THEENAEE

BREEUERAEFESRMEELAE
BRTE RN ERN B ABRES
BT -

Relationship of
key inputs and

Valuation Significant significant
Financial Fairvalue  technique and unobservable unobservable
instruments Fair value hierarchy  key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
TEHAHER
NREE  HERWR AEENEATTEER
B®IA NEE B IERAHE EXTABRGARE BABEBNEE
HK$'000
TAL
Unlisted equity As at 31 March 2021: Level 3 Asset-based (i) Marketability (i) The higher of
security at FVTPL HK$11,235 approach discount of 20% marketability
(2020: HK$8,100) (2020: 20%); and discount, the lower
the fair value.
BRABEGARSEZ R202153A318 : £3E BEARL () EW|IM0%Q020 () =EHFNES 2h
R Em#EGES 11,2357 72.(2020 F:20%) R BELE -
F:8,10087)
(i) Minority discount of (i) The higher the
20% (2020 20%) minority discount,
the lower the fair
value.
(i) DEIIM20%(2020 (i) LEFTMER - DA
£ 20%) BEWE -

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #(Z£202163A31HILFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value of financial asset that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement

of financial asset on recurring basis are as
follows:

B B B ()

(c) ~2DREBEEFEGR
EBEEURELE N EETEN
ETHEENEEE)

TMEENFIBAAEBENER
REMREEHRWT ¢

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At the beginning of the year REH 8,100 9,925
Increase (decrease) in fair value AR EEE IR D) 2,312 (1,178)
Exchange differences ME W =R 823 (647)
At the end of the year RER 11,235 8,100

Fair value of financial instruments that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors of the Company considered that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements are not
materially differ from their fair values.
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8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

REVENUE 8. A
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: BEAAREBWANSHTAT :
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
(Restated)
(E5))
Revenue from contract with EBMBREEAE155
customers within the scope of HEANRBEFEHAN
HKFRS 15: WA
— Sales of properties - HEWHE 36,554 109,680
— Operation of serviced apartments -RBAABEE 22,478 S
- Property management services - MEEERE 26,249 15,173
— Renovation and decoration services = — & R E R 62,394 =
— Hotel room -BERRE 1,282 1,994
— Restaurant operation -BEEE 1,036 2,718
- Golf club operation -ERAEREEE 5,442 6,039
— Others — HAh, 273 234
155,708 135,838
- Revenue from other sources - HALARBA
Gross rental income @S WA 3,021 =
158,729 135,838

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #(Z£202163A31HILFE

8. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by timing of recognition:

8.

WA (&)
EEARFEIDEFLEHOWA

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&%)

Timing of revenue recognition ON A1
- At a point in time — PR B 37,863 112,632
- Over time — BERS R 117,845 23,206
155,708 135,838

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of
transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)
is approximately HK$11,173,000 (2020: nil). The amount
represents revenue expected to be recognised in the
future from renovation and decoration services.

The Group will recognise this revenue as the service is

completed, which is expected to occur over the next
12-18 months (2020: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company have been
identified as the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”). Management determines the operating
segments based on the Group’s internal reports, which
are reviewed by the executive directors of the Company
for performance assessment and resources allocation.

The CODM reviews the overall results of financial
position of the Group as a whole prepared based on the
same accounting policies.

Following the completion of the acquisition of Doof
Japan Group (note 38) and Wenzhou Junshang
Decoration Company Limited (note 39), the Group
has expanded into the provision of renovation and
decoration services in PRC and hotel operation in Japan
and thus had presented four reportable segments for
the year ended 31 March 2021. As the acquisition
of Doof Japan Group was a business combination
involving entities under common control as disclosed in
note 2, the segment information for the year ended 31
March 2020 has been re-presented.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of the
operations and the product perspectives. Each of the
Group’s reportable operating segment represents a
strategic business unit that are subject to risks and
returns that are different from the other reportable
operating segment. Details of the reportable operating
segment are as follows:

1. Chongaing property — Property development,
sales and leasing of properties.

2. Property management services — Provision of
property management services

3. Renovation and decoration — Provision of
renovation and decoration services

4. Hotel operation in Japan — Hotel operation in
Hokkaido, Japan

2 EHEHR
ARBPTEZTRIBZLERRE(EE
BERRE]) - EEERBARRNTE
EMEHUERRIERERDEZ A K
BARREBELLDE

TRLEBRREFHNAKEREMER S
BRmBLH AN BB RAE -
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EHEMERAT(H:E39)%  AEER
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AAZEGE - WEREE202143A4
B1BLFEE LY EER 2HDEL - AR
M2 EREZEAAEEEAS R
HEEHEEHNERE O - BIZ22020F3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #(Z£202163A31HILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. o EHER (E)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and TRAEEIEHRLEEDTBIERNAER
results by reportable and operating segments. Wes REE DT ©
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZ20215F3A31HLEE
Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongqing management and operation
property services  decoration in Japan Total
BEVE WEEERYE EEREH AXEEEE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TATL TATL TR

REVENUE KA
Revenue from external RENPEE A
customers 62,053 26,249 62,394 8,033 158,729
Segment (loss) profit N (EE) R (408,050) 4,293 7679 (12,104) (408,182)
Unallocated income AAEWA 1,179
Unallocated expenses AAERAZ (107,962)
Loss before tax BREAEE (514,965)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Restated) HZE2020F3A318 ILFE(EFS)
Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongqing management and operation

property services  decoration in Japan Total

EEVX WEEERY  EEREH BFEEEE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT TAT FAT TAR FAT
REVENUE KA
Revenue from external RENDER ZHA
customers 109,680 15,173 - 10,985 135,838

Segment (loss) profit D E(ER) AR (46,693) 3,491 = (12,985) (56,187)
Unallocated income FARKA 3,316
Unallocated expenses FOERX (125,170)
Loss before tax BRAIEE (178,041)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 4. Segment (loss) profit represents the (loss
from) profit earned by each segment without allocation
of certain finance income, certain finance costs, certain
expenses, certain impairment loss on property, plant

5 EMEH ()
@RS BNE

Ml - &

THE  BERREREERE -
REEREBBEIHENER

FTBUR S 4R AN R

SRTBERAR o 28 (B R m A
E‘Bﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁXZ(EﬂE)mﬂ
THRERA ~ &

=
ERD

W ES ST

THRX &
=T A

Az W -

and equipment, certain impairment loss on right-of- B ERSEERBTAMEEZEER
use assets and gain on disposal of subsidiaries. This KREERZFTEEE -
is the measure reported to CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment assets and liabilities PHEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and ZKE BEERBEZONIZAIZ2HMRLEE
liabilities by reportable and operating segment: DEZ2IAT -
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
(Restated)
(E%))
Segment assets DEHEE
Chonggjing property EEME 3,358,222 4,576,452
Property management services YIS E 1R RIS 15,635 9,030
Renovation and decoration services 28 M 2 0 AR TS 37,561 -
Hotel operation in Japan AAHJE & & 79,030 82,939
Unallocated assets FoBLEE 12,351 16,361
Total consolidated assets IRABERTE 3,502,799 4,684,782
Segment liabilities PEEE
Chongging property EEWHE 2,115,469 3,035,264
Property management services 2T R RS 7,374 5,092
Renovation and decoration services B A5 N2 f RS 30,368 =
Hotel operation in Japan HAH & & 58 19,269 156,617
Unallocated liabilities ANEBE 1,141,191 1,091,005
Total consolidated liabilities MEaEREsE 3,313,671 4,287,978

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #(Z£202163A31HILFE

168

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment assets exclude certain property, plant and
equipment, certain right-of-use asset, certain intangible
asset, certain other receivables and certain cash and
cash equivalents as these assets are managed on a

group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude certain other payables,
certain amounts due to related companies, certain
unsecured borrowing from a director, promissory notes

and certain lease liabilities.

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2 EHER (&)

THEERAEGE
DHEENBRETYE - BERRE -
ETHERREE HFTEVEE FTH

RERKRERANETRELREFRARS - BZ
FEREDREAEEERE o

Amounts included in the measure of

segment profit or loss or segment
assets:

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets

Impairment loss on property, plants and
equipment

Bank interest income

Decrease in fair values of investment
properties

Increase in fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Finance cost

Written off of other receivable

Additions to non-current assets

FRESENE
FRESERERR
0% BERRERESR

NS
RAMELARERD

BAREBESARGZER
BEAAEESEN
BARAMERETAE
BHRERR

BRI S
REFRDEE

’“*B%ﬁ a%%?ﬁwﬁﬁﬁ% CET
FETREE ETREEFHER
HEE - %k%%%%&%?%ﬂ%ié% s
Hith o ME R
BE202153ANALEE
Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongging management and  operation
property services  decoration inJapan  Unallocated Total
nE A%
EEYE  EERB RBREHS  BEEE LS @it
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TR TiEn TR TAL TiEn TR
33,3% 39 64 4,753 2,260 40,512
7,209 - - - 1,823 9,032
52,124 - - - 52,124
149,920 - - - - 149,920
(204) (13) (13) - - (230)
4,088 - - - - 4,088
(2312) - - - - (2312)
- 3677 - 576 - 4253
84,900 4 737 - 68,757 154,398
19,153 - - - - 19,153
40,963 330 333 - 2,610 44,236
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other segment information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Restated)

9. ZIHERGE

Hthp BE R ()

HZE2020F3A318 IEFE(EF)

Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongging management and  operation
property services  decoration inJapan  Unallocated Total
¥ A%
ERNE  BERE ZBREN  EEEE AR @it
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
T T Fir T T Fibr
Amounts included in the measure of BERTENPERAA H
segment profit o loss or segment assets: BENSE:
Depreciation of property, plant and % - BERRENE
equipment 8,957 7 - 5,066 3,230 17,260
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RRREENE 732 = = = 3,583 4315
Bank interest income BIREYE (28) (6) - - (6) (40)
Decrease in fair values of investment RENELBERD
properties 28,302 - - - - 28,302
Decrease in fair value of financial assets BArEEHABR SR
at FVTPL REALEERS 1178 = = = = 1,178
Finance cost BB 28,676 100 - - 69,530 98,306
Additions to non-current assets REFRDEE 131,629 - - 48 25,19 156,872
Amounts regularly provided to the chief THRETEELEREE
operating decision maker but not BRSNS BERINT
included in the measure of segment BEHENSE:
results:
Impairment loss on right-of-Use assets RRELEHERE - - = = 4576 4576
Impairment loss on property, plant and 0% BERRERBER
equipment - - - - 11,347 11,347

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #(Z£202163A31HILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding
year contributing over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group are as follows:

2 EHER (&)
(@ HFHXEFEFZEH

HEFEEAEEBBAEBI10%
MEFPKAIT

Customer A' EPA
Customer B2 = FB?
Customer C2 BpPC?
Customer D2 ®FD?
Customer E3 EFE?

Revenue from renovation and decoration segment
Revenue from Chongging property segment
Revenue from property management services segment

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over
10% of the total revenue of the Group.

Geographical information

Disaggregation of revenue by geographical
region

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
55,989 =

= 64,013

= 23,379

= 15,504

N/A* T3 F* 15,173

' PNEESEIYE S iR L ON

’ KEEEMED BAKRA
¢ REMEEERBE D HLHRA

HEARAGEAEEEBKATER
10% °

(b) HIEER
# it BB B 5 KA

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT T

PRC s 150,696 124,853
Japan SN 8,033 10,985
158,729 135,838

As at 31 March 2021, over 90% (2020: over 90%)
of its total non-current assets (excluding financial
asset at FVTPL) are located in the PRC.

Man Sang International Limited  Annual Report 2021
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

OTHER INCOME AND (LOSSES) GAINS, NET 10. HMKBARF(ER) WS
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&E51))
Exchange (loss) gain, net b 5% (B548) W o= (287) 86
Impairment loss on trade and other B 5 R H A EWERFORE
receivables (4,253) -
Written off of other receivable H th M BR SR 55 (19,153) =
Government grants (note) AT ak (A7 3E) 832 31
Others 12,262 842
(10,599) 959
Note: it -

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised
government grants of HK$673,500 in respect of COVID-19-related
subsidies, the Employment Support Scheme provided by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the

Anti-Epidemic Fund.

BE2021F3ABNBILFE  ARERFARFHITH
& B IR B R URE & R AR 5T BIARI &9 ¥
U 1R 975 25 4 B 1 B P SR BT+ B 673,500 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #(Z£202163A31HILFE

11. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 1. BB RARBEEAR
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&x FHIT
(Restated)
(E%1))
Finance income: BIFBURA -
- Bank interest income - RITF B E 230 40
Finance costs: IR -
— Interest on bank and other borrowings — $877 & HAb EEF| 2 108,919 86,185
— Interest on unsecured borrowings from — & EEIKIBEEF &
a director 6,226 42,014
— Interest on promissory notes (note 29) — & X ZE#EH & (M15129) 62,112 62,368
- Interest on lease liabilities (note 22) -HEAER S (KFE22) 996 3,235
178,253 193,802
Less: amount capitalised on qualifying & : 8 EBEEENZ
assets (note) 78 (FEE) (23,855) (95,496)
154,398 98,306
Note: BiEE -
The borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose from the general FRNEEMNMELZEEXNAT I E—REEBEBEELE - I
borrowing pool are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 7.35% AE AL EFIKRT7 35/ (20204 : 9.0F):tE r @BE 4
(2020: 9.0%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets. BREBEZRSIA -
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12.

13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

LOSS BEFORE TAX 12. BR¥AIEE
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging: PR AT BB TS HIBR A T B IR ZE B
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
(Restated)
(E%)
Staff costs (including directors of the BETIXNAR(BEARAES)
Company)
— salaries and other allowances - Fre hE R 60,743 49,558
- retirement benefits scheme — RRAEFEHEI R
contributions 6,502 5,650
67,245 55,208
Cost of properties recognised as an ERAEF S 2 WEKAK
expense 51,169 54,399
Auditor’s remuneration Z AN B & 1,900 1,600
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  BEREETE
equipment 40,512 17,260
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 9,032 4,315
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FB8HiRxX
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET
(Restated)
(&E51))
Current income tax B ERFT 1S BE
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax - R Bl EATISH 1,743 -
- PRC Land Appreciation Tax — PR £ I 742 31,779
2,485 31,779
Deferred income tax (note 31) BIEFTS B (P EE31) 2,659 (6,906)
5,144 24,873
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z%2021F3A31HIEFE

13.

174

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
Hong Kong Profits Tax

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided since no
assessable profits have been generated during both
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Japan Corporate Income Tax

No Japan Corporate Income Tax has been provided
since no assessable profits have been generated
during both years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax in respect of
operations in the PRC is calculated at a rate of 25%
on the estimated assessable profits for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 under the Law of the
PRC’s on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law.

No PRC enterprise income tax has been provided for
the year ended 31 March 2020 since no assessable
profits have been generated during that year.

The PRC Land Appreciation Tax

Land appreciation tax in the PRC is levied on properties
developed by the Group for sale, at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of
land value under the applicable regulations, which is
calculated based on the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including cost of land
use rights, borrowing costs, statutory deduction and all
property development expenditures.

Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #Z202143A31HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 13. FiBHiRx (@)

The PRC land appreciation tax (Continued) P B it 3B (B B (48)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled REEFREBRAXAEEEBRR IR
to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of AIEESRNT

profit or loss as follows:

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$'000

FE&xT FAT

(Restated)

(&%)

Loss before tax bR B Al S 18 (514,965) (178,041)

Tax calculated at respective income tax ZAABATS M K E 2 FHE

rate (119,204) (33,714)

The PRC Land Appreciation Tax Bt IR 742 31,779
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax AR Z WA ZHRIEFE

purpose (185) (531)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ A5 2 FI s 2 IS 52 2

for tax purpose 79,846 31,767

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RIERHEEBHE 2 RMIFTE 43,945 -
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BRI AR ERBIAEE 2

previously not recognised g - (4,428)

Income tax expenses for the year REZ ST 5,144 24,873

Details of deferred income tax are set out in note 31. BEIEFSFHFBEH R E31 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERIETHAEMS
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEBERTETBAEM2
The remunerations paid or payable to each of AT ER T AR A F184 (20204 -
the 8 (2020: 8) directors and chief executive of BR)EENTETBAEZHEH
the Company were as follows: AT
For the year ended 31 March 2021 B E2021F3A31BLFE
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
YiEs BikHTEs
Mr. Xu
Mr.Huang M. Jin Mr.Li  Haohao Ms.Pau Mr.Wong Mr. Yuen
Mr.Hu  Xiaohai Jianggui  Zhenyu  (note) YeeLing KwanKit  HoiPo Total
B8
pit3
BEE EREAE SIEEE TREEE (WD) BEELL EBARE REREE A
HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Térn THr THR  TER TRz TEn  THn  THEr  THR
Emoluments paid or H-BALELES
receivable in respect REEARBEH
ofaperson'sservicesas  SENEE (R
adirector, whether ofthe  AARFHENE
Company or its LAES):
subsidiaries undertaking:
Fees He 3,600 600 600 600 600 220 220 220 6,660
Emoluments paid or HESEEERAR
receivable in respect of AREHBARE
directors other sevices  BEERRBEH
in connection with the FENES
management of the affairs
of the Company and its
subsidiaries undertaking:
Other emoluments Hitde
Salaries s 840 = o - 3900 s s - 4Th
Housing allowance REEY 2,016 o o o o o o - 2016
Retirement benefit scheme R {kiEFIzH B3,
contributions 95 - - - 18 - - - 113
2,951 - - - 3,918 - - - 6,869
Total emoluments Hefs 6,551 600 600 600 4518 220 220 20 13529
1 76 Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14, EBERFIETHBAEME (@)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEBERFETHAEMSGE
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Restated) HZE2020F3A31HILFE(KE
%)
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
SIS BUTES
Mr. Xu
Mr.Huang M. Jin Mr.Li  Haohao ~ Ms.Pau Mr.Wong Mr. Yuen
MrHu  Xiaohai Jianggui  Zhenyu (note) Yeeling KwanKit  HoiPo Total
RE2
b3
BEE ERSEE IE%E ZRFEE (M) BLERT BEAKE REREE &
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HK§000 HK$00D HK§O000  HK$O000
Thr TEr TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr TEr  TEr  TER
Emoluments paid or R-aATEES
recelvable In respect REBARBEH
ofaperson'ssenvicesas  SENES (T
a director, whether of the BANTHAENE
Company orits subsidiaries ~ AFEE) :
undertaking:
Fees Be 2,211 600 600 600 403 220 220 220 5134
Emoluments paid or HEFREEEAR
receivable in respect of ARENBARE
director's other services BB RER R
in connection with the SENES :
management of the affairs
of the Company and its
subsidiaries undertaking:
Other emoluments Etbbe
Salaries fg 1470 - - - 2605 - - - 4075
Housing allowance RERM 2039 = = = = = = - 209
Retirement benefit scheme B {RBAIEH &It
contributions R - - - 12 - - 104
3,601 - - - 2617 - - - 6,218
Total emoluments Hefs 5872 600 600 600 302 20 20 20 132

Note:

Mr. Xu Haohao was appointed as an executive

director on 30 July 2019.

it . BREZERER2019F7A0HESR

EARNITEE -

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

14.

178

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

Except for Mr. Hu and Mr. Xu Haohao, none of
the directors of the Company received or will
receive any retirement benefits or termination
benefits during the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.

Waived or agreed to waive any emoluments

None of the directors of the Company waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Inducement to join or upon joining the Group

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to
any of the directors of the Company or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office for the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020.

Chief executive officer of the Company

Mr. Xu Haohao was appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company on 2
September 2019.
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15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, two (2020: two) were directors of the
Company and whose emoluments are included in
the disclosures in note 14 above. The emoluments of
the remaining three (2020: three) individuals were as
follows:

TEBRSHMAL

AEEBRETRTFMALFR  BEMA
(2020%F : MBZ)AARRFRIES ' HEWE
BN EXHFE4Z2HEER - BT =4
(2020%F : =B) AT 22T -

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
THxT T
Salaries and other benefits HehEMmET 4,362 3,289
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRBFFT B

schemes 54 36
4,416 B¥S25

Their emoluments are within the following bands: BEMEN FATEHE :
2021 2020
No. of No. of
employee employee
EEHA BEHE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T - 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 721,500,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 22,000,000/ 7T 1 1
3 S

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

16.

180

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

16.

BREE
ARAHEEAREEREANEEERTS
WATERGE

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FiExT FAT
(Restated)
&=270))
Loss B8
Loss for the year attributable to owners R+ E ST EAR I #5%
of the Company for the purpose of =R =P N/NCIE Z= DN
basic and diluted loss per share JE(ERFEEE (521,821) (202,914)
’000 ‘000
TR Fi&
Number of shares R E
Weighted average number of ordinary ~— AR ET & F I EAR N #E
shares for the purpose of basic and 518 2 I mAR N T &
diluted loss per share 415,514 381,234

The denominators used are the same as those
calculated above for both basic and diluted loss per
share.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of calculating basic loss per share for
the year ended 31 March 2021 has been adjusted,
taking into account the share consolidation (“Share
Consolidation”) and the new shares issued during the
year ended 31 March 2021 as further detailed in note
32. The corresponding weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the year ended 31 March 2020 has
been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the said Share
Consolidation.

Since there are no potential dilutive shares in issue

during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, basic
and dilutive loss per share are the same for both years.
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17.

18.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 March 2021, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2020:

nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The movement of the Group’s investment properties

17. RE
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18. REWHE

BHWEHRENEZZE

AEBREMEZZHEEIEIABE

and the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement FIEZEEREAT
are as follows:
Investment  Right-of-use
properties assets Total
REME FREEE @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT FHT

FAIR VALUE NREE
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4A1H 1,767,135 29,431 1,796,566
Additions NE 45,881 - 45,881
Interest capitalised FEERE 59,134 = 59,134
Decrease in fair value (note) NI E RN R G EED) (23,968) (4,334) (28,302)
Exchange differences EH Z% (121,202) (1,896) (123,098)
At 1 April 2020 R2020F481H 1,726,980 23,201 1,750,181
Additions =T 40,844 - 40,844
Interest capitalised FE &AL 23,855 = 23,855
Lease modification HEBER = (12,420) (12,420)
(Decrease) increase in fair value 2 7 BE Cpi4) 180

(note) (PR 3E) (11,371) 7,283 (4,088)
Exchange differences &R =% 155,149 1,241 156,390
At the end of the year RER 1,935,457 19,305 1,954,762

Note:  For the year ended 31 March 2021, decrease in fair value
of approximately HK$4,088,000 (2020: HK$28,302,000) is
attributable to the changes in unrealised loss relating to

investment properties at the end of the reporting period.

KiaF : BZE2021F3A31RLEFE @ AREERD
#94,088,0007% 7T (20204 : 28,302,000/8 7T)
TERBEAREAREENEZ REBREE

=

—=—

—

—FFR REBRERLA
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18.

182

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The Group’s investment properties of approximately
HK$1,935,457,000 (2020: HK$1,726,980,000) have
been pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted
to the Group (note 28).

An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at
fair value, grouped into fair value hierarchy Level 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to fair value
measurements is observable is as follows:

18.

REWX &)

AEEBEIKEYH41,935,457,0008 7T

(20204 :

1,726,980,000/% 7T) B 1EHL LA

ERETAKEZRITER(PIE28) -

RUOTHERRIZAABEFEZAEER
BYE  DERAAEBENEBABEZA

BREEIBRRAA

T

Fair value
measurement
under fair value
hierarchy Level 3
at 31 March 2021
7202153A31H

BEEIE  E@ED

Fair value
measurement
under fair value
hierarchy Level 3
at 31 March 2020
7202063A31H

ZARBEEIIE ZARBEEIIE
AARBEHENE AARBHENE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Recurring fair value measurements &HEMEQ A BEFE
— Investment properties situated in  — AL RAERERE 2 £ E
Chongging, Western China "B 1,954,762 1,750,181
There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy RWEFE  AREEFIE  F2EESE
Levels 1, 2 and 3 during both years. E A mEE -
Valuation processes HERRE

The Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2021 and 31 March 2020 were valued by CHFT,
an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group who hold recognised relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience
in valuing similar properties in the similar locations. In
estimating the fair value of all of the Group’s investment
properties, the highest and best use of these properties
in the current use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

18.

REMEE)
RRAERTIBERARBZARBEEST

E(F3@AEEY

Relationship of
Range of unobservable inputs  unobservable inputs to

Description Fair value Valuation technique Unobservable inputs (probability weighted average) fair value
FUEZRA\RBERAME  TURERAHBALL
#5 MEE hERT TIERBARE MEFHE) BECBE
Chongaing - investment 31 March 2021; Direct comparison approach i) Recent transacted 31 March 2021: RMB25,000~  The higher the recent
properties HK$1,935,457,000 (2020; Residual Method by price RMB185,000 (2020: transacted price, the
(2020: reference to recent sales RMB35,000 - RMB200,000) higher the fair value
HK$1,726,980,000) price of comparable per square metre
properties in price per square
meter basis using market data i) Estimated cost to 31 March 2021: NJA
which is publicly available and ~ completion (2020: RMB1,991)
taken into account of per square metre
estimated construction
cost that will be expended to
complete the development)
BF - RENX 02153A31R ERURE(00F : BEE 1) REMRER N2153A31E : §TARAR  RERRERDIBAAR
1034570008 - BRRAARTE B5000TZARK185000  EEAR
(2020% : BemsaE - WETARZ TL(2020% = AR#35,0007C
172698000087)  BRAEEZZTHMENE ZARE2000007)

Chongaing - commercial 31 March 2021:

building (Right-of-use  HK$19,305,000
assets) (2020:
HK$23,201,000)
ER-HEAERAE 20138317
BE) 19,305,005 7
(2020 :
23,20100057T)

HER - Lt kxR SRR
BFER 2 Bt BRAA)

Income approach - by reference
to capitalised income derived
from market observable
transactions

W% -BETRTRERSE
AEHA

i) B ELIAA

Prevailing market rents

0214537318 : TR
(20205 : B A5k
ARE1,9917)

31 March 2021: RMB85 -
RMB180 (2020: RMB100 -
RMB180) per square metre

The higher the prevailing
market rent, the higher
the fair value

N1E3A318 : BEHKAR
#8572 ARE1807(2020
£ AREI00LEARE80
)

BmaReRR - A%
BERR

—=—_

—

FER REBBERDIF

183



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

19.

184

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT OR
HELD FOR SALE

19.

BRRTUERFELHEDE

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Properties held for sale BIEREWE 455,873 466,064
In Chongging City, PRC PEEET 455,873 466,064

The properties under development was completed
and transferred to the properties held for sale during
the year ended 31 March 2020. As at 31 March 2021,
the Group has pledged the properties held for sale at
carrying amount of approximately HK$455,873,000
(2020: HK$466,064,000) to secure the bank borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &/ £202143 431 H L& &

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 20. Y¥E- - BERRZE
Furniture,
Improvements Serviced  Buildings & Leasehold  Construction fixtures and Motor
Freehold land on land apartments structure  improvements in progress equipment vehicles Total
BT i £ER
BELH th¥E  BEAAE EiEEN REETRE HRIR R RE &t
HKS'000 HK§1000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
Thn TR TER TiEn TER FER TER FER TER
Cost HA
At 1 April 2019 (restated) R2019F4R 1B (E5)) 11,550 46,550 - 28,826 - 658,345 3339 4718 753,328
Addtions HE - - - 4 13,633 85,213 2,047 2,701 103,635
Disposals e (19) (42) (61)
Write-off s - - - - - - (218) - (218)
Interest capitalised HMEEAL - = S S = 20,646 = S 20,646
Depreciafion of right-of-use FREEENE
assets - - - - - 6,838 - - 6,838
Reclassflication upon THEENAE
completion - - 693,969 - - (742,908) 48,939 - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR (40
(note 40) - - - - - - () - (6)
Exchange differences EXZE 236 951 (18,588) 590 - (28,134) (1,323) (63) (46,331)
At 31 March 2020 R202043A318 R
and 1 April 2020 (restated) 20005451R(E71) 11,786 47,501 675,381 29438 13633 - 52,719 7314 837,832
Addtions HE - - - - 959 - 2,178 255 3392
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39)  WiEE M B 127 (13£39) S = S S = S 4 4
Exchange differences EiEE (236) (951) 48,655 (589) - - 4636 9 51,614
At 31 March 2021 R2021%63A318 11,650 46,550 724,036 28,849 14,592 - 59,593 7,709 892879
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 20. Y% - BMERREGE)
(CONTINUED)
Furniture,
Improvements Serviced  Buildings & Leasehold  Construction fixtures and Motor
Freehold land on land apartments structure  improvements in progress equipment vehicles Total
BT Bl %ER
HELH tHEE  BBALE LiEgYN EESTEE HRIR By RE 4
HKS'000 HK§1000 HKS§'000 HK§1000 HK§'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
Thn TiEn TER T TER Sy TER Thn TEr
Accumulated depreciation ZiERAE
and impairment
At 1 April 2019 (restated) R01954518(E5) - 5389 - 3,374 - - 1,404 1,868 12035
Provided for the year EREE - 2,738 5193 1,704 2,286 - 3925 1414 17260
Impairment loss recognised REGENBDRES
in proft or loss - - - - 11,347 - - - 1,347
Eliminated on disposals REERHE - - - (19) : - - (36) (65)
Write-off fis - - - - - - (218) - (218)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR (H3H40)
(note 40) - - - - - - (1) - (1)
Exchange differences EizE - 166 (138) 103 - - (75) ) 51

At31 March2020and 1 Aprl 2020 H202053A31E R

(restated) R2020E4F 18 (E51) = 8,293 5055 5,162 13,633 S 5035 3,241 40419
Provided for the year FffE - 273 19,864 1,691 479 = 14,584 1,156 40512
Impairment loss recognised REEAEZAESE

in profitor loss = = 138675 = = 11,245 = 149,920
Exchange differences EXEE = (166) 6,916 (100) 1,151 3% 7837
At31 March 2021 R202153A318 S 10,865 170510 6753 14,112 S 2015 4433 238,688
Carrying amount R
At31 March 2021 R202153A318 11,550 35,685 553526 22,0% 480 S 27578 3276 654,191
At 31 March 2020 (Restated) 2020637318 (E5]) 11,786 39,208 670,326 2276 = = 47,744 4073 797413
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &/ £202143 431 H L& &

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment,
other than freehold land and construction in progress,
are depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking
into account their estimated residual values, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

2.5%=10%
20%—40%

Buildings & structure

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Improvements on land 4%-6.87%

Leasehold improvements  Over the term of the lease

Motor vehicles 20%—25%

Serviced apartments 33 years

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the directors
of the Company conducted a review of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and determined that
a number of those assets were impaired due to the
operating loss status of the Group and/or decrease
in market price of the relevant assets. As a result, an
impairment loss of approximately HK$149,920,000
(2020: HK$11,347,000) has been recognised, after
considering that the fair value less cost of disposal
of serviced apartments and furniture, fixtures and
equipment are lower than their carrying amounts. The
recoverable amounts of the relevant assets have been
determined on the basis of a valuation performed by a
qualified valuer (2020: value-in-use calculations using
discounted cash flow projections of the cash generating
units in which the property, plant and equipment
belongs to, which were based on the financial forecasts
approved by management, with a pre-tax discount
rate of 6.7%). The fair value on which the recoverable
amount is based on is categorised as Level 3 fair value
measurements.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has pledged
the serviced apartments with carrying amount
of approximately HK$553,526,000 (2020:
HK$670,326,000) to secure the bank borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).

W - BE K RE (&)

BRESLHMRAEREIRIN  LAYE - B
FEREFEEBGAERENE - K5t Rkfb
ARISEER G ERAFHET

EFENEEY 2.5%Z=10%
R EBENERE 20%E40%

+ i E 4%%E6.87%
HEEFEE RAYFH
RE 20%Z£25%
RBRAE 334

HE2021FE3A31HILFE » KARAAIESE
HASEYME BERZEETR @ 1#
TZBEEERASEBELEEFERRER
REBEEEME FTKREERE - At
SE{EET 1B 49149,920,000/8 7T (20204 ¢
11,347,000/ 70) IR &H R A FER T & AR
BRAABEARGM - HERBERAER
HEEMEZRER - HEEEN WD SEE
ENEREERGERMED ZHE (2020
F BB EMSIBAERME - K
ERkEEMBEREEEEMNERRESR
SR KRB ATRLIR K 6.7%(F B EERT
&) o JESEMKEZ AFESEASE
ZHMAFEFE -

R2021F3A31H ' A&EEEEFE
EE#4) A553,526,00078 7T (20204 -
670,326,000/ 7T) 2 IRIE N A B AERE
FTAREE ZIRITER(FIE28) -
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21.

22.

188

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

21.

BAARBESAEBECZEHEE

Unlisted equity securities in the PRC

T EIR AV s RE o7

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
11,235 8,100

Note:

As at 31 March 2021, the unlisted equity securities represented
an investment in 10% equity interest in a private entity
established in the PRC. They were measured at fair value at
the end of the reporting period, with increase in fair value of
approximately HK$2,312,000 (2020: decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$1,178,000) recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2021.

LEASES

(M)

Right-of-use assets

22.

Hiat

HE

(M)

MR20214F3A31H * REMERFHIERE
REFRBERIOAABTENI10%KE - BF
RREHRRARBEE - REE2021F
SASIBLEEGABRERTERNAAEE
#hN492,312,0005% 7T (20204F : A A BER
491,178,000/ 7T) °

EREEE

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Land use right T fE AR 200,532 239,740
Leased premises HEWZE = 2,001
200,532 241,741

As at 31 March 2021, right-of-use assets of
HK$200,532,000 (2020: HK$239,740,000)
represent the land use right located in the PRC.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the
year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to
approximately HK$6,337,000 due to a new lease
of office premises. There was no addition to the
right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 March
2021.
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22. LEASES (CONTINUED)

(M)

(ii)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
directors of the Company conducted a review of
the Group’s right-of-use assets and determined
that a number of those assets were impaired
due to the operating loss status of the Group.
As a result, an impairment loss of approximately
HK$52,124,000 (2020: HK$4,576,000) has
been recognised in respect of a right-of-use of
land use right (2020: leased premises), after
considering that the fair value less cost of
disposal is lower than the carrying amount. The
recoverable amounts of the relevant assets have
been determined on the basis of the assets’
fair value less cost of disposal based on the
valuation performed by a qualified valuer (2020:
value-in-use calculations using discounted cash
flow projections of the cash generating units in
which the right-of-use assets belongs to, which
were based on the financial forecasts approved
by management, with a pre-tax discount rate of
6.7%). The fair value on which the recoverable
amount is based on is categorised as level 3 fair
value measurements.

Lease liabilities

22. HEG@H

(M)

(ii)

EREEE(H)

HE2021FE3A3IHIEFE - AR
REEHASEFRABREEETT
B BTZEEERAERESE
EEREELERE - At - £H
A EREEEL52,124,0007%8 7T
(20204 : 4,576,000/ 7T) &t &
AEERHERANEREREER
Pt b fE AR (20204 - FHEWME)
FABEEERR - BBREEYKRD
SEIREBESERMGEMET M
BREEAFERHEENKA (2020
FREBEEEEMILENETEA -
FAREAENMBREELEMNAAL
IR 3R & = T8OB M B B AT AL 3R E
6.7% 2 EAEEME)ETE - Il
EleEMKIBEZATFESIEAE=
WAFETE -

HERE

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

THxT FHET

Current mED 3,163 5,827
Non-current JEm B 12,857 27,155
16,020 32,982

SRR REEBERARF
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22. LEASES (CONTINUED) 22,

(i) Lease liabilities (Continued)
Amounts payable under lease liabilities

HE (&)
(i) HEEEGEHE
BEHE & RENRIE

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Within one year —FRN 3,163 5,827
After one year but within two years ~ —FZBRFER 2,426 4,311
After two years but within five years MEZEBRFR 5,982 5,894
After five years HF%R 4,449 16,950
16,020 32,982
Less: Amount due for settlement B AT Z{E A RNEHR
within 12 months (shown HEE 2 RERR
under current liabilities) BETIIR) (3,163) (5,827)
Amount due for settlement after 12~ R+ (A %E R H&EE ~
months IE 12,857 27,155

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
entered into a new lease agreement in respect
of renting office premises and recognised lease
liability of approximately HK$6,337,000. There
was no new lease agreement entered during the
year ended 31 March 2021.

(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

HE2020FE3A31HILEE » A&
EEHAR AMET LN EER
& WHEREE&E46,337,0008
JC e BE2021F3A31HILFE -
BET I HAERHE -

(i) REZPERIAZELE

Depreciation expense on right-of-use £ REEEITER X

assets
Impairment of right-of-use assets CRAEEERE
Interest expense on lease liabilities

Expense relating to short-term leases [ HiFA &R

HERENEMAX

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FB TiB
9,032 4,315
52,124 4,576
996 3,235

525 577
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23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

LEASES (CONTINUED)
(iv)  Others

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$7,473,000 (2020: HK$9,175,000).

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

A N BRI B
R2019F4 A 1H

Cost and carrying value
At 1 April, 2019

HEGE

(iv) EHfb
HZEC021E3A3IAILEE - HE
Bemb R A7, 4730008 T
(20204 : 9,175,000/ 7T) °

BREAE

Cross
boundary
vehicle
License license Total

&R iR st

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FEx

Addition iz = 1,019 1,019
At 31 March 2020 20203 A31H &

and 1 April 2020 202044 A 1H = 1,019 1,019
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1 =G

(note 39) (B$3E39) 621 = 621
Exchange difference E R ZRE 48 = 48
At 31 March 2021 MN202143 8318 669 1,019 1,688

Intangible asset of approximately HK$1,019,000
represents the cross boundary vehicle license which
has a legal life of one year but are renewable every
year at minimal cost. The directors of the Company are
of the opinion that the Group would renew the license
continuously and has the ability to do so. Various
studies including market, competitive and environmental
trends have been performed by the directors of the
Company, which supports that the license has no
foreseeable limit to the period over which are expected
to generate net cash flows for the Group.

The intangible assets are considered by the directors of
the Company as having indefinite useful lives because
they are expected to contribute to net cash inflows
indefinitely. The licenses will not be amortised until their
useful life are determined to be finite. Instead it will be
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the
directors of the Company consider that there are no
impairment of the intangible assets.

BB E491,019,0008 TTI8 2 EEIRR A —
FESFUREK AN FEH 2 BEIREH
R - ARREERAEAEE BT —ET
BRNEEMIR - AARBEEDETSRE
WR(BEMS - BFRIREBY) - RE
ZEREAEEEHEARSREFEL
R AT AR 2R -

REBEHBELERRSAAFE A0
REERREBVEERBRAERFY -
RGN THE  BEERSZAERFH
REERAR - lo - AEBEEFRE
B RS BN EL AT RE IR RUE R B EE TR
BRI -

HE2021F K2020F3A31HIFFE » &
NARIEER BT EEL EERE -
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24, EBEZRHMEBERRENEE
CONTRACT ASSETS
2020
HK$'000
FET
(Restated)
(F5))
Trade receivables B 5 IR 14,017 5,806
Less: allowance for impairment of B B SRRSO ERE
trade receivables (4,253) -
9,764 5,806
Deposits and other receivables Re REMERRR
(notes (i), (i) and (iii)) (B Q) ~ (i) B (iii)) 32,783 28,507
Prepayments TEfT IR 1,834 1,920
44,381 36,233
Portion classified as current assets DERRBEERD (34,546) (36,233)
Non-current portion (note (ii)) e BB (B 5E(ii)) 9,835 S
Contract assets (note (iv)) A HE EEE(iv)) 5,388 =

192

Notes:

V)

(iii)

(iv)

Included in the balance as at 31 March 2020 is approximately
RMB16,095,000, equivalent to approximately HK$17,544,000),
representing an indemnification from the vendor of Gloryear
Investments Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Gloryear Group”) for the loss arising from the
termination of the hotel operation of the Gloryear Group. Such
amount was written off during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Included in the balance as at 31 March 2021 is approximately
HK$9,835,000 (2020: Nil), representing lease incentives to
tenants which are amortised over the relevant lease terms.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECL, unless when there has a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition. For the deposits and
other receivables of approximately HK$22,948,000 as at 31
March 2021 (2020: HK$28,507,000, as restated), the expected
credit loss was minimal as these deposits and receivables
had no recent history of default and there was no unfavorable
current conditions and forecast future economic conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

Included in contract assets represents the Group’s right to
receive consideration for work performed and not yet billed
because the rights are conditional on the satisfaction of the
service quality by the customers over a certain period as
stipulated in the contracts. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional,
which is typically at the expiry date of the period for the
provision of assurance by the Group on the service quality of
the renovation and decoration work performed by the Group.
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Wiz -

(iii)

(iv)

T A202053A31BZHEBHARYE
16,095,0007T (18 M 4917,544,0005%8 7T) B &
FREBRARRENBRAR(REBIEBFE
EDzEARRIEFEEBEEKMES
BREmMEEZBERKRE FHENEOREBE
2021F3A31H L FE Mgy -

5H A202143 A 31 H 2 ##2#79,835,000/8 7T
(2020% : &) - AAMAFRHEZEEESR -
HRARRTE B8 o

AEBGERSRN12EABEHEEBEN
BERE  KRIEEERREVISEREES
i AEBRERRAZHBHEERSE -
FEEHEREEERERTRERREE
NBEEMA MR RER B Y SR EEEE
hn e $202143 A31 A MRS & H b fE UK ER
K #922,948,0007% 7T (20204 : 28,507,000
B KE)ME BEHEEBEERK -
REBZS RS R R ZGE Y 82 150
B B 1E & B R I M 1 1 3R AR B FEUR) AR 2R A
B ©

FABKMBERARERDHETEMARA
BENTERERKRENEN  RELSZEE
MNEAREPREHOREN —EBMAH KRG
HERTMBRIAIEE - GHEERER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group classifies these contract assets under
current assets because the Group expects to realise
them in its normal operating cycle.

The Group does not hold any collaterals over these
balances.

At as 31 March 2021, the gross amount of trade
receivable arising from contracts with customers
amounted to approximately HK$14,007,000 (2020:
approximately HK$5,806,000, as restated).

The Group allows an average credit period of 0-60 days
to its trade customers. The following is an aged analysis
of trade receivables presented based on the invoice
date, which approximates to revenue recognition date,
at the end of the reporting period.

24.

ESRHMBURRRENEE ()

AEBKZEARNEENBRRBEE

RARASEEANELEREERHAE

RREEE -

AEEIL B ZFERT A EMEAR -

R2021E3A31H  BFAHNELEZES
JiE Uk BR R 4258 49 /5 14,007,0005% 7T (2020
£ #95,806,000/8 7T © &KLEF) °

AEEAFEESEFZH0E60RZF
BEEY - TRODPRHERRRERAS
(R R A HEE) 25 2B 5 EKER

R BREC DA

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#&xT FHET

(Restated)

(&%)

0-30 days 0E 30K 2,715 1,745
31-90 days 31REIOKR 2,154 1,836
91-180 days 91 RXE180K 2,806 2,225
More than 180 days 180K = 2,089 -
9,764 5,806

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

24.

194

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The
expected credit losses on trade receivables are
estimated individually for customer with significant
balances or credit-impaired and/or collectively
using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
of the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2021
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24.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The directors of the Company considered that trade
receivables of approximately HK$4,253,000 (2020: nil)
had 100% expected loss rate as these trade receivables
were credit-impaired. The ECL on the remaining trade
receivables with gross amounts of approximately
HK$9,764,000 (2020: HK$5,806,000, as restated) are
estimated using a provision matrix. No loss allowance
was made on the remaining trade receivables during
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 as the
expected loss rate is immaterial.

Movement in impairment on trade receivables

24.

ESRHMBURRRENEE ()

RAFIEERRE HEMERRE 494,253,000
BT (2020F - EIMTBHEBEEXA
100%  REAZEE S ERKRRERE D
REERE H TEHEWERAELY
9,764,000/ 7T (20204 : 5,806,000/ JT *
KEH)MFBHEE BB TE B EEER
gt o B Z 20214 % 2020F3A31H ILF
B AREHEBRETTEKR  HUERN
BT E S ERIKERENBEEE -

B RUIRRZREZE

Life Times ECL
(Credit-impaired)

2HEHEEES
(BEERE)
HK$'000
FHET

At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and R2019F 418 « 202038318 &
1 April 2020 2020F4 A1H -
Impairment loss for the year FRREERE 4,253
At 31 March 2021 20213 H31H 4,253

For contract assets, the Group has applied the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure
the allowance for credit losses at lifetime ECL. The
contract assets are assessed for ECL by using the
same basis and approach as trade receivables. After
the assessment by the directors of the Company, the
allowance for ECL on contract assets are insignificant to
the Group as at 31 March 2021.

The assessments on ECL of deposits and other
receivables are set out in note 7(b).

MAWEENS  AEBEEREBUE
REEFEIRATHNE LA ETEEH
TEHEEEENEEEERE GHNEE
FAAEE S IR KA R A 2 & AT
HIEHEERE KARRESTHE
R2021F3A31H » AHEENTBHEE
EBEEREHASEMTTRERX -

e M AR IRR B EE B RN
EN (I

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25, HEeEREZEFREE
Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates B E2021F Rk 2020F3A31HIEFE « iR
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. ITHERIBRITMIS MR R -
The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into UIARBGHEEHBRE BINEU R BEFEH
foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign fE R Z S AINESTENRITEBRRIRS -
currencies denominated bank balances and cash out 838 5T A B BUTT 78 46 B0 75 A HINE B 1) 45 Bl
of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation K381 -
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.
26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EZRHMEMERX
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
(Restated)
(E%))
Trade payables B S TR 18,796 2,190
Construction costs accruals and BENAERTE R REMERER
payables 109,694 145,206
Other accruals and payables (note) HAhfEst & A RENERK
(PR 3E) 79,794 72,521
208,284 219,917
Note:  Included in the balance as at 31 March 2020 was Kiit : R2020F3ASIHZEBBEHARE

approximately RMB16,095,000, equivalent to approximately
HK$17,544,000, representing the compensation payable in
respect of the termination of the hotel operation of the Gloryear
Group. Such amount was fully settled in 2021.

1 96 Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2021
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27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 26. EZKkHEME[IRI(E)
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables EREZAHMEYE S ENERRERER D
presented based on the invoice date. WHEFNAT -
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
(Restated)
(E5)
0-30 days 0E 30K 15,132 151
31-90 days 31E90K 3,307 131
91-180 days 912180k 297 316
More than 180 days 180K A = 60 1,592
18,796 2,190
The average credit period of trade payables is 30 days. BSRNERTHEERARIOK - N&EHE
The Group has financial risk management policies in 2l E & w2 b B IR UK AR IR FT A IS
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the RAHRNEEBRES -
credit timeframe.
AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 27. EBW)BREXRRE

COMPANIES

These amounts represent amounts due from (to)
companies which are wholly-owned by Mr. Hu, an
executive director and the ultimate controlling party
of the Company. Except for amounts due from related
parties of approximately HK$14,112,000 are unsecured,
interest-free and trade in nature with a credit period
of 60 days, the remaining amounts are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

For the purposes of impairment assessment, the
directors of the Company considered the amount due
from related parties to have low credit risk. Accordingly,
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECL which is considered not significant after
taken into account the financial strength of the related
companies.

ZEFEEREW ) BARGTRMITESFHR
BEREHAFAEEEEHEENRAHR
I8 o BRIEUN BB FRIE4Y14,112,0008 T4
EmIER - RENEZESHME  BEEHA
GOKRSN - R TR AEIEA - 25 RAIR
LRER o

SBENGERES  ARBEFALEKE
BIRBEAEREEERR - Hit - BE
BpmEEN12EAEBEEBRS R
B ZRETHELHMNEERRMBENR
RBR/ALTBEKX -

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

28.

198

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

28. WMITRHEHMEE

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
F&xT FAT
Other borrowings LMEE 5,950 794,856
Bank borrowing RITIEE 1,456,037 1,362,500
1,461,987 2,157,356
Current: E -
Unsecured loan — principal portion BIERENR - A& D
(note (i) (BE&E)) 4,760 =
Unsecured loan — interest portion EIEWEN - A B
(notes (i) & (ii)) (P ¥ R (ii)) 1,190 6,786
Secured bank loan — principal portion R ITER - KL EH
(note (iii)) (B & (i) 11,900 10,900
Secured bank loan — interest portion EIRRITER—F B D
(note (iii)) (B & (i) 2,786 -
20,636 17,686
Non-current: FEMED -
Unsecured loan — principal portion EIEHER - A& BH
(note (ii)) (B 3 Gii)) = 788,070
Secured bank loan — principal portion  ERIBITER - K& & D
(note (iii)) (B & Gii)) 1,441,351 1,351,600
1,441,351 2,139,670
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMEEREE 1,461,987 2,157,356

Man Sang International Limited  Annual Report 2021



28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

28.

Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled

RITRHEMEE (F)

BEFRREREER HZHIEMEEA

repayment dates set out in the loan agreements): )
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Within 1 year —F R 20,636 17,686
More than 1 year but less than 2 years 2B —F{E D RARE 23,800 798,970
More than 2 year but less than 5 years ~ #B@BMFEEBDRAE 321,300 207,100
More than 5 years HBilmAF 1,096,251 1,133,600
1,461,987 2,157,356
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Carrying amount of bank and other AR—FNR
borrowings repayable within one year &8 Z REE 16,660 10,900
Interest portions of bank and BITREMBEE 2 NEHSD
other borrowings 3,976 6,786
Amounts shown under current liabilities  ZI{ERE) & & 2 A 20,636 17,686
Amounts shown under non-current FIVEIE R B BB 2 RIB
liabilities 1,441,351 2,139,670
1,461,987 2,157,356

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

28.

200

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

(i)

(iii)

The unsecured loan as at 31 March 2021 represented the
unsecured loan with principal amount of RMB4,000,000,
equivalent to HK$4,760,000, from a related company which is
under the control of Mr. Hu and acquired through acquisition
of subsidiaries (note 39). The unsecured loan carried a fixed
interest rate of 156% per annum with the interest payable
quarterly.

The effective interest rate of the unsecured loan is 15% per
annum.

The unsecured loan as at 31 March 2020 represented the
unsecured loan with principal amount of RMB723,000,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$788,070,000 from an
independent third party to the Group. The unsecured loan
carries a fixed interest rate of 10% per annum, with the interest
payable quarterly.

The effective interest rate of the unsecured loan is 10% per
annum.

The secured bank loan as at 31 March 2021 represents
the bank loan with principal amount of RMB1,221,219,000
(2020: RMB1,250,000,000) obtained during the year ended
31 March 2020, equivalent to HK$1,453,251,000 (2020:
HK$1,362,500,000). The secured bank loan carries a fixed
interest rate of 7% per annum, with the interest payable
quarterly, and will mature on 30 March 2035. As at 31 March
2021, the bank borrowing was guaranteed by Mr. Hu and
secured by certain investment properties, properties held for
sale and certain properties, plant and equipment of the Group
as set out in notes 18, 19 and 20 respectively.

The effective interest rate of the secured bank loan is 7% per
annum.
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RITRHEMEE (F)

B

@

(i)

(iii)

R2021F3A31REEEERIERE — M
A AR HI RO BRE A B R B T B A A
(MFEE39)ER1GBY —E A& /3 A R #4,000,000
TT (1B E 7 4,760,000/8 TT) W EIKIFE K - &
ERAERETEFNRBISE  FIBRFEYX
it e

BEAERZERFENEDIGE -

R2020F3A31R MM A BERIEBYLE =
MASEEEEHNAS AARKE723,000,000
7T HE R #788,070,000 7T o KM E K
EEFFEAB10E - FIBERFEL -

BEAERZERFENEBI10E -

R2021F3A318 - BEMBITERER
HZE2021F3A31ALFERNBHAS
AR¥1,221,219,0007L (2020F : AR
#1,250,000,0007T) Z #RITEXK + HER
1,453,251,0007% 7T (20204 : 1,362,500,000
BIL) c BEBBRTERNEECFRN R A7
B FERFEEZNMN - KH203543A30H
FIHf - W2021F3A31H « RITERABHAL
ERERRBADBIEHAHE18 - 19K 206K
EBEETREME  FELEWERETY
¥ BERREER -

BEMBRTERNEBRFNERTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

PROMISSORY NOTES AR ERE
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FET
At the beginning of the year REH 980,195 917,827
Interest charge (note 11) B 1) 62,112 62,368
At the end of year RER 1,042,307 980,195

On 28 July 2016, the Company issued promissory notes
with aggregate principal amount of HK$1,168,000,000
as part of the consideration to acquire the entire equity
interest in the Gloryear Group. The promissory notes are
unsecured, carries a fixed interest rate of 8% per annum
and would mature on 28 July 2019. All interests will be
paid on the date of the maturity date. The Company
may redeem (in full or in part) the promissory notes at
any time after the date of issue of the promissory notes
and before the maturity date by serving prior notice to
the promissory notes holder. The promissory notes are
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rates at 8%.

Promissory notes with aggregate principal amount
of HK$390,000,000 were early redeemed by the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2017, while
promissory notes with aggregate principal amount of
HK$778,000,000 remained outstanding.

R2016F7H28H » NARIEITAE A58
#1,168,000,0007 7T 2 # W28 - 1EAU
BEFEEEREZLLORE - AKHE
BAEER  RETEFMNEEFL - I
ER2019E7 A28 H 28 - FrA R B R
EHAR T o A QR AT RE R BIREITH
BB =R H B ATRERS (MR H R IEE A A%
EELEBRN BRZ2IANTDFANZE -
S B REAE B IR A RS R B K AR T

=
= °

KABEREZE2017F3831H IFFER
F O A% #%58390,000,0008 T 2 7% %,
= MAS4EE 778,000,000/ T 2 &
HEBRRAREER -
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mEMBRRME
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29.

202

PROMISSORY NOTES (CONTINUED)

On 15 December 2017, promissory notes with
aggregate principal amount of HK$778,000,000 have
been transferred to Total Idea International Limited, in
which Mr. Hu, the executive director and chairman of
the Company, is the ultimate beneficial owner.

On 5 December 2018, the maturity date of the
promissory notes has been extended from 28 July 2019
to 28 July 2020. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 December 2018.

On 26 September 2019, the maturity date of the
promissory notes has been further extended from 28
July 2020 to 28 July 2021. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 26 September 2019.

On 4 September 2020, the maturity date of the
promissory notes has been further extended from 28
July 2021 to 28 July 2022. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 4 September 2020.

Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2021
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R2017F 128158 r K& @B A
778,000,000 TR AN EHECEET A
RAHITEESRERIPLEERERERE
BAZEEBEBRBRAF ©

MA2018FE 12850 » AL EEME AR H
201947 A28 B K £202097 A28H -
FRBEN A AT BHA2018F12A5H K

A

MR2019F9A26H » AN EHEA T HI A &
2020 7H28RE— T K E2021F7 A
28H ° FBFEHN AR FIBEA2019F9 A
26N o

MN2020E9 48 AR EEMIHHH
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30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

UNSECURED BORROWINGS FROM A 30. EEHIKHEE
DIRECTOR
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(restated)
=2l
Unsecured borrowings denominated in -~ A A R 5| BRHEEIREE
RMB (note (i)) (BRFEE(I))
- principal portion NG ) 247,568 454,726
~ interest portion - FEEH D 55,937 45,750
303,505 500,476
Unsecured borrowing denominated in B LA R EKIFEE
HKS$ (note (ii)) (Bt &2 (i)
- principal portion NG 90,274 92,285
— interest portion - M B EBm 10,632 6,285
100,906 98,570
Unsecured borrowing denominated ABES RN ERREE
in JPY (note (iii)) (£ Gi))
- principal portion -R&EH D = 136,728
404,411 735,774
Amounts shown under current liabilites REIEE NIRRT EE = 136,728
Amounts shown under non-current FEREBBETERNEE
liabilities 404,411 599,046
404,411 735,774
Notes: HtaF -
(i) On 1 June 2018 and 29 August 2018, an unsecured (i) R20184F6 A 1H k201858298 « A4

revolving loan facility with an aggregate facility amount of
RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to HK$595,000,000) has been
granted from Mr. Hu to certain subsidiaries established in the
PRC which carries a fixed interest rate of 9% per annum, with
original maturity date on 31 May 2020. On 26 September 2019,
the maturity date of the above-mentioned loan facility has been
extended from 31 May 2020 to 6 July 2021. On 22 August
2020, the maturity date of the above-mentioned loan facility
has been further extended from 6 July 2021 to 6 July 2022.

DEZR NG alE ) vA: ol iz NGBt o hvake b il
xR AHoE - BRE#%E A ARKS500,000,000
7T (A8 & $595,000,00058 7T) 2 £ K 47 & 1R
EF/E  REHB A202065A318 - ©¥
2019 9A26H + FMMERB AR HA AR
20205 A31AERE202157A6H - ®
20206 8H22H ' IMEFRBMESHAD
M202167 A6A# —H LR E202247 A6
E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

30.

204

UNSECURED BORROWINGS FROM A 30. EEEEFEEGE

DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued) et - (4B)

(i) (Continued) (i) (#&)

As at 31 March 2021, unsecured borrowings with M202143A31H - AEBEBEIRRA S
aggregate principal amount of RMB208,040,000 (31 March mE A AR®208,040,0007T (20204 3
2020: RMB417,180,000), equivalent to approximately A31H : AR%417,180,0007T) HER
HK$247,568,000 (31 March 2020: HK$454,726,000), has #1247,568,000/ 7T (2020F3A31H
been drawn down. The effective interest rate of the unsecured 454,726,000/ ) 2 EIKHEE - |IKRE
borrowings is 9% per annum. ENEBRFNERIE -

(if) On 7 January 2019, another unsecured revolving loan facility (if) M2019F1A7H @ tiEMA ARz EES

has been granted from Mr. Hu to an indirectly wholly-owned BEMBRARRLEEEFNERE &R
subsidiary of the Company amounted to HK$100,000,000, 100,000,000/ 7T 2 5 —E EE AR E KA
which carries a fixed interest rate of 8% per annum, with & - BIHIR A2021F7A6R - 2020974
maturity date on 6 July 2021. On 4 September 2020, the B FEREESHADH202147H6H
maturity date of the above-mentioned loan facility has been LERZE20227H68 °
extended from 6 July 2021 to 6 July 2022.
As at 31 March 2021, unsecured borrowing with principal MR2021F3A31H  AEBEDRBAS
amount of HK$90,274,000 (31 March 2020: HK$92,285,000) % 490,274,000/ 70 (202043 H31H
has been drawn down. The effective interest rate of the 92,285,000 7T) 2 BMEAEE - MEAEE
unsecured borrowing is 8% per annum. NERFEFERLE -

(iii) The unsecured borrowing as at 31 March 2020 represented (iii) R2020F3A31HEEHEERMAAE T
an interest free loan of approximately JPY1,975,537,000 A R1RH 2 o B E R 491,975,5637,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$136,728,000) to certain A & (18 & 7 49136,728,000/ 7T) °
subsidiaries in Japan.

Upon acquisition of the Doof Japan Group, these loans were REELZHAAERE  ZSEFEARE
included in the calculation of consideration and satisfied by FE WARTREZARARERDHS
the issuance and allotment of consideration shares of the AAE -
Company.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the RIBERAR - AEB—RESEHHKRE
following undrawn facilities granted from a director: BEEMT
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHET
Fixed rate (& 7E F &
— expiring on 6 July 2022 - 1R2022F7 AGH &M 357,158 97,989

Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

DEFERRED INCOME TAX 31. EEFEH

The movements in deferred income tax liabilities HE2021F K 2020F3A31H L FE 2K
(assets) during the years ended 31 March 2021 and EFERAaEERE) LR AR —BBE A
2020, without taking into consideration the offsetting FEBANR —BEMOHEER 22T
of balances of the same entity within the same tax N

jurisdictions, are as follows:

Fair value

Revaluation Revaluation  adjustment of

of investment of financial ~ property, plant
properties assetat FVTPL and equipment  Tax losses Other Total

RAAEE 0% BER

iAREe RELLAEE

EffRENE  SREEEf g HEFs At @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
b AL Thn T b b
1 Aprl 2019 (restated) R2019%4A 18 (7)) 7,33 1880 16,134 (1,880) = 25,470
(Credited) charged to profit (Gt A)¥1B1#%
orloss (5,992) (295) (914) 295 - (6,906)
Exchange differences EXES (342) = 351 = = 9
At 31 March 2020 and R2020F3R318 &
1 April 2019 (restated) 201954718 (E31) 1,002 1585 17,571 (1,585) = 18573
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEERIE A Al (#1£39)
(note 39) = . - - 107 107
Charged (credited) toprofit ~ #18 (Gt )83
or loss 3,653 578 (994) (578) - 2,659
Exchange differences EXES 219 = (450) = 8 (223)
At 31 March 2021 Re021%3A31R 4874 2,163 16,127 (2.169) 115 21,116
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

31.

206

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

At 31 March 2021, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$311,158,000 (2020:
HK$134,782,000, as restated) available for offsetting
against future profits. Deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of estimated unused tax losses
of approximately HK$8,652,000 (2020: HK$6,341,000).
No deferred income tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the above remaining estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$302,506,000 (2020:
HK$128,441,000, as restated) due to unpredictability
of future profit streams. Tax losses of approximately
HK$36,560,000 (2020: HK$36,560,000) have no
expiry date, while the remaining unused tax losses of
approximately HK$274,598,000 (2020: HK$98,222,000,
as restated) will be expired in five to ten years after the
relevant accounting year end date.

At 31 March 2021, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$154,914,000 (2020:
HK$141,193,000) for which no deferred tax asset has
been recognised due to unpredictability of future profit
streams.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

SHARE CAPITAL 32. BAX
Number of Share
shares capital
% 13 &1 B [
2021
Notes HK$°000
M FET
Ordinary shares ZBR
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 R2019F4 18 « 20204
and 1 April 2020 3A31H Kk2020F4A1H
(HK$0.1 each) (FmEEC.1ETT) 5,000,000 500,000
Share Consolidation iR & Pt (iif) (4,000,000) =
At 31 March 2021 (HK$0.5 each) 7202143 H31H
(BRREE0.5/8 7T) 1,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid EERTREE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 R2019F4 A 18 « 20204
and 1 April 2020 3A31H Kk2020F4A1H
(HK$0.1 each) (GRRMEE0. 1T 1,906,172 190,617
Issue of shares upon placing A E R EEATAR D (i) 141,104 14,110
Issue of new shares for FLULEERT B A R BT D
acquisition of subsidiaries (ii) 163,717 16,372
Share Consolidation iR 19 & Bt (iif) (1,768,794) =
At 31 March 2021 (HK$0.5 each) 7202143 A31H
(BIREAEO0.5%8T) 442,199 221,099
Notes: Bz

(i)

(iii)

On 7 July 2020, the Company issued 141,104,000 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at HK$0.35 per share by way
of placement to not less than six individuals, who and whose
ultimate beneficial owner are independent third parties. The
gross proceeds from the Placing amounted to approximately
HK$49,386,000 and the related directly attributable expenses
were approximately HK$1,041,000.

On 30 October 2020, the Group acquired the Doof Japan
Group by allotting 163,717,121 ordinary shares of HK$0.1
each at HK$0.41 per share to satisfy the consideration of the
acquisition of approximately JPY848,394,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$67,124,000.

On 27 January 2021, the directors of the Company put forward
to the shareholders of the Company a proposal of Share
Consolidation on the basis that every five issued and unissued
shares of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company be
consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$0.5 each. An
ordinary resolution to approve the Share Consolidation was
duly passed by the shareholders by way of poll at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 26 February 2021
where the Share Consolidation was effective on 2 March 2021.

All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with
each other.

(i) R2020F7A6H « ARARIAREFNIZZRK
0.3578 703 17141,104,0008% &A% E{E0. 178 7T
ZHEBBRTFIORANBAL  BERES
CEREBSBEAYABYE=F EES
TE TS SIB 4858 40 549,386,000/ T © A
R BRI 451,041,000 7T °

(if) R2020F10A30H + REEFEBIZFTHR0.41
BT % 163,717, 121 SR EE0. 1B TTH
TRRALNKEZHALAEENRBERE
#1848,394,000 B [El (1A & A #767,124,0007%
L) °

(iii) R2021F1A278 * ARREZTAAA AR
FRERMHEHERE  BAARRAPER
REREEC BT ZEBEITRAREITRNE
BtAE—REBRMEME0SBIT ARG o it/
RinEpt 2 EdBRZEREN2021F2H26H
BITZARRREEINAS LEREARE
RAANERNRB - MRHEHER20214F
3A2B 4K -

PIBERTHRNDESEXTEZAREM

fiz ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

33.

208

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 17 August 2012, the Company adopted the 2012
share option scheme (the “2012 Scheme”) under
which the directors of the Company may grant options
to eligible persons to subscribe for the Company’s
shares subject to the terms and conditions as stipulated
therein. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the
2012 Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10 years
from the adoption date.

The purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide
incentives to the eligible participants to contribute to the
Group and to enable the Group to recruit high-caliber
employees and attract resources that are valuable to
the Group. Under the 2012 Scheme, the directors of
the Company may grant options to any person being
an employee, officer, agent, or consultant of the Group
including executive or non-executive directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company at a price to be determined by the
board of directors being the highest of (a) the closing
price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a trading
day; (b) the average closing price of the shares of the
Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which the 2012
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Group is not permitted to exceed 10% of the number
of shares in issue at the date of adoption of the 2012
Scheme or such number of shares as a result from a
sub-division or consolidation of the number of shares at
that date. Subject to as provided in the 2012 Scheme,
the Company may seek approval from its shareholders
in general meeting to refresh this 10% limit, but the total
number of shares which may be issued under the 2012
Scheme must not exceed 30% of the number of shares
in issue from time to time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &/ £202143 431 H L& &

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

No participant shall be granted an option which, if
accepted and exercised in full, would result in the
participant becoming entitled to subscribe for such
number of shares as, when aggregated with the total
number of shares already issued and which may be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to him, together with all options granted and
to be granted to him under any other share option
schemes of the Company and/or any subsidiaries,
within the 12-month period immediately preceding the
proposed date of grant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options), would exceed 1% of the
number of shares in issue as at the proposed date of
grant.

The 2012 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing 17 August 2012.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the
date of grant upon payment of HK$1 for each grant of
options. Subject to as provided in the 2012 Scheme,
options may be exercised at any time during the option
period, which is to be notified by the directors of the
Company to each grantee, commencing on the date
of grant or such later date as the board of directors
may decide and expiring on such date as the board
of directors may determine, provided that such period
is not to exceed ten years from the date of grant, and
subject to any restrictions that may be imposed by the
board of directors in its discretion.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 33. [ERESHE (@)
As at 31 March 2021, the total number of shares 202153 HA31H » 20125 5T &I T Al
available to be issued under the 2012 Scheme are BEITR D 428k 538,123,437 1% (20207 :
38,123,437 shares (2020: 190,617,185 shares). 190,617,1850%) °
No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled HZE2021F K2020F3A31HIEFE « &
and lapsed by the Company under the 2012 Scheme NEWERIBE2012F 5T &M - 1716 - 5%
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. No $H R KR 2 BB o PA20214F 20204 3
share options under the 2012 Scheme are outstanding A318 - #E2012F T 8B T 2 BRER
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020. BITE -
34a. CAPITAL COMMITMENT 34a. BAREKIE
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE&xT FAT
Capital expenditure contracted but not B &I #ME R AR A B HRER B
provided for in the consolidated B2 ERMXY
financial statements
- Construction of properties b ='¢7ES 22,865 79,973
— Decoration - K = 2,104
22,865 82,077
34b. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT 34b. REHEZH
The Group as lessor AEBERAEHBEA
The Group leases out investment properties under AEBHHASEREE T 2KEME - A
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial E—RVIPAHCET - HENKBEE
period of 2 to 6 years. Lease payments are usually FIM - ARMTISHAS -
increased every year to reflect market rentals.
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable REBKRAKRBEAREN RS BEE AT
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be VARG ETHERN KRR E
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows: AT -
2021
HK$’000
FE&xT
Within one year —F RN 2,520
After one year but within two years BB —FELRME 3,286
After two years but within five years BAMFEELRAF 9,537
After five years FRiR N 448
15,791
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35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group has entered in the
following transactions with related parties:

(a)

Key management compensation

Key management includes executive directors
and senior management of the Company.
The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is shown
below:

35.

EXRBERRS

A MBmREMIOMBEEIN - &
SECDREERFILIATRS ¢

(@) FEEBABZHMH
TZERABRBRARRATES
SREEAR - HIRHEERYG
ENHREMNTEIREREARZFH
o -

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FET
Short-term benefits 5 HARE A 14,141 9,893
Post-employment benefits B 1212 T 131 25
14,272 9,918
The remuneration of executive directors of the KRARMITEET 2SS TR EE
Company is determined by the remuneration BeReBEERRBREARRM
committee having regard to the performance of BE

operating results and individual performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

35. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 35. EXBEIRZ ()
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b)  Significant related party transactions (b) EXBELIRS
In addition to the information shown elsewhere in BRiza M BmRHEMm IO AEHER
the consolidated financial statements, the Group Hh - REBEBEEFIRSEERY
had the following material transactions with a AENGRIETUTEARS °

related party, which was entered into at terms
mutually agreed with the related party.

2021 2020

Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$°000 HK$'000

BESBRRE REMHE THERT FAT

Entities which are under control ~ Short-term lease expenses - 577
by Mr. Hu EHAERY

RIS AEERICEE

Property management

income 10,286 1,182
SEX=F=PN
Renovation and decoration

income 56,411 -
R REMHKA

Interest expenses on other
borrowings 737 -
H i & & E £ B M B F X

Interest expense on
promissory notes 62,112 62,368
EHEBRESENNEAX

Mr. Hu Interest expense on
A& unsecured borrowings 6,226 42,014
BEREREEELENTNEMX

These transactions are carried out at normal ZER SRR E R E 77 17 E 8
commercial terms determined and agreed by the — PR R ARTRAEST ©

Group and the related parties.
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36.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Balances with related parties

Except for as disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had
no other material balances with related parties
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll
costs to the MPF Scheme, capped at HK$1,500 (2020:
HK$1,500) per month, in which the contribution is
matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of a state-managed retirement benefits
scheme being operated by the local PRC government.
The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute 10%
to 15% (2020: 10% to 15%) of the average basic salary
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Japan,
subsidiaries in Japan are required to contribute a
state-managed retirement plan for all its employees
at a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its
employees, subject to a certain ceiling. The state-
managed retirement plan is responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to all retired employees.
Under the state-managed retirement plan, the Group
has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions.

The total expense charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss of approximately
HK$6,502,000 (2020: HK$5,650,000, as restated)
represents contributions payable to these schemes by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021.

35.

36.

EXBELTRZ (#)

(c) BEEHEH
BB MBS mREMI D EE
HN - 1A20214F 202043 A 318 -
REBWEEMEBEFEHE S
K&k o

EARBERGE

AEERMBEEEEEREELNAEES
FTE - MBS EICEERBUETAMN
ZHESHE  WHASE EENFAF
B -ASEMBRESHEAI N 2 HKE
BEBFMKAZE% R LR AEFTA
1,500/ 7T (20204 : 1,500/ 7T) * HES
Pz & ICRE -

AEBFEBARZEE ARTEEH
BFE 2z BRERRRERNTE 2K
8 - FEKEB R RIAMEKEF S X
FFEHERFE Z210%E15%(2020%F
10%ZE15%)ERBFRIES - BLRIRER
EmE AEBsE—EEAXIEEMH

Eo
NI

FAN A ARNB G ROERPARTE - BARME
ARRAIARHEERBEEREEEELRATHEN
—E B 0 A K E B R RE BIE L
R MEZB—EMNLERARR - BREE
HERAKEEAERMBERKERE N 2]
BRE - REBREBENERARGE - A%
BHERERSTRIBBFEHRNE
WEBHNLEE—FHEE -

EiRAEERERP BT 46,502,0008 7T
(2020%F : 5,650,0005 T (E5)) * BAE
BREZE2021F3A318 ItFEAR Lt
FHEIVEH 2 (K -

SRR REEBERARF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

37.

214

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 37. REMETH2EEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRANFEERARMEETDESL CBEE
arising from financing activities, including both cash B ARERERIIRSED HEIHE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing ErzaEEREREIARBEREHIN
activities are those for which cash flows were, or BEReRERTOEAREETH RS
future cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated mEZAE -
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Non-cash changes
FReEH
Financing Acquisition Finance
cash Lease of costs  Exchange 31 March
1 April 2020 flows modification subsidiaries incurred differences 2021
20205 20215
418 RERSRE  HELR UBKELT ELRERE  EXER 3A31A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL TAT TAT TAT TEL TEL TEL
(Restated)
(&31)
Lease liabilities HEERE 32,982 (6,948) (12,420) = 996 1410 16,020
Amounts due to EREEAR
related companies | 1,988 2,432 - - - 212 4,632
Promissory notes S 980,195 S S S 62,112 - 1,042,307
Unsecured EXRBREE
borrowings from a
director 735,774 (213,119) - (138,228) 6,226 13,758 404,411
Bank and other BIIREMEE
borrowings 2,157,356 (919,847) - 5,175 108,919 110,384 1,461,987
3908295  (1,137,482) (12,420) (133,053) 178,253 125,764 2,929,357
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 37. XREMETDHZEBEYHRGE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

Non-cash changes
FRE2D
1 April Financing Disposal of ~ Finance cost Exchange 31 March
2019 cashflows New lease  subsidiaries incurred  differences 2020
20195 BEL 20205

4818 MEREHE HHE LEWELF BHRA ERZEE 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
Thn Thn Thn Thn Tin Tin Thn

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&31) (&31) (&31)
Lease liabilties HERE 34,082 (8.598) 6,337 - 323 (2,024) 32,082
Amounts due to related ERBEAIFE
companies 2933 (1,384) - (38) - 477 1988
Promissory notes AAEE 917,827 - - - 62,368 - 980,195
Unsecured borrowings froma.~ ESEHBEE
director 517376 224,883 - (19,285) 42,014 (29.214) 735,774
Bank and other borrowings BIREMEE 1,021,910 1,114,256 S S 86,185 (64995)  2,157,3%

2,494,078 1329,157 6,337 (19,323) 193,802 (95,756) 3,908,295

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 38. RI—#ZFHTEKSH

CONTROL

As mentioned in note 2, the acquisition of the Doof BN FoATIR R WEEZHRHAEEIR
Japan Group has been accounted for as business F—1ZHTHEBEHIER - ZHAXRK
combination under common control. The principal HFXrZLENBARRMHANERS 1
activities of Doof Japan and its major operating (TRMBNDOEEEB DR AR B RK
subsidiary, S k= &1t (Yoichi Country Kabushiki B YRR OB E &8 o

Kaisha*) (“Yoichi Country”) are investment holding and
hotel operation in Japan respectively.

* The English name is for identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 38. [E—ZHITEBKS G (E)

CONTROL (CONTINUED)
The reconciliation of the effect, arising from the common HEZEHE G E ZE 2020638318 ILF
control combination on the consolidated statement of EEAaBmRESENTENESHY WM
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 is as
follows:
The Group
excluding
the Doof Doof
Japan Group Japan Group Consolidated
AEB(TEHE
ZHEAAEE) ZHBEEH oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
(As previously
reported) (Restated)
(%Al
Fr 2 %) (E7%)
Revenue WA 124,853 10,985 135,838
Cost of sales 5 AR (61,814) (17,603) (79,417)
Gross profit EF 63,039 (6,618) 56,421
Other income and gains, net At W an SR WA E R 844 115 959
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  H &N B A &M 3,132 S 3,132
Decrease in fair value of financial Z QA BEAEZRZ
asset at fair value through profit &£ RVEE Q1 BER
or loss & (1,178) - (1,178)
Selling expenses SHERX (13,619) = (13,619)
Administrative expenses THAX (74,782) (6,483) (81,265)
Impairment loss on right-of-use A& ERVERE
asset (4,576) - (4,576)
Impairment loss on property, M - EREERE
plant and equipment 518 (11,347) = (11,347)
Decrease in fair value of WEMELRER
investment properties Vo (28,302) = (28,302)
Finance income BRI A 40 = 40
Finance costs BTG (98,306) = (98,306)
Loss before tax FRELRTEE (165,055) (12,986) (178,041)
Income tax expenses Frig®if (25,787) 914 (24,873)
Loss for the year FNEE (190,842) (12,072) (202,914)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 38.
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The reconciliation of the effect arising from the common
control combination on the consolidated statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2019
are as follows:

B — =5 T EHK S 6t ()

HREEHIE 202063 A31H K20194F
AA1BMEE M BIRREENFELER
;T

The Group
excluding the
Doof Japan Doof Japan
Group Group Elimination The Group
AEE(TER
$#HBAKE) SHEALKE g r&E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THx THT TR
(As previously
reported) (Restated)
(i an 5T A
2% (&31)
At1 April 2019 ®2019F4A1A
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties REME 1,796,566 = = 1,796,566
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE R 661,113 80,179 S 741,292
Financial asset at fair value through 2 A% EEFABHZ
profit or loss SRBE 9,925 = = 9,925
Right-of-use assets FREEE 269,080 = = 269,080
2,736,684 80,179 - 2,816,863
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development BETE 501,289 = = 501,289
Inventories RE = 152 = 152
Trade and other receivables 2 5 RAMEUIRR 50,125 905 = 51,030
Cash and cash equivalents BekERBE 163,818 1,850 = 165,668
715,232 2,907 - 718,139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 38. [—#HITEKSGE
CONTROL (CONTINUED)
The Group
excluding the
Doof Japan Doof Japan
Group Group Elimination The Group
AEE(TEE
$HBAKE) ZHALKE s r&E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THx TR TR
(As previously
reported) (Restated)
(Al
2% (&31)
Current liabilities FEBEE
Trade and other payables B O RAMENER 179,791 2,003 = 181,794
Amount due to related companies  JEfBEE A RIFE 2,933 = = 2,933
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHER 118,359 = = 118,359
Other borrowings Hit g s 73,030 = = 73,030
Unsecured borrowings from a EZREAEE
director = 122,739 = 122,739
Lease liabilities HERE 3,861 = = 3,861
377,974 124,742 = 502,716
Net current assets REBEERE 337,258 (121,835) = 215,423
Total assets less current liabilies ~ BEERTHERE 3,073,942 (41,656) = 3,032,286
Non-current liabilities FREBAE
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIEAE 7,336 18,134 = 25,470
Promissory notes EES 917,827 = = 917,827
Other borrowings Hiofs & 948,880 = = 948,880
Unsecured borrowings from a EEERAGEE
director 394,637 = = 394,637
Lease liabilities HEBE 30,171 = = 30,171
2,298,851 18,134 S 2,316,985
Net assets EEFE 775,091 (59,790) S 715,301
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 38. [E—Z&HITEBKS G ()

CONTROL (CONTINUED)
The Group
excluding the
Doof Japan Doof Japan
Group Group Elimination The Group
FEE(MBRRE
%HBA%L%E) SHEAKE A rEE
Capital and reserves EXR A
Share capital A 190,617 700 (700) 190,617
Reserves fE 584,474 (60,490) 700 524,684
775,091 (59,790) - 715,301
The Group
excluding the
Doof Japan Doof Japan
Group Group Elimination The Group
FEE(TRE
%HAL%E) SHEXRKE s rEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET THER TEx
(As previously
At 31 March 2020 reported) (Restated)
2020634317 (STAT251) (E51)
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment properties REME 1,750,181 = = 1,750,181
Property, plant and equipment mE - BE KRG 720,724 76,689 = 797,413
Financial asset at fair value through ~ RARBEFABRZ
profit or loss SREE 8,100 = = 8,100
Right-of-use assets FREEE 241,741 = = 241,741
Intangible asset EBVEAE 1,019 = = 1,019
2,721,765 76,689 - 2,798,454
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 #£202143431H L /E

38. BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 38. [—#HITEKSGE
CONTROL (CONTINUED)
The Group
excluding the
Doof Japan Doof Japan
Group Group Elimination The Group
AEE (TR
%HAREE) ZHAXKE s rEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT THR THx
(As previously
At 31 March 2020 reported) (Restated)
12020534318 (ERIZ51) (&51)
Current assets RBEE
Properties held for sale BELENE 466,064 S S 466,064
Inventories FE = 290 S 290
Trade and other receivables 25 REMEKER 35,533 700 = 36,233
Amounts due from related I E N RRUR
companies 2,071 142 - 2,213
Cash and cash equivalents Re kERAHRS 1,376,409 5,119 = 1,381,528
1,880,077 6,251 - 1,886,328
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B REMENER 218,436 1,481 = 219,917
Amount due to related companies  JERTEE A RIFUE 1,151 837 = 1,988
Current income tax liabilities BHMEHAR 141,193 - - 141,193
Bank and other borrowings BAOREMEE 17,686 S S 17,686
Unsecured borrowings from a EXEARREE
director - 136,728 - 136,728
Lease liabilities HEEE 5827 - - 5,827
384,293 139,046 - 523,339
Net current assets RBEEFE 1,495,784 (132,795) - 1,362,989
Total assets less current liabilites #EERTHEE 4,217 549 (56,106) S 4,161,443
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Deferred tax liabilities EEHESE 1,002 17,571 = 18,573
Promissory notes EHEE 980,195 = = 980,195
Bank and other borrowings BAREMES 2,139,670 S S 2,139,670
Unsecured borrowings from a EEREAEE
director 599,046 - - 599,046
Lease liabilities HEEE 27,155 = = 27,155
3,747,068 17,571 - 3764639
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

BUSINESS COMBINATION UNDER COMMON 38.
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

B — =5 T EHK S 6t ()

The Group
excluding the
Doof Japan Doof Japan
Group Group Elimination The Group
AEB(TEE
%HAREE) ZHAXKE g rEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAET THx FAT
(As previously
At 31 March 2020 reported) (Restated)
12020634318 (ERIZ51) (&351)
Net assets EERE 470,481 (73,677) - 396,804
Capital and reserves EXRGE
Share capital ihe 190,617 700 (700) 190,617
Reserves & 279,864 (74,377) 700 206,187
470,481 (73,677) - 396,804

The effect of the business combination involving entities
under common control described above on the Group’s
basic and diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

PSR EEEH ER ¥ A AE
B A E2021F K 2020FE3A31HIEFEE Y
BREAGEEEBROZEMT

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Restated)
&=270))
Basic and diluted loss per share, before SERREEEE - FHEA
adjustment (1.23) (0.50)
Adjustment arising from acquisition of ~EWEZHEAEBEEL Y
the Doof Japan Group TR (0.03) (0.03)
Basic and diluted earnings per share,  SREARREZHF - FAEE
after adjustment (1.26) (0.53)
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39.

222

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. WEHEBLQR
On 8 May 2020, the Group entered into a sale and MR2020F5H8H - A&EBEIY—HEEW
purchase agreement to acquire 100% equity interest FECEBREARBITABLIELRER
in Wenzhou Junshang Decoration Company Limited KiFELZ+ (B ARNAR 2 BEANT)KE
(“Wenzhou Junshang”) at a total consideration of BMNEHEHAERAT(CEAMNES D Z2
RMB1 from Mr. Hu Shikuan and Ms. Zhang Tingting, BORRAE o JBINE i R E B 70% % 1 2 [t
both being connected persons of the Company. The BARIARMILREZZBRA G (FEORM
principal activity of Wenzhou Junshang and its 70% EHEBDOREERTRAXEHREER
owned subsidiary, Wenzhou Beichen Construction PARIRMLER T - RN TRERG - WES
Company Limited (collectively referred as the “Wenzhou IHE MR2020F6 AEK I BE R XS #F
Junshang Group”) are investment holding and provision N
of design, decoration and engineering services in the
PRC respectively. The acquisition was completed in
June 2020 and has been accounted for as a business
combination.

HK$'000

FET

Consideration transferred R RE
Cash consideration REeERE -
The assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date RUFERB AR E BT ANEE KA
of acquisition of subsidiaries comprise the following: ENEEBRENT

HK$'000

FAT

Cash and cash equivalents RekFERBE® 1,883
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H b FEUBR 5K 7,857
Inventories FE 4,193
Property, plant and equipment Y - BRE REE 41
Intangible asset EmIEE 621
Trade and other payables B 5 NhEMEMERER (8,578)
Other borrowings HithgE (5,175)
Deferred tax liability BLEFTEAE (107)
Total net identifiable assets AR EERFE 735
Less: non-controlling interest R FEIEAR (735)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 39. WWHEHE AR (&)
The fair value of trade and other receivables at B 5 kA ERERF N BIE B BN AR E
the date of acquisition amounted to approximately #/47,857,0008 T c RIEHEE - %%
HK$7,857,000. The gross contractual amounts of BREE S REMERERNEGORES
those trade and other receivables acquired amounted 7,857,000/ 7T o FAUHE B BRI TR B ORI
to HK$7,857,000 at the date of acquisition. The best EMEHREeRENKEGTAS -
estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash
flows not expected to be collected amounted to nil.
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash WEBAMEWEE v RHe RERBE2RA
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of the Wenzhou FEAT -
Junshang Group is as follows:
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration paid BENBEERE -
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B EEREMNERRSE 1,883
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in WEAMEMEEcRE R
respect of the acquisition of the Wenzhou ERBMAFHE
Junshang Group 1,883
Revenue and profit contribution WA B 5 R &5 Rk

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Wenzhou
Junshang Group had contributed a total revenue
of approximately HK$62,394,000 and net profit of
approximately HK$6,182,000.

Had the acquisition occurred on 1 April 2020, the
consolidated revenue and net profit of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021 would have been increased
by approximately HK$5,911,000 and decreased by
approximately HK$153,000 respectively.

The proforma financial information was for illustrative
purpose only and did not necessarily reflect the Group’s
revenue and operating results if the acquisition has
been completed on 1 April 2020 and could not serve as
a basis for the forecast of future operation result.

HE202143 A1 B ILEE - BHMEHE
R B4R U A #062,394,00078 TT K AEF 49
6,182,000/ 7T °

U B EER2020F4 18 %4 » KEE
HE2021F3A31H I FENEAERA R
“hF5#8 5 Bl 38 AN #95,911,00058 7T Kk A 49
153,000 7T °

HEEUBERHERFARS © RO
WIEEIBEE R2020F4 A 1B R MIER T
REERRARGEELSE - T REEARTE
B AR T 4 4 B A A ELE o

SRR REEBERARF
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40.

224

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 40. HEMHEBATF
The Group disposed of its entire equity interest in AEBER2019F 128 13HA— & B
Joyful Spirit Ventures Limited (“Joyful Spirit”) and its M E = HEE R Joyful Spirit Ventures
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Joyful Limited([Joyful Spirit]) & E KB R 7] (4
Spirit Group”) to an independent third party at a cash MalJoyful Spiritee E My 2 HpAkHE - IRe
consideration of RMB1, equivalent to HK$1, on 13 REABARE1TTGEE R 1EIT) © Joyful
December 2019. The net assets of the Joyful Spirit Spiritée B K A IEHIME B Bl 2 B EFE N
Group at the date of control was lost were as follows: ™
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was KEESIEZ2EERBEI
lost:
13 December
2019
20199 12A13H
HK$'000
FET
Property, plant and equipment M - BE KRB 4
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H At FEUBR 5K 14,344
Amount due from related companies FEUS B3 N B RIR 28
Cash and cash equivalents REEFERBEE 4,659
Accruals and other payables JEFTE A K H M FERTER X (2,775)
Amount due to a related company JER —EER T FIE (38)
Unsecured borrowings from a director of the ARRIEEEBIFEE
Company (19,285)
Net liabilities disposed of HEaEFE (3,063)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 40. HEMEL R (H)

Gain on the Disposal: HeEEDE 7N
2020
HK$’000
FExT
Net consideration received and receivable B R ERRE SRR -
Net liabilities disposed of HEAEFHE 3,063
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of AR EM B R AIEHIEEH B A RE
the net assets of the subsidiaries reclassified EFEREmENIEEER 2
from equity to profit or loss on loss of control of  &HIE ¥ =58
the subsidiaries 69
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QR WA 3,132
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash AR EJoyful SpiriteE 2 IR R ERE
equivalents in respect of the disposal of the Joyful Spirit SREFEITOT

Group is as follows:

2020

HK$’000

FExT

Cash proceeds received B IR TS IE -

Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of B HERERERES (4,659)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in BB EJoyful SpirtEE B 2 IR & M &

respect of the disposal of the Joyful Spirit B35 ¢ m i FRE
Group (4,659)
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41.

226

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 41.

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

BRAARRAPBRR K2 EHR

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FExT FHET
Non-current assets FREEE
Plant and equipment 5 &t 7 15
Investments in subsidiaries REBRRIZIEE (i) 925,753 1,452,091
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 1,823
925,760 1,453,929
Current assets REEE
Deposits, prepayments and 2e - BNZIEREA
other receivables FEULBR X 673 23,140
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUFHE A 7l FKIE (i) 404,284 404,572
Cash and cash equivalents BekERES® 1,481 1,001
406,438 428,713
Current liabilities pE=RE
Other payables E At FEAT BR SR 2,718 3,739
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEASHIY B 2 B R IE (ii) 549,239 564,511
Lease liabilities HEaE = 1,921
551,957 570,171
Net current liabilities REBAEFE (145,519) (141,458)
Total assets less current BEERRBAR
liabilities 780,241 1,312,471
Non-current liabilities *RBAE
Promissory notes LR 1,042,307 980,195
Net (liabilities) assets (BREEFRHE (262,066) 332,276
Capital and reserves BRAR #E
Share capital [N 221,099 190,617
Reserves ] (iii) (483,165) 141,659
Total equity HRER (262,066) 332,276
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 41. FBEAXARBBARRR ZERE)
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
Notes: Bt -
0) Investments in subsidiaries (i) REB AR NIRE
2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FAxT
COST AR
At the beginning of the year RE 1,658,750 1,658,750
Addition NE 67,124 -
1,725,874 1,658,750
IMPAIRMENT A
At the end of the year RER 206,659 =
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss R 18 NFERRER 18 593,462 206,659
At the end of the year RER 800,121 206,659
CARRYING AMOUNT BREAE 925,753 1,452,091
(i) The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and (ii) R2021F &2020F3A31H * FEFEAE
repayable on demand as at 31 March 2021 and 2020. IR TEHE RIRERERE -
(iii) Movement in reserves: (iii) EE
Accumulated
Share premium losses Total
R 175 8 RitEsE #wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FH&T FAT
At 1 April 2019 A2019F481R 446,244 (9,246) 436,998
Loss for the year NEEEE = (295,339) (295,339)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 2020563 H31H K
20204418 446,244 (304,585) 141,659
Issue of shares on placements REBLERFEITAR D 35,276 = 35,276
Acquisition of subsidiaries under BRI A G U S W e
merger acquisition B AR 50,752 = 50,752
Loss for the year REEEE = (710,852) (710,852)
At 31 March 2021 A2021%F3831A 532,272 (1,015,437) (483,165)
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42,

228

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

Place of establishment/
operation and kind of

42,

Percentage of equity interest

ARREEMBMARTER

Name of subsidiary legal entity Paid up capital attributable to the Company Principle activities
R/ BRI
WEARER EEzME BHRER RAAEERERALL TBER
2021 2020
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect
E& GE3 E& 54
Chongging Kingstone The PRC, wholly-owned US$67,389,400 - 100% - 100% Development, sales and
foreign enterprise leasing of properties and
investment holding
EFZR hE NEEELE 67,389,400% 7T NEER  HERBERR
Bk
Huiyong Property The PRC, wholly-owned RMB467,500 - 100% - 100%  Provision of property
Management foreign enterprise management services
ExNE e ANEBELK AR 467,507 RENKEERE
Yoichi Country Japan, Japanese JPY310,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Operation of hotel
company (Note 38)
R BA - BARA 310,000,000 BIEEE
(hz£38)
Wenzhen Beichen The PRC, PRC company ~ RMB20,180,000 - 70% N/A N/A  Provision of decoration and
Construction Co. Ltd. (Note 39) renovation services
BMERERARAR TE - PELF AR 520,180,000 TER TER REXEREHRYE
(£39)

The above table lists the subsidiary of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets and liabilities of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2021

LRIBAAAEERAEEYEALE
$ENEERARZARBHEA - &
AAEFBA - REHAE R AHWS
BHERBATE -



42,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 £ 202143 HA31H IEF &

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42,

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group.

The principal activities and place of business of these

RAREEME R REFR (R

RBEMR  AREHRBEHAEELTE

RZEMBHBAT -

ZEMBAR 2 T BEB R E XM

subsidiaries are summarised as follows: wm
Number of subsidiaries
MEARHE
Principal activities Principal place of business 2020
FEEB FEEEME
(Restated)
(& &E51)
Inactive Hong Kong 6 7
WS BB
The PRC 10 9
&
Singapore 1 1
2N
Japan 3 3
EF:N
Investment holding Hong Kong 11 11
KEZRR BB
BVI 16 16
EERIHS
The PRC 1 1
a3
Property management The PRC 2 1
MEERE h
50 49
None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities PA P 1 R 5 BR R o B A R fRT e ] - AR A B

at the end of or at any time during both reporting
periods.

BARRBITEMERES -

SRR REEBERARF
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43.

230

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group entered into new arrangements in respect
of office premises. Right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of HK$6,337,000 were recognised at
the commencement of the leases.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group had a lease modification due to change in
consideration. Lease liabilities of approximately
HK$12,420,000 and right-of-use assets included
in investment properties of approximately
HK$12,420,000 were derecognised accordingly.

As detailed in note 38, 163,717,121 ordinary
shares of the Company have been issued
during the year ended 31 March 2021 as
the consideration for the acquisition of the
entire equity interests in Doof Japan and the
shareholder’s loan.
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(i)

(i)

(iii)

HE2020F3A31HILFE - K&
Bt AEYETTLHZHE - £/
& E K E A E6,337,0008 TR
THEBAIARRER -

HZE2021E3A31BILFE » K&
ERREZHmELHESS -
EaEL12,420,0008 7T M Et A
B 2 FRAEEEL12,420,000
PETCE AR IEFER o

AN FE38FTFF 4L - B E20214F
SH1BLEFE  XARIB T
163,717, 121 L BIRIERWEZ
FHAEHREMBRREERHR
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LEMERE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT FET TEx FHET
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E51) (E71) (E51)
Revenue LON 158,729 135,838 170,234 32,197 133,714
(Loss) profit before tax Bt A (&548) % A1 (514,965) (178,041) (108,835) (134,875) (51,940
Income tax expenses Frie RS (5,144) (24,873) (33,215) (22,290) (68,912)
(Loss) profit for the year from KEERERBREEKL
continuing operations (B518) & F (520,109) (202,914) (142,050) (157,165) (120,852)
Profit (loss) for the year from AEERBERIEELEH
discontinued operation 2ial(E8) - = 16,478 (1,628)
(Loss) profit for the year AEE (BB RN (520,109) (202,914) (142,050) (140,687) (122,480)
(Loss) profit for the year EREERFE(ER)
attributable to: A
Owners of the Company AREEBA (521,821) (202,914) (142,050) (140,143) (121,926)
Non-controlling interests FERER 1,712 = (544) (554)
(520,109) (202,914) (142,050) (140,687) (122,480)
Dividend per share kRS - - - - -
Interim dividend RHER S - - - - -
Special interim dividend Rl HAR 2 - - - - -
Proposed final dividend BIRARERE - - - - -
Proposed special dividend BIRERIRE - - - - -
Total assets BERE 3,502,799 4,684,782 3,500,970 3,399,727 4,355,905
Total liabilities BafE (3,313,671)  (4,287,978)  (2785669)  (2422,219)  (3,227,138)
Non-controlling interests R ER (2,708) = = = (141,386)
Equity attributable to owners of the A RIHEE AFE(LEHER
Company 186,420 396,804 715,301 977,508 987,381

SRR REEBERARF
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PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Below is a schedule of properties held by the Group in the 720216 3A318 » AEBE N B 2 WM&

PRC as at 31 March 2021: W
Location Description and Tenure Use Group’s Interest
1th 2 BR & 1 Ay AEEFGERS
Commercial portion of the The portion has a total gross Commercial building 100%
property located floor area of approximately
at 77 Qingnian Road, 49,166.19 square meters.
Yuzhong District,
Chongging, the PRC The portion is held under

medium lease between 10
years and 50 years.

URAFRBEEEM TR ZE D EEEEELN [GEL RS 100%
BERITRYMEZ 49,166.19F J7 K »
EEX:152

ZEBD AN TF10E50F 2
REIFE LS -

Serviced apartments portion The portion has a total gross Serviced apartments 100%
of the property located floor area of approximately
at 77 Qingnian Road, 22,470.90 square meters.
Yuzhong District,
Chongging, the PRC The portion is held under

medium lease between 10
years and 50 years.

URFEEETRTRE ZEL D MR EEEAER RERNAE 100%
SEBITHREMEZ 22,470.90F 75K o
- WNE =
ZMEAN F10EE05F 2
RHATE AR o
Residential portion of the The portion has a total gross Residential building 100%
property located at floor area of approximately
77 Qingnian Road, 18,757.48 square meters.

Yuzhong District,
Chongging, the PRC

R B EEM TR ZE D REMIE NEEF 100%
BERITRYMEZ #118,757.48F 75K °
NEBIHD
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